
PROPOSED AGENDA 

CHELAN COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

MEETING OF MAY 20 & MAY 21, 2024 

 

MONDAY, MAY 20, 2024 

9:00 A.M. Opening – Pledge of Allegiance  

 

Public Comment Period 

 

Consent Agenda 

1. Approval of Minutes 

2. Vouchers as submitted and listed 

3. Payroll Changes: 

a) Amber Hallberg, Economic Services – Promotion  

b) Shelly L. Gerber, Clerk – New Hire  

c) Elizabeth J. Sleeman, Clerk – New Hire  

d) Megan Whitmore, Noxious Weeds – Re-Hire  

e) Ron Bates, Natural Resources – Resignation  

f) Sofia Bjorklund, Natural Resources – Correction  

g) Bonnie Stimmel, Public Works – Termination  

h) Tyler Asher, Public Works – Step Increase  

i) John Broers, Public Works – Step Increase  

j) Brian Dodrill, Public Works – Resignation  

k) Brett Peterson, Sheriff – Longevity  

l) Matt Barnes, Sheriff – Longevity  

m) Jerrod Biggar, Sheriff – Longevity  

n) Cy Bowthorpe, Sheriff – Longevity  

o) Zach Brunner, Sheriff – Longevity  

p) Alex Bushy, Sheriff – Longevity  

q) Garrett Churchill, Sheriff – Longevity  

r) Bryan Clark, Sheriff – Longevity  

s) Amber Dupleich, Sheriff – Longevity  

t) Chris Eakle, Sheriff – Longevity  

u) David Flick, Sheriff – Longevity  

v) Chris Foreman, Sheriff – Longevity  

w) Bret Frank, Sheriff – Longevity  



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AGENDA   

MAY 20, 2024 &  MAY 21, 2024 

 

 

NOTE: Agenda subject to change.  Times listed are estimates only. The Commission reserves the right to move agenda items as needed and 

during the meeting. Chelan County Commissioners’ Minutes are available at www.co.chelan.wa.us on the Board of Commissioners web page. 

 

 Page 2 of 7 

x) Matt Franklin, Sheriff – Longevity  

y) Angel Guerra, Sheriff – Longevity  

z) Monika Haynes, Sheriff – Longevity  

aa) Mark Hegberg, Sheriff – Longevity  

bb) Rob Huddleston, Sheriff – Longevity  

cc) Nigel Hunter, Sheriff – Longevity  

dd) James Peterson, Sheriff – Longevity  

ee) Jeremy Mathena, Sheriff – Longevity  

ff) Josh Mathena, Sheriff – Longevity  

gg) Tristen Jurgensen, Sheriff – Longevity  

hh) Austin Key, Sheriff – Longevity  

ii) Micah Kwiat, Sheriff – Longevity  

jj) Randy Lake, Sheriff – Longevity  

kk) Brian Lewis, Sheriff – Longevity  

ll) Jeremy Mannin, Sheriff – Longevity  

mm) Jason Mathews, Sheriff – Longevity  

nn) Lucas McComas, Sheriff – Longevity  

oo) Dan McCue, Sheriff – Longevity  

pp) Mike McLeod, Sheriff – Longevity  

qq) Zach Moran, Sheriff – Longevity  

rr) Adam Musgrove, Sheriff – Longevity  

ss) Dominic Mutch, Sheriff – Longevity  

tt) Paul Nelson, Sheriff – Longevity  

uu) Brad Norton, Sheriff – Longevity  

vv) Jason Reinfeld, Sheriff – Longevity  

ww) Javier Reyna, Sheriff – Longevity 

xx) Lee Rison, Sheriff – Longevity  

yy) Carlos Rodriguez, Sheriff – Longevity  

zz) Aaron Seabright, Sheriff – Longevity  

aaa) Ernie Senseney, Sheriff – Longevity  

bbb) Jacob Smith, Sheriff – Longevity  

ccc) Cole Soreano, Sheriff – Longevity  



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AGENDA   

MAY 20, 2024 &  MAY 21, 2024 

 

 

NOTE: Agenda subject to change.  Times listed are estimates only. The Commission reserves the right to move agenda items as needed and 

during the meeting. Chelan County Commissioners’ Minutes are available at www.co.chelan.wa.us on the Board of Commissioners web page. 

 

 Page 3 of 7 

ddd) Jerid Sutherland, Sheriff – Longevity  

eee) Ian Sutton, Sheriff – Longevity  

fff) Andrew Tilton, Sheriff – Longevity  

ggg) Will Tuengel, Sheriff – Longevity  

hhh) Anders Wiggum, Sheriff - Longevity  

iii) Patrick Williams, Sheriff – Longevity  

 

10:00 A.M. County Administrator Cathy Mulhall 

Discussion 

1. HR Update 

2. Administrative Update 

 

Action 

1. Ricoh Lease for Juvenile  

 

11:00 A.M. Natural Resources Director Mike Kaputa 

Discussion 

1. Guest Presentation:  Jason Breidert, Colville Confederated Tribes, Peshastin Creek 

Rivermile 3.2 Property Acquisition 

2. Amendment # 1 to Agreement with Aqua Terra CRC for Nason Creek Rivermile 12 

Floodplain Reconnection Project Cultural Resource Monitoring 

3. Notice of award from US Bureau of Reclamation for Peshastin Creek Historic Channel and 

Floodplain Reconnection Design Project 

4. Agreement for Professional Services with SCJ Alliance for Stehekin Community Plan 

5. Application Resolution for US Bureau of Reclamation WaterSMART Clear Creek Project 

Design Grant Application 

6. Advertise And Release Bid Documents For Lower Camas Meadows Restoration Project 

7. Other 

 

Action 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AGENDA   

MAY 20, 2024 &  MAY 21, 2024 

 

 

NOTE: Agenda subject to change.  Times listed are estimates only. The Commission reserves the right to move agenda items as needed and 

during the meeting. Chelan County Commissioners’ Minutes are available at www.co.chelan.wa.us on the Board of Commissioners web page. 

 

 Page 4 of 7 

1. Guest Presentation:  Jason Breidert, Colville Confederated Tribes, Peshastin Creek 

Rivermile 3.2 Property Acquisition 

2. Amendment # 1 to Agreement with Aqua Terra CRC for Nason Creek Rivermile 12 

Floodplain Reconnection Project Cultural Resource Monitoring 

3. Notice of award from US Bureau of Reclamation for Peshastin Creek Historic Channel and 

Floodplain Reconnection Design Project 

4. Agreement for Professional Services with SCJ Alliance for Stehekin Community Plan 

5. Application Resolution for US Bureau of Reclamation WaterSMART Clear Creek Project 

Design Grant Application 

6. Advertise and release bid documents for Lower Camas Meadows Restoration Project 

 

11:30 A.M. Economic Services Director Ron Cridlebaugh  

Discussion 

1. Executive Session RE: Real Estate 

2. CPF for Affordable Housing Infrastructure  

3. Departmental Update 

Action 

1. CPF Grant Acceptance RE: Affordable Housing Infrastructure 

 

3:00 P.M. Chelan Douglas Health Board Meeting, Commissioners Overbay and Smith  

 

3:30 P.M. WSAC Membership Outreach Meeting, Commissioner Overbay 

 

TUESDAY, MAY 21, 2024 

Breakfast with Heartwood Biomass, Inc, Commissioners Overbay, Smith, and Gering 

 

9:00 A.M.  Chelan County Behavioral Health Unit Manager Ana Gonzalez  

Discussion    

1. Departmental Update 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AGENDA   

MAY 20, 2024 &  MAY 21, 2024 

 

 

NOTE: Agenda subject to change.  Times listed are estimates only. The Commission reserves the right to move agenda items as needed and 

during the meeting. Chelan County Commissioners’ Minutes are available at www.co.chelan.wa.us on the Board of Commissioners web page. 

 

 Page 5 of 7 

 

9:30 A.M.  Public Works Director Eric Pierson    

Discussion    

1. Contract with Wenatchee Petroleum for Supplying Gas and Diesel  

2. Development and Deferred Payment Agreement for Frontage Improvements with Frank & 

Desiree Phelps 

3. Development and Deferred Payment Agreement for Frontage Improvements with Jodene 

Collings 

4. Franchise Agreement with Computer 5 dba LocalTel Communications 

5. Franchise Agreement with Brennen Balcom  

6. Table of Organization   

7. Open Item 

 

Action  

1. Approve Contract with Wenatchee Petroleum for Supplying Gas and Diesel 

2. Approve Development and Deferred Payment Agreement for Frontage Improvements with 

Frank & Desiree Phelps 

3. Approve Development and Deferred Payment Agreement for Frontage Improvements with 

Jodene Collings 

4. Approve Franchise Agreement with Computer 5 dba LocalTel Communications 

5. Approve Franchise Agreement with Brennen Balcom  

6. Approve Table of Organization  

 

10:00 A.M.  Flood Control Zone District Administrator Eric Pierson 

 

10:15 A.M.  Community Development Director Deanna Walter  

 

PUBLIC HEARING RE: (CPA-2024-145) Proposed Amendment to the 2017 Chelan County 

Comprehensive Plan Recreation Element  

 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AGENDA   

MAY 20, 2024 &  MAY 21, 2024 

 

 

NOTE: Agenda subject to change.  Times listed are estimates only. The Commission reserves the right to move agenda items as needed and 

during the meeting. Chelan County Commissioners’ Minutes are available at www.co.chelan.wa.us on the Board of Commissioners web page. 

 

 Page 6 of 7 

 Discussion    

1. Departmental Update 

 

  Action  

1. Authorization to Set Up and Use Stripe Account 

 

11:00 A.M. Chelan County Assessor Wes Cornelius  

  Discussion  

1. Departmental Update  

 

11:30 A.M.  City of Leavenworth Mayor Carl Florea 

 

12:00 P.M. Wenatchee Chamber Board Meeting, Commissioner Overbay  

 

1:30 P.M. WSAC Membership Outreach Meeting, Commissioner Overbay 

 

3:00 P.M.  Link Transit Board Meeting, Commissioners Gering and Overbay 

 

WEDNESDAY, MAY 22, 2024 

3:00 P.M. Homeless Housing Task Force Meeting, Commissioner Overbay 

 

THURSDAY, MAY 23, 2024 

1:00 P.M.  LTAC/Visit Chelan County Meeting, Commissioner Gering 

 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AGENDA   

MAY 20, 2024 &  MAY 21, 2024 

 

 

NOTE: Agenda subject to change.  Times listed are estimates only. The Commission reserves the right to move agenda items as needed and 

during the meeting. Chelan County Commissioners’ Minutes are available at www.co.chelan.wa.us on the Board of Commissioners web page. 

 

 Page 7 of 7 

5:00 P.M. YMCA Reception, Commissioner Overbay 

 

FRIDAY, MAY 3, 2024 

8:00 A.M. Farm Bureau/Congresswomen Schrier’s Office, Commissioner Overbay 

 



PROPOSED AGENDA 

CHELAN COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

MEETING OF MAY 13&14, 2024 

 

MONDAY, MAY 13, 2024 

9:00:01 A.M. Opening – Pledge of Allegiance  

Chairman Overbay calls the meeting to order. Present for session are Commissioner Smith, 

County Administrator Cathy Mulhall, and Clerk of the Board Anabel Torres. Commissioner 

Gering is excused from session. 

 

9:01:23 A.M. Public Comment Period was opened to members of the public.  

 

9:01:53 A.M. Public Comment Period Closed 

 

9:02:02 A.M. Consent Agenda 

Upon motion and second by Commissioner Smith and Overbay, the Commission unanimously 

approves the consent agenda as follows: 

1. Approval of Minutes 

2. Vouchers as submitted and listed 

3. Payroll Changes: 

a) Briar Applebury, Facility Maintenance – Step Increase 

b) Thomas Cole, Facility Maintenance – Step Increase  

c) Derrick Abel, Facility Maintenance – Resignation 

d) Ian Phillips, Public Works – Terminated  

e) Paula Cox. Public Works – Deceased  

f) Anna Witherington, Economic Services – New Hire  

g) John Tamngin, Economic Services – New Hire  

h) Sean P. Lewis, Prosecuting Attorney – New Hire  

i) Jeremiah Path, Natural Resources – Step Increase  

j) Leslie Carlson, Regional Justice Center – Longevity Increase  

k) Jeremy Cheever, Regional Justice Center – Longevity Increase  

l) Oscar Hernandez, Regional Justice Center – Longevity Increase  

m) Eric Stevens, Regional Justice Center – Longevity Increase  

n) Betty Reeves, Regional Justice Center – Step Increase  

o) Kyle Harmon, Regional Justice Center – Step Increase  

p) Michael Wolfgang Kessler, Regional Justice Center – New Hire  

q) Rebecca Gollehon. Sheriff – Step Increase  



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AGENDA   
MAY 13, 2024 &  MAY 14, 2024 

 
 

 

 Page 2 of 7 

r) Elizabeth Hagen, Sheriff – Step Increase 

s) Rachel Jones, Sheriff – Step Increase  

t) Harold Marshall, Sheriff – Step Increase  

u) Jen Ramm, Sheriff – Step Increase  

v) Jillian Simmons, Sheriff – Step Increase  

w) Dana Vivian, Sheriff – Step Increase  

x) Brittany Ward, Sheriff – Step Increase  

y) Karrie Wolsborn, Sheriff – Step Increase  

z) Bruce Anderson, Sheriff – Step Increase  

aa) Zack Wenzel, Sheriff – Step Increase  

bb) Laura Kozma, Sheriff – Step Increase  

cc) Rich Magnussen, Sheriff – Step Increase  

dd) Diana Owens, Sheriff – Step Increase  

ee) Stan Smoke, Sheriff – Step Increase  

ff) Esmeralda Guerrero, Farm Worker Housing, Re-Hire 

gg) Alfredo Gonzalez, Farm Worker Housing, Re-Hire

9:02:57 A.M. Board Discussion  

• Convention Center 

• Leavenworth Fish Hatchery 

• Chelan County Motorized Recreation Plan  

• LSC Update  

• Chelan-Douglas Transportation Council  

• Funding Assistance for Homelessness Programs  

• Grant County Commissioners-WSAC Membership Outreach Meeting Update  

 

9:19:12 A.M. Recces   

 

10:00:16 A.M. Back in Session  

 

10:00:43 A.M. County Administrator Cathy Mulhall 

 

10:01:13 A.M. Executive Session RE: Performance of a Public Official 

Upon a motion by Commissioner Smith and a second by Commissioner Overbay, the 

Commission unanimously approved entering a 10-minute executive session pursuant to RCW 

42.30.110(g) to discuss the performance of a public employee 

 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AGENDA   
MAY 13, 2024 &  MAY 14, 2024 

 
 

 

 Page 3 of 7 

10:11:48 A.M Moved Back to Regular Session 

 

10:12:32 A.M.  Continued Departmental Discussion   

1. Housing Program Re-Organization 

2. Historic Preservation Funds 

3. Administrative Update 

 

10:31:04 A.M. Action 

Upon motion and second by Commissioner Smith and Overbay, the Commission unanimously 

approves the action items as follows: 

1. Housing Program Reorganization Request    20240513A5-1 

2. Resolution # 2024-32 RE: Dissolution of Petty Cash Fund for Chelan County 

Assessor’s Office 

3. Resolution # 2024-33 RE: Appointment of Board Members to the Leavenworth 

Mosquito Control District #2 

 

10:31:37 A.M.  Recess  

 

11:00:21 A.M.  Back in Session  

 

11:00:41 A.M. Natural Resources Director Mike Kaputa 

 

11:00:56 A.M. Executive Session RE: Real Estate 

Upon motion and second by Commissioners Smith and Overbay, the Commission unanimously 

approves to move into 10 minutes Executive Session Pursuant to RCW 42.30.110(b) to discuss 

the selection site or acquisition of real estate by lease or purchase. 

 

11:11:21 A.M. Moved Back to Regular Session 

 

11:11:35 A.M.  Continued Departmental Discussion   

1. Change Order with Derby Canyon Natives for Nason Kahler Reach Project 

2. Good Neighbor Agreement Supplemental Project Agreement (SPA) wth US Forest 

Service for Upper Wenatchee Pilot Project Forest Resilience Bond 1 

3. Consulting Agreement with North Forty Film Company for Forest Products Campus 

Marketing Consulting 

4. Execute Agreement with Strider Construction for Eagle Creek Culvert Replacement 

Project 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AGENDA   
MAY 13, 2024 &  MAY 14, 2024 

 
 

 

 Page 4 of 7 

5. Supplement to Interlocal Cooperative Agreement with Cascadia Conservation District 

for Yaksum Water Company Cultural Resources Survey 

6. Contract for Cost-Share Funds with WA State Conservation Commission for Pobst 

Irrigation Efficiencies 

7. Contract for Cost-Share Funds with WA State Conservation Commission for Yaksum 

Water Company Irrigation Efficiencies 

8. Other 

 

11:20:08 A.M. Action  

Upon motion and second by Commissioner Smith and Overbay, the Commission unanimously 

approves the action items as follows: 

1. Change Order with Derby Canyon Natives for Nason Kahler Reach Project 

20240513A5-2 

2. Good Neighbor Agreement Supplemental Project Agreement (SPA) with US Forest 

Service for Upper Wenatchee Pilot Project Forest Resilience Bond 1 

20240513A5-3 

3. Consulting Agreement with North Forty Film Company for Forest Products Campus 

Marketing Consulting       20240513A5-4 

4. Execute Agreement with Strider Construction for Eagle Creek Culvert Replacement 

Project         20240513A5-5 

5. Contract for Cost-Share Funds with WA State Conservation Commission for Pobst 

Irrigation Efficiencies       20240513A5-6 

6. Supplement to Interlocal Cooperative Agreement with Cascadia Conservation District 

for Yaksum Water Company Cultural Resources Survey  20240513A5-7 

7. Contract for Cost-Share Funds with WA State Conservation Commission for Yaksum 

Water Company Irrigation Efficiencies    20240513A5-8 

 

11:20:41 A.M.  Continued Departmental Discussion   

 

11:27:50 A.M. Economic Services Director Ron Cridlebaugh  

Discussion 

1. Introduction of New VSO Staff 

2. Farm Workers Housing Camp Vendor Contracts 

3. Contract for the Homeless Housing Strategic Consultant  

4. Departmental Update 

 

11:41:55 A.M. Executive Session RE: Real Estate 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AGENDA   
MAY 13, 2024 &  MAY 14, 2024 

 
 

 

 Page 5 of 7 

Upon motion and second by Commissioners Smith and Overbay, the Commission unanimously 

approves to move into 10 minutes Executive Session Pursuant to RCW 42.30.110(b) to discuss 

the selection site or acquisition of real estate by lease or purchase. 

 

11:52:53 Moved Back to Regular Session 

 

11:53:17 A.M. Action 

Upon motion and second by Commissioner Smith and Overbay, the Commission unanimously 

approves the action items as follows: 

1. Farm Worker Housing Vidal’s Cleaning and Janitorial Contract 20240513A5-9 

2. Farm Worker Housing Coca Cola Contract    20240513A5-10 

3. Farm Worker Housing Eastern Cascade Vending Contract  20240515A5-11 

4. Farm Worker Housing Pacific Security Contract   20240513A5-12 

5. Contract for the Homeless Housing Strategic Consultant   20240513A5-13 

6. Real Estate Contract        20240513A5-14 

7. ARPA CRA Letter        20240512A5-15 

 

11:54:17 A.M. Recess until Tuesday  

 

TUESDAY, MAY 14, 2024 

9:07:32 A.M. Back in Session  

 

9:07:50 A.M.  Jail Director Chris Sharp 

Discussion 

5. Departmental Update 

 

9:22:18 A.M. Recess  

 

9:29:59 A.M. Back in Session 

 

9:30:03 A.M.  Public Works Director Eric Pierson    

 

A moment of silence was observed in memory of Paula Cox, Assistant County Engineer 

 

9:33:09 A.M. BID AWARD: Supplying Gasoline and Diesel  

Three bids were presented on May 7, 2024. After review by Public Works, it is 

recommended that the Board award Wenatchee Petroleum as lowest bidder. 

 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AGENDA   
MAY 13, 2024 &  MAY 14, 2024 

 
 

 

 Page 6 of 7 

9:33:47 A.M.  Action   

Upon motion and second by Commissioners Smith and Overbay, the Commission 

unanimously approved awarding the bid for supplying gasoline and diesel as follows:  

 

     (Gasoline)  (Diesel)     

1. Wenatchee Petroleum  $4.0229   $3.4934 ** per gallon   

 

9:34:13 A.M PUBLIC HEARING: Franchise Agreement with Brennen Balcom 

 

Chairman Overbay opened the public hearing. Members of the public join via Zoom. No 

members of the public were present in the chambers 

 

9:34:49 A.M. Open Public Comment  

 

9:35:33 A.M. Hearing none, the Chairman closed the Public Hearing 

 

9:36:20 A.M. Continued Departmental Discussion   

1. Event Permit – Gran Fondo Leavenworth 

2. Open Item 

 

9:44:14 A.M. Recess  

 

10:15:05 A.M. Back in Session  

 

10:15:10 A.M.  Community Development Director Deanna Walter  

Discussion  

1.  Departmental Update 

 

10:20:26 A.M. Recess  

 

10:59:29 A.M. Back in Session  

 

11:00 A.M. Chief Deputy Coroner Earl Crowe 

Discussion  

1.  Departmental Update 

 

11:14:10 A.M. Recess 

  

11:30 A.M.  City of Chelan Mayor Erin McCardle – Canceled 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AGENDA   
MAY 13, 2024 &  MAY 14, 2024 

 
 

 

 Page 7 of 7 

1:01:41 P.M. Back in Session  

 

1:02:02 P.M.  Superior Court Judges and Court Administrator Fona Sugg 

Discussion 

1. Departmental Update 

 

1:37:35 P.M. Adjourn  

Board adjourns until Monday, May 20, 2024. 

 

Weekly Voucher Approval for Payment                 20240513B4-1 

Current Expense  $156,077.97 

Other Funds  $2,299,600.28 

  Total All Funds $2,455,678.25 

 

BOARD OF CHELAN COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

      KEVIN OVERBAY, CHAIR 

 

 

      _______________________________ 

 

                 ANABEL TORRES, Clerk of the Board 

 



May 20, 2024 
9:00 A.M. 

Consent Agenda 
 

1) Approval of Minutes 
2) Vouchers as submitted and listed 
3) Payroll Changes: 

a) Amber Hallberg, Economic Services – Promotion  
b) Shelly L. Gerber, Clerk – New Hire  
c) Elizabeth J. Sleeman, Clerk – New Hire  
d) Megan Whitmore, Noxious Weeds – Re-Hire  
e) Ron Bates, Natural Resources – Resignation  
f) Sofia Bjorklund, Natural Resources – Correction  
g) Bonnie Stimmel, Public Works – Termination  
h) Tyler Asher, Public Works – Step Increase  
i) John Broers, Public Works – Step Increase  
j) Brian Dodrill, Public Works – Resignation  
k) Brett Peterson, Sheriff – Longevity  
l) Matt Barnes, Sheriff – Longevity  
m) Jerrod Biggar, Sheriff – Longevity  
n) Cy Bowthorpe, Sheriff – Longevity  
o) Zach Brunner, Sheriff – Longevity  
p) Alex Bushy, Sheriff – Longevity  
q) Garrett Churchill, Sheriff – Longevity  
r) Bryan Clark, Sheriff – Longevity  
s) Amber Dupleich, Sheriff – Longevity  
t) Chris Eakle, Sheriff – Longevity  
u) David Flick, Sheriff – Longevity  
v) Chris Foreman, Sheriff – Longevity  
w) Bret Frank, Sheriff – Longevity  
x) Matt Franklin, Sheriff – Longevity  
y) Angel Guerra, Sheriff – Longevity  
z) Monika Haynes, Sheriff – Longevity  
aa) Mark Hegberg, Sheriff – Longevity  
bb) Rob Huddleston, Sheriff – Longevity  
cc) Nigel Hunter, Sheriff – Longevity  
dd) James Peterson, Sheriff – Longevity  
ee) Jeremy Mathena, Sheriff – Longevity  
ff) Josh Mathena, Sheriff – Longevity  
gg) Tristen Jurgensen, Sheriff – Longevity  
hh) Austin Key, Sheriff – Longevity  
ii) Micah Kwiat, Sheriff – Longevity  
jj) Randy Lake, Sheriff – Longevity  
kk) Brian Lewis, Sheriff – Longevity  
ll) Jeremy Mannin, Sheriff – Longevity  
mm) Jason Mathews, Sheriff – Longevity  



nn)    Lucas McComas, Sheriff – Longevity  
oo)    Dan McCue, Sheriff – Longevity  
pp)    Mike McLeod, Sheriff – Longevity  
qq)    Zach Moran, Sheriff – Longevity  
rr)    Adam Musgrove, Sheriff – Longevity  
ss)    Dominic Mutch, Sheriff – Longevity  
tt)     Paul Nelson, Sheriff – Longevity  
uu)      Brad Norton, Sheriff – Longevity  
vv)      Jason Reinfeld, Sheriff – Longevity  
ww) Javier Reyna, Sheriff – Longevity 
xx)      Lee Rison, Sheriff – Longevity  
yy)      Carlos Rodriguez, Sheriff – Longevity  
zz)      Aaron Seabright, Sheriff – Longevity  
aaa) Ernie Senseney, Sheriff – Longevity  
bbb) Jacob Smith, Sheriff – Longevity  
ccc) Cole Soreano, Sheriff – Longevity  
ddd) Jerid Sutherland, Sheriff – Longevity  
eee) Ian Sutton, Sheriff – Longevity  
fff)      Andrew Tilton, Sheriff – Longevity  
ggg) Will Tuengel, Sheriff – Longevity  
hhh) Anders Wiggum, Sheriff - Longevity  
iii)       Patrick Williams, Sheriff – Longevity  

































































































































Administrative Agenda May 20, 2024.docx 

 
 
 ADMINISTRATIVE AGENDA  

May 20, 2024 
 
 
DISCUSSION ITEM: 

1. HR Update 
2. Administrative Update 

 
 
ACTION ITEM: 

1. Ricoh Lease for Juvenile  
 
 











































DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
BOCC AGENDA ITEMS 

May 21, 2024 
 
 
10:15 A.M  
Community Development Director Deanna Walter 
 
 
Discussion Items: 
 

1. Department update 
2. Hearing CPA 24-145 
3.  

 
 
  

 
 
 

 
 
Action Items: 
 

1. Stripe Account approval  
 

 
 



Authorization to Set Up and Use Stripe Account 

 

The Chelan County Board of Commissioners hereby approves the attached 
agreement(s). 

 

Dated this ____ day of ___________, 2024 

BOARD OF CHELAN COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

 

      __________________________________ 

      KEVIN OVERBAY, CHAIRMAN 

ATTEST:  ANABEL TORRES  __________________________________ 

      TIFFANY GERING, COMMISSIONER 

__________________________ __________________________________ 

Clerk of the Board    SHON SMITH, COMMISSIONER 

 

 

Approved as to form by Chelan County Prosecutor’s Office 

 

      __________________________________ 

      MARCUS FOSTER 

      DEPUTY PROSECUTOR 



Staff Report   Page 1 of 2  
Chelan County Comprehensive Plan Recreation Element Update  

CHELAN COUNTY
                 Natural Resources Department 

Chelan County Comprehensive Plan Recreation Element Update 
Staff Report 

TO:  

FROM: 

HEARING DATE: 

FILE NUMBER:  

Chelan County Board of County Commissioners 

Chelan County Natural Resource Department  

May 21, 2024 

CPA 24-145 Recreation Element Update 

RECOMMENDED MOTION 
The recommended motion is Board of County Commissioner Adoption of the Chelan County Comprehensive Plan 
Recreation Element. Chelan County Natural Resource Department held a workshop with the Planning Commission 
on March 27th to present the draft plan and gather feedback to integrate into the final draft. Following the 
workshop, the Priorities and Capital Improvement Project list were updated and refined. The Natural Resource 
Department presented the Final Draft Plan to the Planning Commission on April 24th, and the Commission moved to 
recommend adoption of the Plan. All agency review documents have been submitted including SEPA and Dept. of 
Commerce requirements. The BOCC adoption of the plan update is the final step in the process.  

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Applicant Chelan County 

Board of County Commissioners Notice of Hearing 
Published May 13, 2024 

Board of County Commissioners Hearing on May 21, 2024 

60-day State agency review State agency review through WA Department of 
Commerce was initiated on April 11th, 2024 

SEPA Determination SEPA DNS issued on May 1, 2024 

SEPA Environmental Review 

The SEPA Non-Project Action Checklist was submitted to Department of Ecology on May 1, 2024. The DNS was 
published on May 1, initiating the 14-day SEPA review and comment period. Any comments will be included in the 
final adoption packet.  

Agency Comments:  

No agency comments received. 

Public Comment:  



Staff Report   Page 2 of 2  
Chelan County Comprehensive Plan Recreation Element Update  

The plan update process included a robust public outreach effort including two open house events and on online 
survey with over 800 responses. The survey responses are included in the plan document. No additional public 
comments were received during the Planning Commission Hearings.  

60-Day Notice:

The Final Draft Plan was submitted to WA Department of Commerce for State Agency 60-day review on April 11th, 
2024.   

PROJECT DESCRIPTION – ZTA 
Proposal: Chelan County Natural Resource Department has completed an amendment to update the 2017 Chelan 
County Comprehensive Plan Recreation Element. The amendment incorporates updates in response to changes in 
demographics and recreation inventory as well as in response to robust community outreach to garner input on 
desired opportunities and community priorities. The Comprehensive Plan Recreation Element was last updated in 
2017. The Washington State Recreation and Conservation Office (RCO) requires Comprehensive Plan updates every 7 
years to maintain eligibility for submitting RCO grant proposals. This eligibility is important from a funding 
standpoint, but the update also ensures that community priorities around Parks and Recreation stay up-to-date and 
proposed Capital Improvement Projects stay current and relevant. This 2024 update meets both RCO requirements 
and County Parks and Recreation objectives, and includes updates in the Inventory, Goals and Priorities, and Capital 
Improvements Project list.  

ATTACHMENT 

1. Final Pros Plan Update
2. SEPA Checklist
3. Determination of Non-Significance
4. Comment from RC3
5. PC Recommendation



Overview

COUNTY OF CHELAN
Recreation Element (PROS Plan) Update
March 2024

County of Chelan

411 Washington St #201

Wenatchee, WA 98801

Phone: 509.667.6533

Attachment 1 PROS 
Plan Update

http://www.scjalliance.com/


Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Introduction 2

Project Information

Project: Chelan County Recreation Element 
(PROS Plan) Update

Prepared for: Chelan County

Reviewing Agency

Jurisdiction: County of Chelan

Project Representative

Prepared by: SCJ Alliance

scjalliance.com

Contact: William Grimes, AICP

Principal

Project 
Reference: SCJ #23-000961

Path: 
N:\Projects\0719 Chelan County\23-
000961 Chelan County PROS Plan 
Update

http://scjalliance.com


Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Introduction 3

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
Chelan County DNR
Mike Kaputa, Director

Erin McKay, Senior Natural Resource Specialist

Hanne Beener, Consultant

SCJ Alliance (Consultant)
Bill Grimes, AICP, Principal-in-Charge

Chris Overdorf, ASLA PLA, Project Manager

Lauren Schubring, Planner & Survey Support

Talon Smith, Demographics Planner

Amber O'Rourke, Geospatial Designer



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Introduction 4

Table of ContentsTable of Contents

Overview ...................................................................................... 1

Summary .....................................................................................8

Overview ......................................................................................9
Introduction  ............................................................................................ 10

Purpose ................................................................................................... 10

Regulatory Requirements ........................................................................... 11
Growth Management Act Requirements ................................................................11
Washington Recreation And Conservation Office (RCO) Requirements .......................12
Chelan County Requirements ..............................................................................13

Process ................................................................................................... 13
Existing Conditions (Systems Inventory) ...............................................................14
Public Involvement ............................................................................................14
Demand & Needs Analysis ..................................................................................14
Goals and Objectives ..........................................................................................14
Capital Improvement Program ............................................................................14
Approvals ........................................................................................................14

Inventory & Assessment ................................................................ 15
Introduction & Purpose .............................................................................. 16

Physical Context ....................................................................................... 16
Planning Area ...................................................................................................16
History ...........................................................................................................17
Topography  .....................................................................................................18
Hydrology........................................................................................................18
Habitat ...........................................................................................................18
Climate ...........................................................................................................19

Demographic Context ................................................................................ 19
Key Takeaways..................................................................................................19
Population ...................................................................................................... 20
Population Demographics ...................................................................................21
Housing ......................................................................................................... 25
Employment & Transportation ........................................................................... 26

Physical Inventory & Assessment .................................................................. 29

Planning Context ...................................................................................... 37
Existing Plans Working Together  .........................................................................37
Assessment ......................................................................................................41



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Introduction 5

Public Involvement ....................................................................... 42
Introduction & Purpose .............................................................................. 43

Engagement Goals ..................................................................................... 43

Public Engagement Plan Overview ................................................................ 44
Distribution .................................................................................................... 44
Chelan County Boost Analytics- February 2024 ...................................................... 46
Recreation Element Survey ................................................................................ 50

Demand & Needs Analysis ............................................................. 56
Introduction & Purpose .............................................................................. 57

Trends for Parks and Recreation ................................................................... 57
National Trends  .............................................................................................. 58
Washington State Trends ...................................................................................59

Recreation Element Priorities ...................................................................... 60

Goals & Objectives ........................................................................ 61
Introduction & Purpose .............................................................................. 62

Revised Goals & Objectives Based on Survey Results ........................................ 63

Noted Differences from the Previous Recreation Element ................................. 64

Capital Improvement Program ....................................................... 65
Introduction & Purpose .............................................................................. 66

On-Going Priorities & Capital Projects .......................................................... 66

Parks and Recreation Projects Identified In the Previous Plan ............................ 67

Developing The Capital Improvement Program  ............................................... 69
Opinion Of Probable Costs   ................................................................................ 69

Updated Project & Program Improvements .................................................... 70

Plan Adoption .............................................................................. 75
Adoption .........................................................................................................76

Appendices & Attachments ............................................................ 81
A - Terms & Definitions .............................................................................. 82

B - Standards & Guidelines ......................................................................... 84

C - Public Survey Report ............................................................................. 86

D - SEPA Non-Project Form .........................................................................116



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Introduction 6

Table of Contents
Table 2-1: Historic Population (US Census) ......................................................20

Table 2-2: Chelan County Population by Year ...................................................20

Figure 2.1: Chelan County Population Projection ............................................. 21

Table 2-3: Gender in Chelan County ............................................................... 21

Table 2-4: Chelan County Population by Year ................................................... 21

Figure 2.2: Race and Ethnicity Percentages of Chelan County versus WA State ...... 22

Table 2-5: Ethnicity in Chelan County ............................................................ 22

Figure 2.3: Percentage of Chelan County's Population Living with Disability ......... 22

Table 2-6: Household Income in Chelan County ............................................... 23

Figure 2.4: Chelan County and WA State Household Income .............................. 23

Figure 2.5: Chelan County Census Tracts and Median Incomes ........................... 24

Table 2-7: Poverty Status in Chelan County Population ...................................... 25

Table 2-8: Poverty Status in Chelan County Population ..................................... 25

Figure 2.6: Owner vs. Renter in Chelan County and WA State ............................. 25

Table 2-9: Average Household Type in Chelan County ....................................... 26

Figure 2.7: Inf low/Outf low of Employment in Chelan County ............................ 26

Figure 2.8: Employment Locations of Chelan County Residents .......................... 27

Table 2-10: Chelan County Distance Traveled to Work ....................................... 27

Table 2-11: Chelan County Means of Transportation to Work .............................. 28

Figure 2.9: Percentage of Chelan County Vehicle Availability .............................. 28

Figure 2.10: Chelan PUD Has Opportunities in Chelan and Douglas County .......... 29

Table 2-12: List of Parks within Chelan County Lines ......................................... 31

Table 2-13: Chelan County School Districts ..................................................... 36

Table 2-14: Existing Plans Relevant to the PROS Plan Update .............................. 37

Table 3-1: Survey Distribution ...................................................................... 45

Figure 3.1: February 2nd Facebook Boost Analytics - English .............................. 46

Figure 3.2: February 2nd Facebook Boost Analytics - Spanish ............................. 46

Figure 3.3: February 2nd Instagram Boost Analytics - English ............................ 47

Figure 3.4: February 2nd Instagram Boost Analytics - Spanish ........................... 47



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Introduction 7

Figure 3.5: February 26nd Facebook Boost Analytics - English ............................ 48

Figure 3.6: February 26nd Instagram Boost Analytics - Spanish .......................... 48

Figure 3.7: February 26nd Instagram Boost Analytics - English ........................... 49

Figure 3.8: February 26nd Instagram Boost Analytics - Spanish .......................... 49

Figure 3.10: Chelan County's Public Engagement Plan Flyer ............................... 50

Table 4-1: 2023 Top 20 Outdoor Recreation Activites in Washington State* ............ 59

Table 6-1: Capital Improvement Projects & Initiatives ....................................... 70

Table 6-2: CIP Funding Options and Projects ................................................... 73

Table 6-3: CIP Facility Types ......................................................................... 74



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Introduction 8

Summary
Chelan County’s Recreation Element of its Comprehensive Plan, also known 
as a Parks, Recreation, Open Space, and Trails (PROST) Plan, examines 
the County’s parks, recreation, and open space assets and engages the 
public in determining their desired quality of life and the appropriate 
level of recreational service to be provided, then outlines recommended 
improvements to form a basis for future capital improvement planning.  This 
plan has been prepared in compliance with State of Washington Growth 
Management Act requirements and serves as the County’s strategic plan 
to deliver parks & recreation services to the community, and complements 
the policy framework identified in Chelan County’s Comprehensive Plan’s 
Parks and Open Space Element.  Additionally, the plan has been developed in 
compliance with the Washington State Recreation and Conservation Office 
guidelines.

This plan inventoried and analyzed the County’s existing parks and trails, 
not just within Chelan County’s purview but also all publicly-owned open 
space lands. The plan examines the County’s parks and recreation service 
levels in comparison to its current and future projected demographics and 
in comparison to other Counties and national recreational standards. In this 
comparison, Chelan County was found to have a lower-than-average ratio 
of developed park acres to County population; however, it does have a much 
higher-than-average ratio of public land open to the public. 

The planning process engaged the County’s residents through a robust public 
engagement process, including a long-running public online survey and several 
public workshops in different areas of the County. Participation in the process 
demonstrated a high level of public enthusiasm toward improved recreational 
access.  Overall, the current level of service provided by the County’s parks, 
recreational facilities, open spaces, and trails was found to be lacking, with 
many trails and access points overwhelmed. However, an interest in specific 
additions and improvements generated by the public was captured, including 
support for additional funding and revenue sources to fill in the missing gaps, 
and an increase in development and management of current unmanaged or 
under-managed trailheads and access points.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Overview 9

Overview



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Overview 10

Introduction 
Welcome to Chelan County’s Recreation Element of its 
Comprehensive Plan, also known as a Parks, Recreation, 
Open Space, and Trails (PROST) Plan. This document 
is crafted to meet the Growth Management Act (GMA) 
requirements and maintain the County’s eligibility for 
Washington State Recreation and Conservation Office 
(RCO) funding, along with other potential funding sources, 
over the next six years and beyond.

This document provides a comprehensive overview and 
assessment of the County’s parks, recreation areas, 
open spaces, and non-motorized trails. It captures the 
community’s recreational needs and preferences through 
surveys, public outreach initiatives, and online tools. 
Furthermore, the plan establishes a vision, sets planning 
goals, and evaluates the current level of service offered 
by the existing mix of County parks and open spaces.

The Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) is an integral 
component of this document and, upon formal approval 
and adoption, finalizes the Recreation Element. It 
outlines a series of recommended improvements 
designed to enhance services for the citizens of Chelan 
County over the next six years and beyond. These 
recommendations are strategically tied to potential 
grant funding sources, guiding the County’s response 
and prioritization to align with the desired quality of life 
envisioned by its citizens.

Purpose
This update evaluates the effectiveness of the County 
of Chelan County’s parks, open spaces, and trails, in 
conjunction with local and regional parks and recreation 
assets, in meeting the community’s needs. Enclosed 
within this comprehensive plan are both functional and 
aspirational goals, objectives, and desires, presenting 
recommendations for improvements and changes to 
align with the evolving recreational demands of the 
community.

Functioning as a dynamic six-year strategic guide and 
aspirational plan, it outlines strategies for managing 
and enhancing the County of Chelan County’s parks, 
trails, open spaces, and recreation services. This 
plan establishes an implementable framework aimed 
at realizing the community’s desired quality of life in 
relation to its parks, recreation areas, trails, green open 
spaces, and recreational opportunities. Additionally, 
it offers a visionary perspective for the County’s park 
and recreation system, suggesting updates to level-of-
service standards for park and facility classifications. 
It addresses departmental and community-wide goals, 
objectives, and other management considerations, 
ensuring the continued provision of high-quality 
recreation opportunities for the benefit of the Chelan 
County community.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Overview 11

Developed through direct input and guidance 
from County residents, County staff, and Planning 
Commission, this update conducts a thorough inventory 
and evaluation of existing park and recreation areas. It 
assesses how well the County’s parks, open spaces, and 
trails, in collaboration with other local and regional parks 
and recreation assets, serve the County’s residents. 
Furthermore, it proposes strategic improvements and 
changes to meet the evolving recreational demands and 
needs of the community. Additionally, the plan evaluates 
conditions for acquisition, site development, financing 
options, and operational improvements. It concludes by 
offering a set of policies and recommendations designed 
to support the community’s desired quality of life.

Regulatory 
Requirements
Growth Management Act 
Requirements
RCW 36.70A.140, also known as the Growth Management 
Act (GMA), is highly relevant to a Comprehensive Parks, 
Recreation, and Open Space (PROS) Plan in Washington 
State. This statute outlines the requirements for 
comprehensive planning and development regulations 
to manage growth in a manner that protects natural 
resources, promotes economic development, and 
enhances the quality of life for all of Chelan County’s 
residents.

Specifically, RCW 36.70A.140 mandates that local 
jurisdictions, such as Chelan County, must plan for 
and accommodate growth through the adoption of 
comprehensive plans. These plans must address various 
elements, including land use, housing, transportation, 
and parks and recreation. Specifically, RCW 36.70A.140(3) 
outlines the requirements for a Capital Facilities Plan 
that consists of:

� An inventory of existing capital facilities owned by public
entities, including green infrastructure, showing the 
locations and capacities of the capital facilities;

� a forecast of the future needs for such capital facilities;
� the proposed locations and capacities of expanded or

new capital facilities

� at least a six-year plan that will finance such capital 
facilities within projected funding capacities and clearly
identifies sources of public money for such purposes; and

� a requirement to reassess the land use element if 
probable funding falls short of meeting existing needs
and to ensure that the land use element, capital facilities
plan element, and financing plan within the capital
facilities plan element are coordinated and consistent.
Park and recreation facilities shall be included in the 
capital facilities plan element.

The Parks and Recreation element, RCW 36.70A.140(8), 
further describes that the plan shall include:

� Estimates of park and recreation demand for at least a
ten-year period;

� an evaluation of facilities and service needs; and
� an evaluation of intergovernmental coordination 

opportunities to provide regional approaches for meeting
park and recreational demand.

• Estimates of park and recreation demand for at least a ten-
year period;

• an evaluation of facilities and service needs;

• an evaluation of intergovernmental coordination
opportunities to provide regional approaches for meeting
park and recreational demand.

In the context of a PROS Plan, RCW 36.70A.140 provides 
the legal framework and mandate for municipalities 
to incorporate parks, recreation, and open space 
considerations into their comprehensive planning 
efforts. The PROS Plan acts as a specific component of 
the broader comprehensive plan, focusing specifically 
on the development, maintenance, and enhancement of 
parks, recreational facilities, and green spaces within the 
community.

By adhering to RCW 36.70A.140, Counties like Chelan 
ensure that their PROS Plans align with broader state 
goals for sustainable growth and development. This 
includes preserving natural areas, providing recreational 
opportunities for residents, and promoting a high quality 
of life. Therefore, compliance with RCW 36.70A.140 
is essential for Chelan County to maintain eligibility 
for state funding and to guide its efforts in effectively 
managing its parks, recreation, and open spaces.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Overview 12

Washington Recreation And 
Conservation Office (RCO) 
Requirements
The Recreation and Conservation Office (RCO) is a 
Washington State agency dedicated to promoting 
outdoor recreation and conservation. They achieve 
this through grants and technical assistance, aiming 
to ensure all residents have access to well-maintained 
parks and protected natural spaces. But their role goes 
beyond funding.

The RCO recognizes the importance of well-planned park 
systems. These systems not only serve communities but 
also contribute to a network of parks and open spaces 
across the state. A well-implemented PROS Plan is a 
roadmap for a city or county's park, recreation, and open 
space system. It communicates to the RCO the current 
state of its parks and recreation facilities, budgeting, 
and programs, where there are gaps in its current and 
future levels of service,  and develops an implementable 
vision for the community’s future. This roadmap assures 
the RCO that grant money will be used effectively for 
community needs that align with statewide goals.

The RCO requires a PROS Plan, updated every six years, 
to comply with the Growth Management Act (GMA), 
with general expectations to cover the following key 
elements:

� Existing Conditions & Baseline Analysis: Establishes 
the groundwork by reviewing past plans, demographics,
and park system trends.

� Community & Systems Needs Assessment: Identifies
gaps and needs in park infrastructure, assesses facility
conditions, and sets service level benchmarks.

� Priorities, Strategies, and Implementation Plan: 
Compiles the analyses and proposes recommendations. 
It prioritizes goals, outlines implementation strategies, 
and establishes a potential capital improvement plan for
park development.

More information can be found in 
RCO’s Manual 2: Planning Guidelines 
(January 2024), which can be found at: 
https://rco.wa.gov/recreation-and-
conservation-office-grants/grant-
manuals/.

https://rco.wa.gov/recreation-and-conservation-office-grants/grant-manuals/
https://rco.wa.gov/recreation-and-conservation-office-grants/grant-manuals/
https://rco.wa.gov/recreation-and-conservation-office-grants/grant-manuals/


Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Overview 13

RCO’s Self-Certification Form (See Approvals Section) 
is required to be submitted with the PROS Plan 
demonstrating that it followed RCO’s framework 
and ensuring alignment with the GMA. Washington 
communities can develop a strong vision for their parks 
and recreation systems and strengthen a city's grant 
application by demonstrating a clear vision and strategic 
priorities. 

Chelan County Requirements
Potential improvements outlined in this plan were 
developed to be consistent with Chelan County’s County’s 
Comprehensive Plan and applicable codes.

Chelan County’s Recreation Element Update forms the 
6-year and 20-year Capital Improvement Plans (CIP)
serving to inform possible near-term and long-term
County budgeting, procurement, and construction needs,
while providing the flexibility to adapt to unforeseen
opportunities that may present themselves during this
plan’s performance period.

The CIP noted in this document is in no way or means 
the final plan to guide all park, recreation, trails, and 
open space development, acquisition, and maintenance 
needs the County will undertake over the next six 
years. It is an aspirational vision of potential projects, 
agreements, and possible programs developed thorough 
a public involvement process designed to capture the 
community’s needs and wishes for its parks & recreation 
system. Many projects, due to funding changes, 
procurement challenges, staffing needs, and political 
priorities, may not be implemented. Yet, the projects 
reflected in the CIP have been developed in a way so that 
if the County decides to pursue a specific project, they is 
best positioned to secure competitive funding from other 
sources or are prioritized correctly.

Process
While RCO has no specific requirements for the 
number of pages, number of chapters, or format for 
comprehensive park plans, it is expected that the 
plan will capture the organization’s needs and, more 
importantly, the quality of life desired by the community.

The process used to develop Chelan County’s Recreation 
Element Update is modeled after six minimum elements 
noted in RCO Manual 2: Planning Policies & Guidelines. 
Whether this plan supports a grant application for a 
capital project (facility development and land acquisition) 
or a non-capital project (architectural, engineering, 
planning, etc.,) the organization of this plan and the 
process followed is purposefully designed to capture the 
elements expected by RCO.

Aside from this, the first section, the project overview, 
this plan is structured around six primary sections or 
elements needed for an effective comprehensive parks 
plan:

PLAN
ADOPTION

07

CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAM

06

GOALS & 
OBJECTIVES

05

PUBLIC
INVOLVEMENT

04

DEMAND & 
NEEDS
ASSESSMENT

03

SYSTEMS 
INVENTORY

02

OVERVIEW

01



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Overview 14

Existing Conditions (Systems 
Inventory)
A description of the planning or service area, including 
the physical setting, the community profile, other 
mutually supportive planning efforts, and a summary of 
conditions of the complete inventory of each existing 
outdoor recreation asset or program.

Public Involvement
A description of how the planning process gave 
the public ample opportunity to be involved in plan 
development and adoption. 

Demand & Needs Analysis
An analysis that takes your inventory work and public 
involvement into consideration, balancing public demand 
with your organization’s current capacity and future 
expectations.

Goals and Objectives
The plan must support the applicant’s park and 
recreation mission, including the current project, with 
broad statements of intent, or goals that capture a 
community’s desired outdoor recreation resources. 

Capital Improvement 
Program
A list of the desired capital improvements or capital 
facility programs of at least 6 years that lists and 
prioritizes desired land acquisition, development, 
renovation, and restoration projects.

Approvals
A resolution, ordinance, or other adoption instrument 
showing formal approval of the plan and planning 
process by the governing entity.

The process diagram on the previous page identifies the 
priority sections needed to develop a GMA-compliant and 
RCO-certified comprehensive parks & recreation plan; 
however, many steps ran concurrently.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 15

Inventory & 
Assessment



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 16

Introduction & Purpose
The purpose of this chapter is to gain a broad 
understanding of the current conditions of Chelan 
County’s parks, recreation, open space and trails, the 
population that the parks are serving, and the regional 
context and planning efforts that frame the County’s 
comprehensive system.

Currently, the County manages three named facilities and 
two community forests. In addition, the County is also 
working with the Peshastin community on the feasibility 
of a new passive park space along the Wenatchee River, 
each providing a variety of recreation amenities and 
experiences for the County residents to enjoy. 

The inventory and assessment section is assembled 
across the following four distinct contexts.

Physical Context
Planning Area
Chelan County unfolds beneath the majestic backdrop 
of snow-covered mountains, glacier-fed waterways, 
and sprawling forests, where orchards seamlessly blend 
with sagebrush-covered hills. This unparalleled setting, 

renowned on a global scale, offers an abundance of 
recreational opportunities for both local residents and 
visitors from across the state, and the globe.

The county’s recreational tapestry is rich and diverse, 
featuring activities such as hiking, skiing, camping, 
fishing, boating, and biking, each contributing to the 
vibrant character of the region. The Cascade Scenic 
Byway, tracing its route through the northern expanse 
of the Cascade Mountains and along the southern shores 
of Lake Chelan, serves as a gateway to these varied 
recreation opportunities. Utilizing US Highway 97 and US 
Highway 2, the primary arteries to and through Chelan 
County, the byway encapsulates the essence of the 
county’s natural wonders.

Spanning over 2,920 square miles in north-central 
Washington State, Chelan County ranks as the third-
largest county in the state in terms of land area. 
Geographically, the county shares its northwestern 
border with Skagit County, while the Cascade Mountains 
form its western boundaries alongside Snohomish 
and King Counties. To the northeast, it is bordered by 
Okanogan County, with the Columbia River delineating 
the eastern border and shared with Douglas County. The 
southern boundary neighbors Kittitas County.

A striking characteristic of Chelan County is the 
substantial portion of publicly owned land, comprising 
approximately 87 percent of its expanse. The lion’s 
share (80 percent) of this public domain is seamlessly 



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 17

integrated into the Wenatchee National Forest. 
Complementing this, an array of federal, state, and local 
agencies collaboratively manages the remaining public 
lands, forming a cohesive network that contributes to the 
region’s natural beauty and accessibility. 

History
The historical tapestry of the region, shaped by 
the Chelan and Wenatchi Native American tribes, 
became even more nuanced with recent research. As 
documented in contemporary studies, the integration 
of these tribes into the Consolidated Tribes and Bands 
of the Yakama Nation following the 1855 Yakama Nation 
Treaty reveals a complex interplay of cultural and political 
dynamics. Insights from archeological excavations and 
ethnographic research shed light on the rich heritage 
and intricate social structures of these indigenous 
communities.

Advancements in historical documentation highlight 
that European settlers, arriving in the 1870s and 
1880s, not only navigated through switchbacks but 
also encountered formidable challenges in adapting 
to the local ecosystems. Ongoing environmental 
research underscores the ecological impact of early 
settlement patterns on the Wenatchee Valley, providing 

a more comprehensive understanding of the region’s 
environmental evolution.

Incorporation in 1892 marked a pivotal moment for 
Wenatchee, and recent analyses delve into the socio-
economic factors that influenced the decision-making 
process. Additionally, insights from urban development 
studies showcase how the first train’s passage in the 
area catalyzed subsequent urbanization trends.

Recent interdisciplinary studies in agriculture and 
water resource management shed new light on the 
historical role of irrigation canals in Chelan County. 
This research underscores the enduring importance 
of water management practices and their implications 
for sustainable agriculture in the region. Moreover, a 
contemporary examination of public utility districts 
and their impact on local governance provides insights 
into the evolving power dynamics within Chelan County. 
Ongoing research in energy policy and sustainability 
offers a fresh perspective on the role played by the 
Chelan County PUD and its contributions to the region’s 
energy landscape.

Leavenworth’s economic transformation in the 1960s, 
documented through economic analyses and sociological 
studies, provides a more nuanced understanding of the 
community’s decision to adopt a Bavarian theme. Recent 



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 18

interviews with local residents and business owners 
offer valuable perspectives on the socio-economic 
factors that fueled Leavenworth’s growth as a tourist 
destination.

Current agricultural research reveals the ongoing 
diversification of fruit crops in Chelan County, with a 
particular emphasis on the expansion of blueberries and 
wine grape cultivation. The flourishing wine economy, 
explored in contemporary studies on viticulture and 
tourism, showcases its pivotal role in attracting visitors 
to the region.

In conclusion, recent research enriches the historical 
narrative of the region, offering a more intricate and 
multidisciplinary perspective on its development, 
cultural heritage, and economic transformations.

Topography 
Chelan County boasts a remarkable topographic tapestry, 
ranging from the lowlands hugging the Columbia River, 
just under 600 feet above sea level, to the soaring peaks 
that punctuate the skyline, several of which breach the 
9,000-foot mark. Among these lofty summits, Bonanza 
Peak reigns supreme, standing proud as the county’s 
loftiest pinnacle at an elevation of 9,511 feet. What 
distinguishes Bonanza Peak further is its claim to fame 
as the highest non-volcanic peak not just in the state of 
Washington but across the entire Cascade Range.

Within Chelan County, the Cascade Range unfolds 
into various sub-ranges, each contributing its unique 
character to the region’s diverse topography. The Chelan 
Mountains, Entiat Mountains, Chiwaukum Mountains, 
Sawtooth Range, and the Stuart Range are among these 
distinctive sub-ranges, each offering its own set of 
scenic wonders and recreational opportunities. These 
ranges provide a canvas for a myriad of activities, from 
well-developed recreational pursuits to more primitive, 
backcountry adventures.

Exploration within these sub-ranges unveils a treasure 
trove of natural wonders. The Chelan Mountains, 
with their undulating terrain, invite hikers and nature 
enthusiasts to traverse through canyons and foothills 
adorned with shrub-steppe habitats. The Entiat 
Mountains, dominated by dry ponderosa forests, present 
a landscape ripe for exploration and discovery. The 
Chiwaukum Mountains, with their high alpine meadows, 
beckon adventurers to explore the elevated realms and 
witness breathtaking vistas.

Further afield, the Sawtooth Range showcases its 
rugged beauty, offering opportunities for both developed 
and primitive recreation. Meanwhile, the Stuart Range 
stands as a testament to the geological diversity of the 
region, providing a scenic backdrop for those seeking to 

immerse themselves in the untouched wilderness.

In essence, Chelan County’s topography is a dynamic 
canvas, painted with elevations that span the spectrum 
from river valleys to towering peaks. The sub-ranges 
of the Cascade Range add layers of complexity to this 
natural masterpiece, creating a playground for outdoor 
enthusiasts and a haven for those seeking diverse and 
awe-inspiring landscapes.

Hydrology
Rivers and their valleys stand as defining features of 
Chelan County, with the Wenatchee, Entiat, and Chelan 
Rivers serving as significant tributaries to the Columbia 
River. Originating high in the Cascade Mountains, these 
watersheds provide essential resources for drinking 
water, irrigation, recreation, and diverse fish and wildlife 
habitats.

The Chelan River Basin revolves around the grandeur 
of Lake Chelan, the largest natural lake in Washington, 
extending over 50 miles and reaching depths of almost 
1,500 feet. Notable tributaries like the Stehekin River, 
Railroad Creek, and Twenty-Five Mile Creek contribute to 
its inflow, regulated by the Lake Chelan Dam. The Entiat 
River, emerging below Mount Fernow’s Entiat Glacier, is 
the smallest of the three major watersheds, gathering 
waters from the North Fork Entiat River and the Mad River 
before joining the Columbia in Entiat.

The Wenatchee River, the largest watershed in the 
county, drains southern Chelan County. Originating as the 
Little Wenatchee and White Rivers, it flows through Lake 
Wenatchee and converges at Wenatchee Confluence 
State Park before discharging into the Columbia 
River. Tributaries such as Chiwawa River, White River, 
Little Wenatchee River, Nason Creek, and Icicle Creek 
contribute to over 90% of the river’s average flow.

In addition to Lake Chelan and Lake Wenatchee, 
numerous lakes, varying in size, are scattered across 
Chelan County, supporting a range of recreational 
activities. The majority of these lakes are nestled within 
federally designated wilderness areas, contributing to 
the region’s allure and diverse offerings

Habitat
Chelan County boasts an array of habitat types, 
characteristic of regions east of the Cascade Mountains, 
exhibiting remarkable diversity. Wetlands trace the 
Columbia River and Lake Chelan shorelines, while the 
shrub-steppe habitat thrives in the county’s canyons and 
foothills. Ponderosa forests, dry and flourishing, coexist 
with meadows nestled in the high alpine zones. The area 
teems with an assortment of wildlife, including mule 



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 19

deer, elk, black bears, coyotes, cougars, and a myriad 
of small mammals and birds. The native tree population 
comprises western red cedar, Douglas and grand firs, 
ponderosa and white pines, big leaf, Douglas, and vine 
maples, along with dogwoods, alders, and cottonwoods. 
Beneath or beyond the tree canopy, the landscape 
features grasses, sagebrush, and shrubs.

Climate
The region’s climate exhibits a fascinating blend, bridging 
characteristics of the milder, moister Puget Sound and 
the drier climate of central Washington. Temperature 
fluctuations from hot summers to cold winters are more 
pronounced, varying with elevation and proximity to 
the Cascade Crest. Precipitation generally decreases 
inland, but Lake Chelan plays a crucial role in moderating 
temperatures, contributing to the area’s success as a 
thriving growing region.

Demographic Context
In order to make planning recommendations that will 
work for Chelan County, it is important to understand who 
lives in Chelan County, with details including population, 
demographics, income, housing, education, employment, 
and transportation.

Each of these categories and sets of data shares 
something new about Chelan County and its use of the 
parks and recreation system. With each data point, it is 
important to consider how parks, trails, and open spaces 
can better serve both the sets of people who show as the 
majority in a data set and those who are a minority. It is 
clearly a necessity to make sure that the parks system 
works well for those in the majority and who already 
frequent these spaces. It is also sometimes most critical 
to see who the minority is and to think about how to 
make the parks system more accessible so that Chelan 
County can increase its park use and ensure the system 
is working for all community members.

Key Takeaways
� Chelan County’s population was estimated to be 81,500 in

2023 and the population projection for Chelan County 
in 2050 is roughly 97,195. This means that Chelan
County will need to accommodate roughly 15,695 new 
residents by 2050 – a 19.3% increase from 2023. This
includes implementing a parks plan to accommodate the 

level of service desired by the community. 
� The median age in Chelan County is 39.9, which 

is higher than that of Washington State (37.9). 29.8%
of households have at least one person under 18, and 
36.9% of households have at least one person 65 or
older. It is important that the parks plan takes these two 
populations into account.

� About 72.2% of Chelan County residents are white 
alone, 28.0% identify as Hispanic or Latino, 1.0% are 
Asian alone, 0.3% are Black or African American, 0.5%
are American Indian or Alaska native, 0.1% are Native 
Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, 0.5% are some other race, and
3.7% are two or more races. 27.8% of the Chelan County 
population is an ethnicity that isn’t white alone. 26.0%
speak a language other than English. Programming and
recreational opportunities for Chelan County should 
serve the uniqueness of this community.

� Of the total population, 17.5% of the population have 
at least one disability. 6.7% have difficulty with walking,
5.7% have cognitive difficulty, 6.7% have difficulty with
hearing and 6.9% have difficulty with vision. These 
disability categories should be taken into consideration
when planning public spaces.

� 19.9% of residents are living at or below 149% of the 
poverty level, indicating that they likely have limited
disposable income available for recreational activities.

� 68.7% of all housing units in Chelan County are
single-family units, and 12.3% are mobile home units.
Considering population density within Chelan County 
would only benefit the parks plan.

� 5.0% of residents have no vehicle available, and for 
parks to be accessible to all residents, walkability is a
crucial factor.

� 70.5% of Chelan County residents travel less than 25 
miles to work. Chelan County PROS Plan considerations
should accommodate those who both live and work within
the county, and it may be useful to use employment
locations and concentrations to better serve the 
workforce with parks near local businesses.

� Chelan County has a median household income 
of $64,895, which is much less than Washington 
statewide median household incomes ($82,400). 
However, incomes are not consistent throughout the 
County. In particular, Wenatchee includes some of the
lowest-income census tracts, and the areas surrounding
Wenatchee have some of the highest-income census
tracts. Considerations should be made within PROS 
recreation and programming to accommodate and serve
the needs and demands of all communities in Chelan 
County and thereby developing an equitable distribution 
of parks systems.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 20

Population
Historic Trends
Chelan County has experienced a 
largely stable population over the 
past 30 years, with a significant 
estimated population increase 
from 1990 to 2000. Chelan County’s 
population appears to be increasing 
at a similar rate to overall trends in 
Washington State. The table below 
shows a steady increase in Chelan 
County’s population from 2010 to 
2023.

Population Forecast
The population projections for 
Chelan County are based on 
the Washington State Office of 
Financial Management’s (OFM) 
countywide population projections. 
OFM publishes low, medium, and 
high population projections for 
all counties in Washington every 
five years, and the most recent 
projections were released in 2022. 
This plan will utilize the new OFM 
projections to project a population 
for Chelan County through the year 
2050.

This process utilizes the OFM 
medium-level projection as the 
forecasted population. The OFM 
medium-level projection for Chelan 
County for 2050 is 97,195. 

This means that Chelan County will 
need to accommodate roughly 15,695 
new residents by 2050 – a 19.3% 
increase from 2023. Figure 2.1 at 
the top of the following page shows 
the estimated historical population 
from 1990 to 2023 and the population 
projection growth until 2050.

Table 2-1: Historic Population (US Census)

Census 
Population

Chelan County WA State

Count Growth 
Rate Count Growth 

Rate

1990 52,250 -- 4,866,692 --

2000 66,616 27.49% 5,894,121 21.11%

2010 72,453 8.76% 6,724,540 14.08%

2020 79,141 9.23% 7,705,281 14.58%

Table 2-2: Chelan County Population by Year

Year
Chelan County

Population Growth Rate

2010 72,453 --

2011 71,787 -0.92%

2012 73,687 2.65%

2013 73,967 0.38%

2014 74,588 0.84%

2015 75,463 1.17%

2016 76,338 1.16%

2017 76,533 0.26%

2018 77,036 0.66%

2019 77,200 0.21%

2020 79,141 2.51%

2021 80,000 1.09%

2022 80,650 0.81%

2023 81,500 1.05%

Source: OFM Decennial Census Counts of Population for the State, Counties, Cities and 
Towns 1990-2020.

Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates Data Profiles, DP05 and OFM Population Projections for 
years 2020-2023.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 21

Population 
Demographics
Age & Gender
Chelan County has a slightly higher 
percentage of male residents 
than female residents. The 2021 
American Community Survey (ACS) 
5-year estimates indicate the
age categories with the highest 
populations in Chelan County 
are 25 to 34 years (12.3%), 35 
to 44 years (11.9%), and 65 to 74 
years (11.3%). The median age in 
Chelan County is 39.9, which is 
higher than that of Washington 
State (37.9). Approximately 2.5% 
of the population is under 18, and 
19.0% of the population is age 
65 or older. According to census 
data (specifically DP1), 29.8% of 
households have at least one person 
under 18, and 36.9% of households 
have at least one person 65 or older. 
It is important that the parks plan 
takes these two populations into 
account. 

Race & Ethnicity
About 72.2% of Chelan County 
residents are white alone, 28.0% 
identify as Hispanic or Latino, 1.0% 
are Asian alone, 0.3% are Black 
or African American, 0.5% are 
American Indian or Alaska native, 
0.1% are Native Hawaiian/Pacific 
Islander, 0.5% are some other 
race, and 3.7% are two or more 
races. 27.8% of the Chelan County 
population is an ethnicity that 
isn’t white alone. Figure 2.2 on the 
following page shows the race and 
ethnicity percentages of Chelan 
County vs Washington State as a 
whole.

40,000

1990
1995

2000
2005

2010
2015

2020
2025

2030
2035

2040
2045

2050

60,000Po
pu

la
tio

n 80,000

100,000
Historic Population
Projected Growth

Source: US Census (2000, 2010, 2020) and OFM County Population Forecasts
Figure 2.1: Chelan County Population Projection

Table 2-3: Gender in Chelan County

Gender Estimate Percent

Male 39,511 50.3%

Female 38,997 49.7%

Source: American Community Survey 2021 5-year estimates, DP05.

Table 2-4: Chelan County Population by Year

Age Chelan County 
Estimate

Chelan 
County % WA State %

Under 5 years 4,625 5.9% 5.9%

5 to 9 years 5,512 7.0% 6.2%

10 to 14 years 5,166 6.6% 6.3%

15 to 19 years 4,887 6.2% 6.0%

20 to 24 years 4,622 5.9% 6.3%

25 to 34 years 9,665 12.3% 15.1%

35 to 44 years 9,379 11.9% 13.7%

45 to 54 years 8,773 11.2% 12.3%

55 to 59 years 5,319 6.8% 6.3%

60 to 64 years 5,633 7.2% 6.4%

65 to 74 years 8,873 11.3% 9.6%

74 to 84 years 3,968 5.1% 4.1%

85 years and over 2,086 2.7% 1.7%

Source: American Community Survey 2021 5-year estimates, DP05



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 22

0%

Chelan
County

WA 
State

Lo
ca

tio
n

20% 40% 60%
Percentage

80% 100%

White Alone
American Indian/Alaska Native

Hispanic or Latino African American (Black) Alone
Asian Alone

Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander
Some Other Race Alone

Two or More Races

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge 6.7% 6.9%
5.7%

6.7%

2.6%

5.1%

Hearin
g 

Diffi
cu
lty Vision

Diffi
cu
lty

Cognitiv
e

Diffi
cu
lty

Ambulatory

Diffi
cu
lty

Self-
Care

Diffi
cu
lty

Independent

Living

Diffi
cu
lty

Source: 2020 Decennial Census, DP1

Figure 2.2: Race and Ethnicity Percentages of Chelan County versus 
WA State

Source: 2021 ACS 5-Year Estimates, S1810.

Figure 2.3: Percentage of Chelan County's Population Living with 
Disability

Source: 2021 ACS 5-Year Estimates, DP05

While understanding racial and 
ethnic demographics can help 
identify the need for incorporating 
languages other than English into 
parks planning, operations, and 
programming, it is even more critical 
to examine English proficiency 
and languages spoken at home, 
as Census data does not indicate 
cultural identities of populations. 
Increasing efforts to engage 
with residents in the languages 
represented by community members 
could help make planning efforts and 
parks more accessible to all.

Of Chelan County residents over the 
age of 5 who were included in the 
ACS data, 26.0% speak a language 
other than English. (2021: ACS 
5-Year Estimates, S1601). 24.0% 
speak Spanish at home. Of the 
roughly 19,182 residents who speak a 
language other than English, 39.3%, 
or 7,530 indicated that they speak 
English “less than very well.” 24.0% 
of residents speak Spanish at home, 
1.3 % speak another Indo-European 
language, and 0.6% speak an Asian 
or Pacific Islander language (2021 
ACS S1601). It is also worth noting 
that Census data and estimates 
often have an undercount of non-
English speakers, as undocumented 
residents with the community do not 
feel safe filling out the surveys. 

Disability
Disability metrics for Chelan County 
are important to understand, as they 
help in identifying the accessibility 
needs of the population and 
incorporating amenities within the 
parks system for greater access. 
This information also helps to 

Table 2-5: Ethnicity in Chelan County

Ethnicity Chelan Count 
Estimate

Chelan 
County %

WA State 
% 

Hispanic or Latino (Any Race) 22,104 28.0% 13.7%

Not Hispanic or Latino 56,970 72.0% 86.3%

determine how many people are likely to travel to parks and open spaces. According to the U.S. Census, 17.5% of the 
population have at least one disability. This is a higher percentage of the population that lives with a disability than 
Washington (12.7%). In further developing a parks plan for Chelan County, it is important to consider amenities and 
accommodations which would serve the portion of the population who live with disabilities. 

Figure 2.3 shows the percentage of residents within Chelan County living with a disability according to the U.S. 
Census. Of the total population, 6.7% have difficulty with walking, 5.7% have cognitive difficulty, 6.7% have difficulty 
with hearing and 6.9% have difficulty with vision. These disability categories should be taken into consideration when 
planning public spaces. Additionally, 5.1% need assistance with independent living, and 2.6% need assistance with 
self-care. Disability impacts most people at some point in their lives, so the more accessible communities are, the 
more they will be able to benefit the whole population.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 23

Income
The median household income 
in Chelan County per 2021 ACS 
estimates was approximately 
$64,895 compared with Washington 
State at $82,400. Overall, 
Chelan County income brackets 
are consistent with statewide 
households. 38.1% of Chelan County 
households make less than $50,000 
a year. Table 2-6 below shows the 
distribution of household incomes 
for Chelan County and Washington 
State. Figure 2.4 below shows a 
graph of the income distributions. 
The median property value in Chelan 
County is $492,700. 

In 2021, the census tracts with the 
highest Median Household Income in 
Chelan County, WA was Census Tract 
9607 (north of Wenatchee) with a 
median income of $108,750, followed 
by Census Tract 9605.02 (near 
Monitor, South of Monitor and West 
of Wenatchee) with a median income 
of $94,421 and Census Tract 9612 
(south of Wenatchee), with a median 
income of $93,464. The tracts 
with the lowest median household 
incomes are Tract 9610.02 
(Wenatchee) at $36,003, Tract 
9608.03 (Wenatchee) at $37,940, 
and Tract 9611.01 (Wenatchee) at 
$44,792. 

The map on the following page 
shows all of the tracts in Chelan 
County, WA colored by their Median 
Household Income. As seen from the 
visualization, the areas surrounding 
Wenatchee have concentrations 
of census tracts with higher 
average incomes, and Wenatchee 
proper has a concentration of 
census tracts with lower median 
incomes. Considerations should be 
made within Chelan County PROS 
recreation and programming to 
accommodate and serve the needs 
and demands of all communities 
in Chelan County and thereby 
developing an equitable distribution 
of parks & recreation elements.

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Household Income

Less th
an $10

,000

$10
,000 to

 $14,999

$15,000 to
 $24,999

$25,000 to
 $34,999

$35,000 to
 $49,999

$50,000 to
 $74,999

$75,000 to
 $99,999

$10
0,000 to

 $149,999

$150,000 to
 $199,999

$200,000 or m
ore

Chelan County
Washington State

Source: 2021 ACS 5-Year Estimates, S1810.

Figure 2.4: Chelan County and WA State Household Income

Source: 2021 ACS 5-Year Estimates, DP05

Table 2-6: Household Income in Chelan County

Household Income Chelan County 
Households

WA State 
Households

Less than $10,000 3.0% 4.2%

$10,000 to $14,999 3.2% 2.9%

$15,000 to $24,999 9.4% 5.9%

$25,000 to $34,999 9.8% 6.4%

$35,000 to $49,999 12.7% 10.1%

$50,000 to $74,999 18.4% 16.3%

$75,000 to $99,999 12.7% 13.4%

$100,000 to $149,999 15.7% 18.7%

$150,000 to $199,999 8.0% 9.8%

$200,000 or more 7.1% 12.4%

Total Households: 29,474 2,931,841

Median Income (Dollars): $64,895 $82,400



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 24

Source: S1901, ACS 2022, 5-Year Estimates

Figure 2.5: Chelan County Census Tracts and Median Incomes



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 25

Source: 2021 ACS 5-Year Estimates, S0701.

Source: 2021 ACS 5-Year Estimates, DP04.

Table 2-7: Poverty Status in Chelan County Population

Poverty Status %

# of People for Whom Poverty Status is Determined (Age 1 and over) 77,001

Below 100% of the poverty level 10.7%

100-149% of the poverty level 9.2%

At or above 150% of the poverty level 80.1%

Table 2-8: Poverty Status in Chelan County Population

Housing Type Chelan County 
# of Units

Chelan 
County % WA State %

1, detatched 25,482 65.8% 63.0%

1, attached 1,137 2.9% 4.1%

2 971 2.5% 2.3%

3 or 4 1,226 3.2% 3.6%

5 to 9 1,061 2.7% 4.4%

10 to 19 2,246 5.8% 4.8%

20 or more units 1,840 4.7% 11.7%

Mobile home 4,781 12.3% 5.9%

Boat, RV, van, etc. 0 0.0% 0.2%

Total: 38,744 38,744 3,170,695

sizes. 150% of the poverty level for a 
one-person household is $19,320 or 
$39,750 for a four-person household. 
This paints a picture of finances for 
all residents in Chelan County – with 
a reminder that this includes both 
adults and children. It is important 
to note that 19.9% of residents are 
living at or below 149% of the poverty 
level, indicating that they likely have 
limited disposable income available 
for recreational activities.

Housing
Housing Type
Table 2-8 presents the distribution 
of various housing unit types in 
Chelan County, along with their 
corresponding percentages relative 
to the total housing within Chelan 
County and the state of Washington. 
68.7% of all housing units in Chelan 
County are single-family units, 
which is higher than Washington 
(67.1%). Chelan County also has 
a lower percentage of structure 
with 20 or more units (4.7%) than 
Washington (11.7%), and it has a 
higher percentage of mobile homes 
(12.3%) than the state as a whole 
(5.9%). Otherwise, the distribution 
of housing types are generally 
consistent with Washington state 
percentages.

Housing Tenure
Excluding vacancy rates, 64.7% of 
occupied units In Chelan County 
are owner-occupied and 35.3% 
of units are renter-occupied. 
The percentage of owner-
occupied housing is consistent 
with Washington state (63.6%) 
percentages. This is consistent with 
Chelan County’s housing values and 
incomes. Figure 2.6, right, shows 
owner vs. renter rates in Chelan 
County Washington.

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Chelan
County

WA 
State

Lo
ca

tio
n

Percentage

Owner-Occupied Renter-Occupied

64.7% 35.3%

63.6% 36.4%

Source: 2021 ACS 5-Year Estimates, DP04.

Figure 2.6: Owner vs. Renter in Chelan County and WA State

Table 2-7 identifies the number of residents over the age of one and their poverty status in 2021. For reference, 
according to the 2021 Federal Poverty Guidelines, being below the poverty level for a one-person household would 
earn less than $12,880 or for a four-person household it would be $26,500, with other amounts for other household 



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 26

Employment
The civilian employed population 16 
years and over in Chelan County is 
estimated to be 36,584, according to 
2021 American Community Survey 
5-year estimates (DP03). The largest
industry employment sectors in
Chelan County are educational
services, health care and social
assistance (22.7%) and retail trade
(12.0%). Chelan County’s public
administration sector employs a
higher percentage of the population
than that of Washington, but is
otherwise generally consistent with
statewide percentages.

Employment Inf low/
Outf low
Figure 2.7 shows the US Census 
OnTheMap estimates for inflow 
and outflow of daily jobs in Chelan 
County. This identifies that a 
greater number of people travel 
into Chelan County for employment 
(18,494) than travel out of the county 
(17,057). 20,882 people remain in 
Chelan County to live and work. It is 
important to note that employment 
has changed for many people since 
the 2020 Census, with many more 
people working from home. These 
numbers continue to change each 
year following the pandemic. 

Source: 2021 ACS 5-Year Estimates, DP04.

Table 2-9: Average Household Type in Chelan County

Household Type Chelan County 
# Households

Chelan 
County %

WA State 
%

Married-couple family household 14,637 49.7% 50.1%

Male householder, no spouse 
present, family household 5,219 17.7% 18.1%

Female householder, no spouse 
present, family household 7,307 24.8% 23.6%

Cohabiting couple households 2,311 7.8% 8.2%

Total: 29,474 29,474 2,931,841

Source: OnTheMap, 2021 Census Estimates.

Figure 2.7: Inflow/Outflow of Employment in Chelan County

Average Household Type
The average household size in Chelan County is 2.62 people, which is a slightly higher average household size than 
Washington State at-large (2.55 people). Table 2-9 provides a breakdown of the average number of households per 
type of household. This information is useful when considering what housing types might be best suited for people in 
Chelan County with differing life circumstances. While a single-family home might be most suitable for certain family 
households, multi-family homes might create a greater sense of community for households with one parent present, 
and smaller units may be better suited for nonfamily households. This table shows that Chelan County has a slightly 
lower percentage of married households (49.7%) than statewide percentages (50.1%).

Employment & Transportation



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 27

Employment Locations
Figure 2.8 above shows a map of the top 10 employment locations of Chelan 
County residents in 2021, emanating from Chelan County. According to 
the OnTheMap visualization, there are concentrations of employment in 
Wenatchee, East Wenatchee, Seattle, Chelan, and Leavenworth, with lower 
concentrations in other cities (Cashmere, Yakima, Bellevue, Everett, Moses 
Lake, etc.).

2-10, left, shows the distances residents travel to work and the percentage 
of the populations in Chelan County and Washington. 49.9% of Chelan 
County residents travel less than 10 miles for work, which is a slightly  higher 
percentage compared to statewide percentages (49.4%). About 61.4% of 
Chelan County residents travel less than 25 miles to work, and 32.4% work 
greater than 50 miles away from home.

Source: OnTheMap, 2021 Census Estimates.

Figure 2.8: Employment Locations of Chelan County Residents

Table 2-10: Chelan County 
Distance Traveled to Work

Distance
Chelan 
County 

%

WA 
State 

%

Less than 10 miles 58.2% 49.4%

10 to 24 miles 12.3% 27.0%

25 to 50 miles 7.0% 10.4%

Greater than 50 
miles 22.5% 13.2%

Source: OnTheMap, 2021 Census Estimates.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 28

Means of Transportation to Work
Table 11 below shows the means of transportation for the 
populations of Chelan County and Washington. 84.9% of 
Chelan County residents travel by car/truck/van to work, 
which is a higher percentage compared to statewide 
(76.9%). 1.0% of Chelan County residents take public 
transportation to work, and 7.3% of residents work from 
home according to 2021 estimates.

Access to Vehicles
Figure 9 below shows the access Chelan County 
residents have to vehicles. 34.6% of people in Chelan 
County have access to 2 vehicles, and 30.5% have access 
to 3 or more vehicles at any time. It is important to note 
that 5.0% of residents have no vehicle available, and for 
parks to be accessible to all residents, walkability is a 
crucial factor.

Table 2-11: Chelan County  
Means of Transportation to Work

Distance
Chelan 
County 

%

WA 
State 

%

Car, truck, or van 84.9% 76.9%

Public transportation (excluding taxicab) 1.0% 5.2%

Walked 3.8% 3.3%

Bicycle 0.6% 0.7%

Taxicab, motorcycle, or other means 2.3% 1.2%

Worked from home 7.3% 12.6%

Source: American Community Survey 2021 5-year estimates, Table 
S0801. Source: 2021 ACS 5-Year Estimates, S2504.

Figure 2.9: Percentage of Chelan County Vehicle 
Availability

0%
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

No Vehicle
Available

1 Vehicle
Available

2 Vehicles
Available

3 or More
Vehicles
Available

5.0%

30.2%

34.6%

30.3%



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 29

Physical Inventory & Assessment

Source: Chelan PUD

Figure 2.10: Chelan PUD Has Opportunities in Chelan and Douglas 
County

The many recreation opportunities 
within Chelan County include 
boating and water sports, rafting, 
kayaking, fishing, mountain biking, 
backpacking, mountaineering, 
rock climbing, golf, hiking, hunting, 
camping, motorized trail sports, 
horseback riding, sightseeing, bird 
watching, snowboarding, cross-
country skiing, downhill skiing, and 
fossil, rock and mushroom collecting. 
Many regional facilities are 
inventoried within the incorporated 
city comprehensive plans and are not 
listed in detail here.

Some parts of the County have 
few opportunities for traditional 
community sports activities such as 
baseball and soccer. Facilities for 
these types of activities tend to be 
located in more urbanized locations.

The County operates the Expo 
Center, manages the Ohme Garden 
State Park and owns the Wenatchee 
River County Park, located in the 
Monitor area. That park includes 
17 developed acres adjacent to the 
Wenatchee River, and includes full 
service camp-sites for recreational 
vehicles and a State of Washington 
temporary farm worker camp and is 
managed through a contract.

Chelan County PUD has developed 
14 parks to provide recreational 
opportunities along the Columbia 
River and Lake Chelan as required as 
part of dam licensing. Five of those 
parks are in Douglas County (Rock 
Island, Lincoln Park, Orondo, Daroga, 
Beebe Bridge).



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 30



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 31

Table 2-12: List of Parks within Chelan County Lines

Management Name Acres Amenities

Chelan County Parks

Chelan County Wenatchee River County Park 17  � Adjacent to the Wenatchee River with 43 full-service camp sites for RVs.

Chelan County Chelan County Expo Center 33

 � 140RV hook-ups with sewer, horse barn with 42 inside stalls and 40 outside 
stalls, grandstand with 1,200 seating, arena, buildings (24,000 sq ft for Pavilion 
with full commercial kitchen, auditorium with 6,500 sq ft) multiple smaller 
buildings.

Chelan County Ohme Gardens 40
 � Botanic garden with lawns, seven pools, four waterfalls and one mile of natural 

stone paths. Also used as a rentable special events center.

Chelan County PUD

Entiat Park and 
Recreation Department Entiat Park 40

 � Camping (26 tent sites and 31 RV sites with complete hookups), 2-lane boat 
launch , boat trailer parking, swimming, restrooms, showers, RV dump station, 
playground equipment, 2 picnic shelters, picnic areas.

WA State Parks and 
Recreation Commission

Wenatchee Confluence State 
Park 197

 � Camping (59 tent/RV sites: 51 with electricity, water and sewer, 8 standard), 
baseball/soccer field, 2-lane boat launch, boat trailer parking, swimming, 
restrooms, showers, picnic shelter, volleyball, tennis, playground equipment, 
Wenatchee River pedestrian bridge, 4.5 miles of trail, wildlife area, interpretive
graphics, RV dump station.

PUD Chelan Falls Park 33
 � Two-lane boat launch, short-term boat moorage, parking, day-use facilities, 

picnic shelters, restrooms, showers, shoreline trail, tennis court, playground 
equipment, sports fields, horseshoe pits, swimming area.

PUD Chelan Falls Powerhouse 
Park 20

 � Boat ramp, boat dock, day-use facilities, picnic shelter, restrooms, playground 
equipment, swimming area.

PUD Chelan Riverwalk Park 12
 � One-mile scenic river loop trail, boat launch, short-term moorage, boat trailer 

parking, grass playfield, restrooms, picnic areas, picnic shelter.

PUD Entiat Park 40  � Campsites, picnic shelters, restrooms, boat launch, interpretive trail.

PUD Rocky Reach Dam Park 38
 � Extensive, award-winning landscaping, picnic areas, picnic shelter, playground 

equipment, horseshoe pits, Visitor Center, fish viewing room, historical 
galleries, restrooms.

PUD Walla Walla Point Park 70
 � Fourplex soccer/softball complex, swimming, 1.2 miles of trail, tennis, 

volleyball, horseshoe pits, playground equipment, restrooms, picnic shelters, 
special event area, ADA fishing pier platform.

PUD Wenatchee Riverfront Park 31
 � 1.1 miles of shoreline trail, “special event” mini-railroad, ice rink, 2-lane boat 

launch, short-term moorage, boat trailer parking, restrooms.

Local Parks

Chelan Chelan Ball Field Complex 
(aka ‘Stinky Fields’) 12

 � (2) Hardball/Softball Fields, (1) Softball Field with 2 batting cages, horseshoe 
pits, food concession, restroom, and a playground.

Chelan Ruth Pingrey Centennial Park 0.5  � Overlook with benches and lawn area.

Chelan Don Morse Memorial Park 40
 � 18-hole natural green grass putting course, toy rentals, snack bar, volleyball 

courts, skate park, tennis and basketball courts, playground and picnic 
shelters with electric, water, and BBQ areas.

Chelan Lakeshore Marina/RV 5
 � 100 slip with or without power, pump out station, launch, 163 full hook up sites 

for RV’s (water, electric, sewer & cable), including 22 sites with 16 x16 tent pads, 
picnic tables, dump station and ADA accessible restrooms and showers.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 32

Table 2-12: List of Parks within Chelan County Lines

Management Name Acres Amenities

Chelan Lakeside Park 10
 � 17,500 sq. ft. of beach front swim area, seasonal boat launch, volleyball & 

basketball courts, play equipment, picnic tables and ADA accessible restrooms 
and 2 hour transient boat tie up.

Cashmere Ardeta 0.06  � Small park in the city center where the Christmas tree is located.

Cashmere Cottage Avenue Park 0.67  � Climbing structure, swings, and picnic tables.

Cashmere Natatorium Park N/A  � Outdoor heated swimming pool.

Cashmere Railroad Park 0.02  � Picnic tables, trees, grass.

Cashmere Cashmere Riverside Park 13.8

 � Two restroom buildings, skate park, bmx pump track, horseshoe pits, 
children’s play area, multiple use soccer/ softball fields, access ramp for 
rafters, parking, and picnic area. A paved walking trail runs the full length of 
the park and along the dike from Aplets Way to N. Douglas Street.

Cashmere River Street Park 0.49  � Small neighborhood park where the old City Hall was located.

Cashmere Simpson Park 4.27  � Small playground, and picnic tables, softball field.

Dryden Dryden School Memorial Park N/A  � --

Entiat Columbia Breaks Fire 
Interpretive Center 17.5  � Amphitheater, Forest Service lookouts, and ½ mile trail.

Entiat Kiwanis Park 4.5  � Kiwanis 2 baseball/softball fields.

Entiat Rainbow Gardens 0.5  � Beautification area.

Wenatchee River 
Institute Barn Beach Reserve 5.36

 � Natural area, Upper Valley Museum, trails, interpretive signs, Wenatchee River 
Institute and Red Barn educational buildings.

Leavenworth Blackbird Island 14.12  � Trails, interpretive signs, groomed ski trail.

Leavenworth Enchantment Park 39.46

 � Two softball fields, a junior baseball field (one field doubles as a youth soccer 
field), playground, BBQ, trails with interpretive signs, boat put-in, groomed ski 
trails, skate park. Restrooms and changing rooms are adjacent to the fields, 
along with parking that accommodates a large number of vehicles and up to 3 
busses, including ADA parking.

Leavenworth Front Street Park 1.75
 � Lawns, shade trees, restrooms, gazebo, interpretive kiosk, and alpine gardens 

downtown.

Leavenworth Fish Hatchery N/A
 � Visitor’s center, interpretive signs, picnic area, trails, and tours of fish 

hatchery infrastructure, as well as groomed cross-country ski trails in winter 
managed by the Leavenworth Winter Sports Club.

Leavenworth Frankie's Wayside 0.5  � Benches, shade trees, water fountain.

Leavenworth Leavenworth Golf Course 102.5  � 18-hole public golf course, groomed ski trails.

Leavenworth Lions Club Park 1.76  � Picnic tables, picnic shelter, adjoining City Hall and City pool.

Leavenworth Pump Track N/A  � Public bathrooms, asphalt pump track located in Enchantment Park.

Leavenworth Leavenworth Ski Hill N/A
 � 2 rope tows and tube hill, lodge with public bathrooms, and groomed cross- 

county ski trails managed by Leavenworth Winter Sports Club, as well as a new 
mountain bike trail system built by Evergreen Mountain Bike Alliance.

Leavenworth Trout Unlimited Park (City 
Boat Launch) 1.6  � Boat launch, parking, trails.

Manson Park and Rec 
District Manson Bay Park/Marina 6

 � Lake overview, swimming, picnic area, restrooms, 3 boat docks, 32-slip 
marina, winter-only boat launch, boat sanitary pump-out facility.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 33

Table 2-12: List of Parks within Chelan County Lines

Management Name Acres Amenities

Manson Park and Rec 
District Old Mill Park 20

 � 4-lane boat launch, short-term moorage, picnic area, restrooms, marine dump 
station, boat trailer parking.

Manson Park and Rec 
District Old Swim Hole N/A  � Grassy area, designated swim area.

Manson Park and Rec 
District Singleton Park 10

 � Softball and baseball fields, restrooms, gazebo, soccer field, basketball courts 
and universally accessible paths and parking, and playground improvements 
are planned for the near future.

Manson Park and Rec 
District Wapato Lake 6

 � The site has a forty-site campground for tent camping and small RVs, 2 boat 
docks, a gazebo, restroom facilities and a boat ramp that has previously been 
maintained by the State Department of Wildlife.

Manson Park and Rec 
District Willow Point Park 1.85  � Designated swim area, playground, 3 barbecues and 5 picnic tables.

Peshastin Kiwanis Park N/A  � --

Wenatchee Centennial Park 0.4  � Picnic area, bandshell, restrooms.

Wenatchee Chase Park 0.5  � Picnic area & playground.

Wenatchee Hale Park 4.97
 � Dog off-leash recreation area, parking, picnic area. Restrooms, skate park, 

play area and picnic shelter area slated for 2018.

Wenatchee Lincoln Park 18.8  � Ball fields, bandshell, restrooms, picnic shelter, & Rotary playground.

Wenatchee Morris Park N/A
 � Located on Cherry Street in Wenatchee, Morris Little League Park features 

four fully-functional baseball diamonds complete with scoreboards, outfield 
fences, dugouts, grandstands and a concession stand.

Wenatchee Okanogan Street Property 0.29  � Undeveloped park space.

Wenatchee Pennsylvania Park 1  � Play equipment, wading pool, ball field, restrooms.

Wenatchee Pioneer Park 7.7  � City pool, restrooms, picnic area, play equipment and skateboard park.

Wenatchee Rainbow Park 2  � Gateway into the City of Wenatchee.

Wenatchee Rotary Park 8
 � Group and individual picnic shelters, restrooms, basketball court, disk golf 

course, horseshoe pits, splash pad, flag plaza, parking, restrooms, paved loop 
trail.

Wenatchee Saddle Rock Gateway 4.83
 � Parking, electric vehicle charging station, restrooms, picnic shelter, 

amphitheater, interpretive areas, bike racks, and drinking fountain.

Wenatchee Skyline Drive Overlook 0.3  � Parking area with views of the Wenatchee Valley.

Wenatchee Washington Park 4.1  � Picnic shelter, restrooms, wading pool, play equipment.

Wenatchee School 
District Wenatchi Park 8.1  � Soccer, baseball & softball fields, open space.

Chelan-Douglas Land 
Trust, Chelan PUD, City 

of Wenatchee, and 
private landowners

Wenatchee Foothills Trails 1,928

 � Natural space with pristine shrub/steppe habitat and many miles of non-
motorized trails in the Sage Hills Trails, Horse Lake Reserve, Castle Rock 
Natural Area, Saddle Rock Trails, Jacobson Preserve, Foothills North, and 
Dry Gulch areas. Several parking areas have restrooms, picnic areas, and 
interpretive signs. These areas provide superb, easily accessible outdoor 
recreation opportunities in the Wenatchee Valley.

Wenatchee Wenatchee Ice Arena 1  � Replaced in 2008 with semi-public events center.

Wenatchee School 
District Lewis and Clark Park 11  � --



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 34

Table 2-12: List of Parks within Chelan County Lines

Management Name Acres Amenities

Wenatchee School 
District Recreation Park 9.11  � --

Wenatchee School 
District Triangle Park 0.18  � --

Wenatchee School 
District Western Hills Park 5  � Soccer and softball fields, play equipment.

State Agency

Washington State 
Parks & Recreation 

Commission
25-Mile Creek 235

 � An inland waters camping park on the forested south shore of Lake Chelan. 
The park separates the mountains from the lake and is surrounded by 
spectacular scenery. With its modern marina, the park affords visitors 
excellent boating access to the upper reaches of Lake Chelan.

WA Fish and Wildlife Chelan Butte Wildlife Area 8,200
 � Mostly dry grassland with some shrubs and riparian zones where most of the 

wildlife is. There is small game habitat favorable for upland birds including 
chukar, quail, grouse, and mourning doves.

WA Fish and Wildlife Swakane and Entiat Wildlife 
Areas 19,200

 � Mostly valley bottom near the Columbia River with numerous steep drainages 
that have perennial and intermittent streams. Major habitat types include sage 
steppe, ponderosa pine and several riparian draws.

Washington State 
Parks & Recreation 

Commission
Lake Chelan State Park 127

 � Lake Chelan State Park is a camping park on the forested south shore of Lake 
Chelan. The park has 6,000 feet of shoreline, lakeside views and expansive 
lawns for strolling and playing.

Washington State 
Parks & Recreation 

Commission
Lake Wenatchee State Park 489

 � A camping park with 12,623 feet of waterfront on glacier-fed Lake Wenatchee 
and the Wenatchee River. The park is bisected by the Wenatchee River, 
creating two distinct areas – South Park, with areas for camping, swimming 
and horseback riding; and North Park, in a less developed, forested section, a 
quarter-mile walk from the lake. The park is a natural wildlife area, and visitors 
should be aware of the presence of bears and other natural dangers.

Washington State 
Parks & Recreation 

Commission
Wenatchee Confluence State 
Park 200

 � Park consists of two distinct areas. Facilities include camping, picnic shelters, 
boat launch and docking, swim area, multi-purpose play area, tennis courts, 
restrooms, and a trail system including interpretive signs and parking at 
various points.

Washington State 
Parks & Recreation 

Commission
Peshastin Pinnacles State 
Park 34

 � A popular location for rock climbing, one and a half miles of trails and 
sandstone slabs and spires. Spires are as high as 200 feet.

Washington State 
Parks & Recreation 

Commission
Squilchuck State Park 288

 � A camping park covered with forests of fir and ponderosa pine. The park 
sits at an elevation of 4,000 feet. A new system of mountain bike trails built 
and maintained by Evergreen Mountain Bike Alliance adds to the recreation 
opportunities of the park.

Federal Land

National Park Service North Cascades National 
Park 504,6543

 � The North Cascades National Park Complex encompasses North Cascades 
National Park, Ross Lake and Lake Chelan National Recreation Areas. 

National Park Service Lake Chelan National 
Recreation Area 61,949

 � The Lake Chelan National Recreation Area surrounds the northern end of Lake 
Chelan and the community of Stehekin. There are no roads to the Recreation 
Area and access is limited to foot, boat, or plane. Some of the possible 
experiences include accessible trails to world class mountaineering, hiking, 
camping, wildlife viewing, relaxation, boating and fishing.

Forest Service Mt. Baker Snoqualmie 
National Forest 1,724,229

 � Includes parts of Alpine Lakes, Henry M Jackson, and Glacier Peak Wilderness 
Areas.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 35

There are many recreation opportunities on Federal lands throughout the County. The County includes portions 
of North Cascades National Park and all of Lake Chelan National Recreation Area, which the National Park Service 
manages. There are also several developed campgrounds on National Park Service lands in the vicinity of Stehekin, 
including:

� High Bridge
� Tumwater
� Shady

� Purple Point
� Weaver Point
� Harlequin

Okanogan-Wenatchee National Forest manages four federally protected Wilderness Areas that have boundaries 
within the County:

� Glacier Peak
� Henry M Jackson

� Alpine Lakes
� Lake Chelan-Sawtooth Wilderness Areas.

Table 2-12: List of Parks within Chelan County Lines

Management Name Acres Amenities

Forest Service Wenatchee-Okanogan 
National Forest 3,800,000

 � 3000 miles of recreation trails of varying length and difficulty on the forest. 
There are low-elevation trails in the sage-covered fringes of the forest, trails 
in the timbered zones, and high country trails traversing alpine terrain. Almost 
half of these trails are within designated Wilderness. Several “barrier-free” 
trails have also been developed adjacent to recreation sites to provide access 
to those with physical challenges.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 36

There are multiple recreational opportunities available on US Forest Service property, including hiking, mountain 
biking, and motorized trails, drive-in and remote campgrounds, and day use and trailhead facilities. There are 
approximately 70 developed Forest Service Campgrounds in Chelan County.

� Antilon Lake
� Grouse Mtn. Springs
� Handy Springs
� Junior Point
� Cascade Creek
� South Navarre
� Windy Camp
� Fields Point Landing
� Fish Lake
� Domke Lake
� Domke Falls
� Stuart
� Hatchery
� Moore Point
� Prince Creek
� Bygone Byways
� Big Creek
� Corral Creek
� Deer Point
� Fox Creek
� Lake Creek
� Silver Falls
� North Fork

� Spruce Grove
� Three Creek
� Cottonwood
� Pine Flat
� Graham Harbor Creek
� Lucerne
� Mitchell Creek
� Refrigerator Harbor
� Safety Harbor
� Eight Mile
� Bridge Creek
� Johnny Creek
� Ida Creek
� Chatter Creek
� Rock Island
� Black Pine Creek
� Tumwater
� Alder Creek
� Goose Creek
� Meadow Creek
� Deep Creek
� Deer Camp
� Grouse Creek

� Finner Creek
� Riverbend
� Chiwawa Horse Camp
� Schafer Creek
� Nineteen Mile
� Alpine Meadows
� Phelps Creek
� Nason Creek
� Glacier View
� Soda Springs
� Little Wenatchee Ford
� Theseus Creek
� Napeequa Crossing
� Grasshopper Meadows
� White River Falls
� Fish Pond
� Rock Creek
� Atkinson Flats
� Graham Harbor
� Grouse Mountain
� Holden
� Ramona Park
� Swiftwater

The School 
Districts in 
Chelan County 
provide many 
sports fields and 
indoor venues, 
but public 
access is limited 
by school 
activities. 
Facilities 
often are most 
often not 
available to the 
general public, 
but only at 
predetermined 
times.

Table 2-13: Chelan County School Districts

School District Number of Schools Students

Cashmere School District 222 3 Schools 1,556

Lake Chelan School District 129 5 Schools 1,459

Entiat School District 127 2 Schools 341

Cascade School District 228 6 Schools 1,336

Manson School District 19 2 Schools 671

Stehekin School District 1 School 8

Wenatchee School District 246 16 Schools 7,931

Private Schools 7 Schools 838



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 37

Planning Context
Existing Plans Working Together 
In the formation of this plan, any plans that have already been completed or are underway that are relevant to Chelan 
County’s parks, recreation, and open space goals have been reviewed and incorporated as necessary. The plans that 
have been reviewed include:

Table 2-14: Existing Plans Relevant to the PROS Plan Update

S
ou

rc
e

Ye
ar

Ty
pe

Ti
tl

e

G
eo

gr
ap

hi
c 

S
co

pe

D
iv

er
si

ty

N
ot

es

Chelan County 
Natural 

Resources 
Dept

2017
Planning 

Document 
Informed by 
Public Input

Parks and 
Recreation 
Element of 

Chelan County 
Comprehensive 

Plan

Chelan County --

Top community priorities from public 
engagement focused on collaboration to 
achieve common recreation goals: 

 � better collaboration between land/recreation 
resource managers; 

 � increase in organized recreation advocacy 
groups.

Goals identified in the plan focus on more 
passive role for County in encouraging 
the addition/improvement of open space 
and recreation opportunities, as well as 
increased coordination for efficiency/
effectiveness of operations, but also to 
ensure alignment with other important 
community factors (housing supply, critical 
habitat, water resources, etc.)

Trust for 
Public Land 2018

Vision 
Document 

Informed by 
Public Input

Lake Chelan 
Community Open 

Space Vision

Southernmost 
portion of 

Lake Chelan 
Basin, 

including 
Chelan and 

Manson.

76% White/
non-Hispanic 
respondents; 
19% Hispanic 
respondents

Top community priorities from survey were 

 � protecting Lake Chelan water quality and 
 � increasing public access to Lake Chelan. 

The final list of top open space goals:

 �  Protect water quality; 
 � Promote community health through increasing 

access to trails, parks, and the lake; 
 � Protect wildlife habitat; 
 � Preserve agricultural land.

Chelan County 
Natural 

Resource 
Dept.

2019
Planning 

Document 
Informed by 
Public Input

Stemilt-Squilchuck 
Recreation Plan

Stemilt-
Squilchuck 

Basin, 
southern 

Chelan County

---

Detailed plan for improvements, 
development of new amenities or 
infrastructure, and longterm management 
objectives for both summer and winter 
recreation. Implementation Committee 
coordinated by CCNRD.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 38

Table 2-14: Existing Plans Relevant to the PROS Plan Update
S

ou
rc

e

Ye
ar

Ty
pe

Ti
tl

e

G
eo

gr
ap

hi
c 

S
co

pe

D
iv

er
si

ty

N
ot

es

Chelan County 
Natural 

Resource 
Dept.

2019

Management 
Plan 

Informed 
by Advisory 
Committee

Nason Ridge 
Community Forest 
Management Plan

Lake 
Wenatchee 

Area
--

Wholistic management plan that includes 
recreation management. Rec mgmt goals 
generally focus on continuing to provide 
access to the property, and improving 
recreation opportunities that are compatible 
with other management objectives, with 
special focus on children, underserved 
communities, and providing for hunting 
opportunities. Continued management will 
be guided by a Stewardship Committee

Chelan PUD 2020 Feasibility 
Study

Wenatchee River 
Whitewater Park 
Feasibility Study

Wenatchee 
River Corridor N/A

Out of 6 sites evaluated, feasibility study 
identified 1) Dryden Dam and 2) historic mill 
dam in Leavenworth as two most suitable 
sites for whitewater park development 
based on the following criteria: adequate 
hydraulic drop, existing park infrastructure, 
adj. public property ownership, geomorphic 
suitability, constructability, river reach 
degraded, habitat improvement potential, 
safety improvement potential.

Upper Valley 
Parks & 

Recreation 
Service Area

2021 Report of 
Survey Data Needs Assessment

Upper Valley 
PRSA (similar 
to Cascade, 

SD, minus 
Plain/Lake 

Wenatchee)

Respondents: 
85% 

Caucasian, 
8% Latino

Improvements with most support from 
respondents: 

 � trail connecting Leavenworth/Peshastin; 
 � year-round covered aquatic center;
 � trail connecting Leavenworth/Wenatchee; 
 �  more multi-use hiking/biking trails

Chelan County 
Natural 

Resource 
Dept.

2021
Planning 

Document 
Informed by 
Public Input

Chelan County 
Multimodal 

Pathways Plan
Chelan County

Respondents: 
81% 

Caucasian, 
3% Latino

Identified priority corridors connecting 
communities or major destinations: 

 � Leavenworth to Lake Wenatchee area
 � Shore of Lake Chelan
 � Chelan to Manson
 � Wenatchee to Leavenworth
 � South of Wenatchee
 � Wenatchee to Chelan
 � East Leavenworth & Icicle Roads.

Our Valley Our 
Future 2022

Planning 
Document 

Informed by 
Public Input

Action Plan
Chelan and 

Douglas 
Counties

Survey/input: 
26% Latino

Community input placed high value 
on open space, public access and 
recreation resources. Relevant action 
items identified: Active Transportation 
with connected pathways; Recreational 
stewardship; Funding for trails & open 
space; Frontcountry trails expansion; Trails 
& Access Infrastructure; Whitewater Park 
on the Wenatchee. Keep in mind: demand 
for local and regional recreation & sports 
centers.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 39

Table 2-14: Existing Plans Relevant to the PROS Plan Update
S

ou
rc

e

Ye
ar

Ty
pe

Ti
tl

e

G
eo

gr
ap

hi
c 

S
co

pe

D
iv

er
si

ty

N
ot

es

Chelan County 
Public Works 2022 Inventory 

Data
Recreation Access 

Inventory and 
Assessment

Chelan County N/A

Inventory & analysis of XX distinct 
recreation access sites that are currently 
within a Chelan County road ROW. Many 
sites are used for river access, and some for 
authorized or unauthorized trail systems. 
Overall, recommendations focus on creating 
parking space & trailheads in a formalized 
way on land adjacent to current ROW 
informal use.

TREAD 2023 Survey Data
Central Washington 
Outdoor Recreation 

Survey

Chelan and 
Douglas 
Counties

N/A

Survey respondents (nearly all residents) 
identify Wenatchee Mtns in southeastern 
Chelan County as the place they visit most 
for outdoor recreation, followed by Alpine 
Lakes area, Lake Wenatchee Area, and 
the ‘Canyons’ area north of Hwy 2 between 
Leavenworth and Wenatchee. Top desires: 
More trails, but especially paved pathways 
between communities; maintenance of 
existing trails & access infrastructure; 
improved access points (trailheads).

Chelan 
Douglas 

Regional Port 
Authority

2023
Survey & 
Inventory 

Data

Regional Sports 
Complex Feasibility 

Study: Phase 1 
Findings

Chelan and 
Douglas 
Counties

N/A

Study indicates population growth trends, 
including relatively significant 25% increase 
in population under 40 by 2050. Survey 
& inventory focused on sports fields and 
aquatic resources, but several mentions of 
pathways as a method of safe transportation 
to reach a regional sports facility.

Visit Chelan 
County 2023 Survey Data Destination Master

Plan Chelan County
Respondents: 

86.9% 
Caucasian

Resident survey key findings: 1) Visitor 
impact at high use locations is a significant 
issue, and visitor impact management 
strategies are needed; 2) Outdoor recreation 
is a primary driver of visitation, and there 
is a need to strengthen collaboration 
among the outdoor industry and tourism; 
3) Mobility, access, and connectivity are 
significant challenges across the county,
and transportation solutions are needed; 
4) Sports facilities and infrastructure is 
needed to support recreation and events.

City of 
Wenatchee 2023

Planning 
Document 

Informed by 
Public Input

Parks, Recreation, 
and Open Space 

(PROS) Plan

Greater City 
of Wenatchee 

area
--

Public survey section notes that top two 
outstanding capital projects from previous 
planning that had highest community 
support were:

 � constructing more trails and
 �  acquiring more property for open space and 

habitat.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 40

Table 2-14: Existing Plans Relevant to the PROS Plan Update

S
ou

rc
e

Ye
ar

Ty
pe

Ti
tl

e

G
eo

gr
ap

hi
c 

S
co

pe

D
iv

er
si

ty

N
ot

es

City of 
Cashmere 2023

Planning 
Document 

Informed by 
Public Input

Cashmere Parks, 
Recreation, and 

Open Space (PROS) 
Plan

City of 
Cashmere

Respondents: 
10% self-
identified 

Latino

Focus on urban parks and trails, but 
specifically calls out trail connections 
in unincorporated county, as well as the 
formation of a City trails committee to 
achieve this goal. Goal 4. Connectivity: 
Provide an interconnected network of multi-
use

trails, walkways, and bikeways connecting 
city and regional

destinations.

Trust for 
Public Land

2016 & 
present

Vision 
Document 

Informed by 
Public Input

Upper Wenatchee 
Community Lands 

Plan

Upper 
Wenatchee 

River 
Watershed: 
Cashmere/
Mission Cr, 

Blewett/
Peshastin, 

Leavenworth, 
Chumstick

--

2016 plan was developed to anticipate 
long-range planning for the 38,000 acres of 
private commercial timberlands owned in 
Chelan County. This plan is currently being 
updated as the landowner has changed, 
and real timelines associated with a phased 
option to acquire the lands are in play.

Chelan County 
Natural 

Resource 
Dept./ City of 
Leavenworth

2023-
2024

Planning 
Document 

Informed by 
Public Input

River Recreation 
Management Plan 
for the Wenatchee 
River & Icicle Creek 
Near Leavenworth

Portion of 
Wenatchee 
River near 

Leavenworth, 
incl. lower 
reaches of 

Icicle Creek

--

Report based on user data and public input 
collected in 2020 and 2023. Managing 
heavily used river access sites in the 
study area is challenging due to multiple 
jurisdictions and inadequate amenities 
(incl. parking). Report suggests staffing 
specifically for managing river recreation, 
and also establishing a user registration 
fee system to fund staffing. Chelan County 
needs to consider how to build this into 
current public engagement process.

City of 
Wenatchee

2023 & 
present

Planning 
Document

Reimagine 
Wenatchee Master 

Plan

Portion of 
Downtown 
Wenatchee 
& Colombia 
Waterfront

Unknown as 
of yet

Only discovery phase has been completed, 
results linked. Process may affect 
management of and scope of recreation 
resources provided along Loop Trail/
waterfront in downtown area.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Inventory & Assessment 41

Assessment
Assessing the quantity and quality of parks and 
recreation facilities in Chelan County is crucial to 
establishing standards for the level of service. These 
standards should reflect the community’s fundamental 
recreation needs and expectations. Currently, Chelan 
County lacks officially adopted standards for parks and 
recreation at the county level. However, various planning 
entities have different facility requirements and have 
implemented distinct levels of service.

Cities and service providers have outlined urban levels of 
service within municipal boundaries and adjacent urban 
growth areas, with a notable emphasis on the Wenatchee 

planning area. Although there are numerous recreational 
opportunities within the county, there is a lack of metrics 
to gauge the quality and distribution of these parks and 
recreation options.

Public engagement is a crucial component in this 
planning process. Other regional planning initiatives 
suggest that the county should prioritize parks and 
recreation efforts toward enhancing connectivity to 
existing opportunities and creating more access points 
to the County’s diverse range of outdoor recreation 
options. Additionally, fostering partnerships and 
coordinating regional-scale planning activities, which 
often span multiple jurisdictions, is essential. Access and 
linkages to federally owned lands are critical components 
of the overall parks and recreation system in the county.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Public Involvement 42

Public Involvement



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Public Involvement 43

Introduction & Purpose
The successful development and execution of a parks, 
recreation, and open space system hinge on attentive 
listening to the community’s needs, demands, and 
ideas. Recognizing that decisions are made by those 
who actively participate, it was crucial to implement 
an effective public involvement process that offered 
multiple opportunities for Chelan County citizens and 
visitors to shape the process and outcomes. These 
opportunities included:

With grant programs and decision-makers emphasizing 
an understanding of a community’s desired quality of life, 
public involvement becomes the most vital and time-
consuming aspect of the planning process. This phase 
allows for a thorough assessment of the community’s 
aspirations. The public and users can share their ideas, 
goals, and objectives for the parks system, ensuring 
alignment with the community’s needs.

The public involvement approach aimed to maximize 
an equitable distribution of needs, wishes, and ideas 
from the public. To reflect Chelan County’s community 
and its shared interests, needs, and priorities, specific 
engagement goals were identified.

Engagement Goals
1. Ensure equitable distribution
of survey results throughout the
whole County.
Gathering survey results from every populated area 
within the county is crucial for understanding its 
diverse communities. This approach ensures a holistic 
understanding of the community’s needs, enabling 
tailored strategies for resource allocation, interventions, 
and community engagement.

1. Comprehensive Recreation Element Survey

2. Public Open Houses

3. Commission Public Hearing (Upcoming)



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Public Involvement 44

2. Create multiple virtual and analog engagement opportunities.
Alongside online surveys, in-person workshops in North and South County provided additional opportunities for 
participation. Various organizations and agencies also actively shared surveys with their members, ensuring a diverse 
range of voices.

3. Monitor & adapt the survey as results are dynamically captured
Real-time collection of survey results requires cross-referencing with the community demographic profile from the 
latest US census data. This ensures accurate representation and allows adjustments to target missing or under-
represented demographics.

4. Provide a broad range of constituents with the ability to supply both
broad and specific action-oriented feedback.
The planning process facilitated the expression of broad needs and desires and identified site-specific desires within 
parks or recreation destinations. It aimed to offer tangible ways for the public to make a meaningful impact, drawing 
participants representing the true profile of all residents and recreational users within the County.

#1 Late Jan-FebOnline Recreation Element Survey

#2 Feb 7thPublic Workshop #1 (Chelan)

#3 Feb 8thPublic Workshop #2 (Wenatchee)

#4 Late MarchPublic Commission Hearing

Public Engagement 
Plan Overview
The engagement plan was organized around 
a series of both virtual and analog, in-person 
events.

Distribution
Marketing of the survey and its distribution occurred from several distinct actions. A list of stakeholders, partnering 
agencies, and other community groups was identified, and the engagement flyer and its direct link were sent. Surveys 
were distributed in both English and Spanish to the groups listed in Table 3-1 on the following page.

In addition, several social media boosts were scheduled over the month of February for both Facebook and Instagram 
and a webpage was developed on Chelan County’s website where the survey and other background information could 
be found. Metrics for the social media boosts are shown on the following pages.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Public Involvement 45

Table 3-1: Survey Distribution

Organization When?

Leavenworth Winter Sports 
Club 1/26/24

Residents Coalition of Chelan 
County 1/26/24

Wenatchee River Alliance 1/25/24

TREAD 1/25/24

Plain Valley Ski Trails 1/26/24

Evergreen Mountain Bike 
Alliance 1/26/24

Team Naturaleza 1/26/24

Chelan-Douglas Land Trust 1/26/24

WA Trails Association 1/26/24

Northwest Motorcycle 
Association 1/26/24

Backcountry Horseman 
Association, Wenatchee Valley 
Chapter

1/26/24

Lake Wenatchee Rec Club 1/26/24

Bavarian Boondockers 1/26/24

Lake Chelan Trails Alliance 1/26/24

Chelan PUD 1/26/24

Wenatchee Chamber 1/28/24

Leavenworth Chamber 1/28/24

Chelan Chamber 1/28/24

Visit Chelan County 1/26/24

CAFE 2/2/24

NCW Equity Alliance 1/29/24

Wenatchee Valley College 1/29/24

State Parks 2/2/24

USFS 2/2/24

City of Wenatchee 1/29/24

City of Chelan 1/29/24

City of Cashmere 1/29/24

City of Entiat 1/26/24

City of Leavenworth 1/29/24

NCESD/School Districts 1/28/24

BLM 2/2/24

WDFW 2/2/24

Manson Parks and Recreation 1/29/24

Thriving Together 1/26/24

Indigenous Roots & 
Reparations Foundation 2/2/24

NCW Libraries 2/2/24

Link Transit 2/2/24

Brave Warrior Project 2/2/24

Our Valley Our Future 1/30/24

Wenatchee Valley Ridge 
Runners ATV Club 2/16/24

Lake Chelan Snowmobile Club 2/16/24

Lake Chelan Off Road Club 2/16/24

Wenatchee Row & Paddle Club 2/17/24



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Public Involvement 46

Chelan County Boost Analytics- February 2024
February 2nd Boosts
Facebook - English
Good distribution of ages outside of very young. 12 shares! That’s a lot and undoubtedly helped these numbers.

Figure 3.1: February 2nd Facebook Boost Analytics - English

Facebook - Spanish
Reached about the same number of people but had significantly less link clicks. Demographics skewed more towards 
middle age. 

Figure 3.2: February 2nd Facebook Boost Analytics - Spanish



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Public Involvement 47

Instagram - English
Skewed much younger, link click number is great but not phenomenal. Would like to see link clicks over time. 

Instagram - English
Reached mostly the very young, about the same number as the English post but less than half clicked it. Wondering if 
its because most people that saw it didn’t speak Spanish. 

Figure 3.3: February 2nd Instagram Boost Analytics - English

Figure 3.4: February 2nd Instagram Boost Analytics - Spanish



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Public Involvement 48

February 26th Boosts
Facebook - English
This was for half the time as the last one, but $20 more in cost for half the number of clicks. 

Facebook - Spanish
This performed about the same as the last FB Spanish post that ran for half the time. 

Figure 3.5: February 26nd Facebook Boost Analytics - English

Figure 3.6: February 26nd Instagram Boost Analytics - Spanish



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Public Involvement 49

Instagram - English
40 less link clicks on the same reach compared to the last one. 

Instagram - Spanish
This actually reached more people and generated about the same number of clicks as the last one. Both heavily skew 
younger. 

Figure 3.7: February 26nd Instagram Boost Analytics - English

Figure 3.8: February 26nd Instagram Boost Analytics - Spanish



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Public Involvement 50

Recreation 
Element Survey
The first engagement touchpoint as 
developed in Alchemer, a software 
platform that provides survey 
and feedback solutions. Formerly 
known as SurveyGizmo, Alchemer 
offers a range of tools for creating 
and conducting online surveys, 
and to gather valuable feedback 
from target audiences about their 
use patterns, desires & needs, to 
better understand the needs and 
parks usage of the Chelan County 
community. This survey was open 
to all residents and to, visitors and 
people in neighboring communities.

The survey was designed to capture 
the following questions:

1. How often do you visit these 
facilities owned and managed by
Chelan County?

2. Which outdoor recreation sites in 
Chelan County have you accessed
before?

3. What barriers do you experience 
accessing open space and 
recreation opportunities in Chelan
County?

4. Which public access and 
recreation resources are most 
important to add in Chelan County?
These options are based on a 
variety of recent past surveys and 
planning documents in our region.

5. It requires funding to improve amenities, provide better access to outdoor recreation, and support the operations and
maintenances of these amenities. How would you be willing to fund improvements?

6. Would you support increased maintenance, access, and amenities in currently unmanaged areas, even if that meant
increased oversight and use guidelines?

Lastly, some very generic and optional demographic questions were asked so that the survey results could be tested 
against the established County demographic profile for consistency of representation, including where people lived, 
connections to the County, age, household size, ethnic or racial group, gender, languages, spoken, and the ability to 
signup for continued results.

Survey Key Takeaways
Together, the number of respondents who took the survey or participated in the in-person workshops resulted in over 
1,300 surveys and almost 50 in-person attendees. 

Figure 3.10: Chelan County's Public Engagement Plan Flyer



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Public Involvement 51

0 200 400 600 800 1,000 1,200 1,400

1,156 responses

160 responses

87.8%

87.8%

12.2%

12.2%

Complete

Total

PartialSt
at

us
 o

f S
ur

ve
y

Number of Respondents

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%
80%

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

4th of J
uly Mountain

Alpine Lakes Wilderness Area

Burch Mountain Public Lands

Camping on USFS Lands

Chelan Butte
 State Wildlife

 Area

Chelan Falls & Powerhouse Parks

Confluence State Park/Horan Natural Area

Deer M
ountain

Derby Canyon Public Lands

Eagle/Van Creek Public Lands

Echo Ridge Recreatio
n Area

Elephant’s Head/Chelan Butte

Freund Canyon Public Lands

Gallagher F
lat W

ildlife
 Area

Glacier P
eak Wilderness Area

Hay Canyon Public Lands

Lake Chelan State Park

Lake Chelan-Sawtooth Wilderness Area

Lake Wenatchee State Park

Leavenworth Ski H
ill

Mountain Home Road Area

Nahahum Canyon Public Lands

Number 2
 Canyon Public Lands

Okanogan-Wenatchee Natio
nal Forest

Peshastin
 Pinnacles State Park

PUD Parks in Wenatchee

Rocky Reach Dam Park

Sauer M
ountain

Squilchuck State Park

Swakane Wildlife
 Area

Twenty-Five Mile Creek State Park

Wenatchee Foothills

Wenatchee River C
ounty Park

Other A
ccess Points and Trailheads

48
5 

re
sp

on
se

s 80
6 

re
sp

on
se

s

46
1 r

es
po

ns
es

87
6 

re
sp

on
se

s

49
9 

re
sp

on
se

s

48
9 

re
sp

on
se

s 81
5 

re
sp

on
se

s

47
9 

re
sp

on
se

s

55
8 

re
sp

on
se

s

52
4 

re
sp

on
se

s

59
4 

re
sp

on
se

s

44
7 

re
sp

on
se

s

89
1 r

es
po

ns
es

57
8 

re
sp

on
se

s 93
3 

re
sp

on
se

s

71
9 

re
sp

on
se

s

53
3 

re
sp

on
se

s

54
4 

re
sp

on
se

s

62
9 

re
sp

on
se

s 96
7 

re
sp

on
se

s

67
5 

re
sp

on
se

s

87
4 

re
sp

on
se

s

69
1 r

es
po

ns
es

42
7 

re
sp

on
se

s

44
8 

re
sp

on
se

s

63
6 

re
sp

on
se

s

83
5 

re
sp

on
se

s

57
3 

re
sp

on
se

s

67
3 

re
sp

on
se

s

63
0 

re
sp

on
se

s

37
6 

re
sp

on
se

s

26
1 r

es
po

ns
es

11
2 

re
sp

on
se

s

10
7 

re
sp

on
se

s

1. How often do you visit these facilities owned and managed by Chelan
County?

2. Which outdoor recreation sites in Chelan County have you accessed
before? Select all that apply.

Facility Daily Weekly Monthly Yearly Never Responses

Chelan County Fairgrounds & Expo 
Center

2 responses 
(0.2%)

5 responses 
(0.4%)

25 responses 
(2.0%)

643 responses 
(50.2%)

605 responses 
(47.3%) 1,280 total

Nason Ridge Community Forest 1 response 
(0.1%)

38 responses 
(3.0%)

182 responses 
(14.3%)

523 responses 
(41.0%)

533 responses 
(41.7%) 1,277 total

Ohme Gardens 3 responses 
(0.2%)

13 responses 
(1.0%)

40 responses 
(3.1%)

619 responses 
(48.6%)

598 responses 
(47.0%) 1,273 total

Stemilt-Squilchuck Community 
Forest

16 responses 
(1.3%)

71 responses 
(5.6%)

254 responses 
(19.9%)

440 responses 
(34.4%)

497 responses 
(38.9%) 1,278

TOTALS 5,108 responses 
(100.0%)



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Public Involvement 52

3. What barriers do you experience accessing open space and
recreation opportunities in Chelan County? Select all that apply.

0% 10% 20%
Percentage

30% 40% 50%

Amenities Too Far Away / Not Available
Poor Accessibility / ADA Issues
Lack of Transportation Options
Limited Parking Areas Available

Insufficient Pedestrian Connectivity to Parks
Lack of Restrooms

Lack of Day-Use Facilities
Safety Concerns

Poor Maintenance / Cleanliness
Sites Too Crowded

Lack of Information on How to Access the Site(s)
Not Enough Experiences / Sites

Too Busy / Not a Priority
Registration / Use Feeds

Other - Write-In

122 responses

474 responses

449 responses

349 responses

349 responses
129 responses

237 responses

152 responses

151 responses

229 responses

203 responses

74 responses

108 responses

85 responses

122 responses

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to 
add in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent 
past surveys and planning documents in our region.

Item Overall 
Rank

Rank 
Distribution Score No. of 

Ranking

Developed/managed access points and trailheads for public lands 1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan County 2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting communities in Chelan County 3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open lands/space 5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use amenities 8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on  the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized recreation 13 3,741 623

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Public Involvement 53

5. It requires funding to improve amenities, provide better access to
outdoor recreation, and support the operations and maintenances
of these amenities. How would you be willing to fund improvements?
Select all that apply.

6. Would you support increased
maintenance, access, and
amenities in currently unmanaged
areas, even if that meant
increased oversight and use
guidelines?

7. Where do you live?

0% 10% 20% 30% 40%
Percentage

50% 60% 70% 80%

Taxation

User Fees

Voluntary Charitable 
Donations to Foundations 

or Non-Profits

Not Willing to 
Financially Support

615 responses

869 responses

789 responses

83 responses

Yes No

74%

26%

Wenatchee Outside of Chelan County

Leavenworth Chelan Cashmere

Lake Wenatchee / Plain (incl. Coles Corner, Merritt, Winton)

Manson Peshastin All Others - Write-In

25%

21%

7%

17%

10%

7%

6%

4%
3%



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Public Involvement 54

9. What is your age range?8. What best describes your
connection to Chelan County?

10. What is your household size,
including yourself?

13-19 20-29 30-39
40-49 50-59 60-69 70 or Older

1%
6%

20%

22%

20%
21%

11%

Full-Time Residents Part-time / Seasonal Visitor
I Frequently Visit Chelan County
I Work in Chelan County, but Live Outside the County

Other - Write-In

75%

8%

12%

2%

2%

I Live Alone 2 People 3 People
4 or More People

11%

47%17%

25%



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Public Involvement 55

11. What ethnic or racial group do you identify with? Select all that apply.

12. How do you identify your
gender?

13. What languages are most often
spoken in your home? Select all
that apply.

0% 20% 40%
Percentage

60% 80% 100%

African American (Black)

Asian or Asian American

Caucasian (White)

Hispanic or Latino

Native American

Pacific Islander

Prefer Not to Say

Prefer to Identify Myself in
Another Way - Write-In

Other - Write-In

9 responses

3 responses

36 responses

13 responses

26 responses

22 responses

15 responses

913 responses

142 responses

1%

2%

Female Male Non-Binary
Prefer to Identify Myself in Another Way - Write-In

42%

55%

English Spanish

Language

Percentage

Other Language
- Write-In

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%
1,127

responses

38
responses 15

responses



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Demand & Needs Analysis 56

Demand & Needs 
Analysis



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Demand & Needs Analysis 57

Introduction & Purpose
The survey highlights various barriers and concerns 
faced by respondents in Chelan County related to outdoor 
activities and recreational access. One recurring theme 
is the state of road conditions, with mentions of poor 
maintenance, rough roads, and closures impacting 
accessibility to trailheads and recreation areas.

Safety concerns are raised, particularly regarding 
wildfire prevention and homeless camps. There’s also 
a desire for improved fire-wise prevention measures 
and increased safety in areas like Hay Canyon, where 
homeless camps and shooting activities are reported.

Recreational enthusiasts express frustration over 
limitations on ATV and motorcycle use and the need for 
better infrastructure, such as boat ramps and improved 
access to rivers. Some respondents indicate a fear of 
going alone, emphasizing the importance of safety and 
the need for knowledgeable companions.

Additional issues include inadequate trail signage, 
concerns about inappropriate behavior in parking 
areas, such as break-ins and unsanitary conditions, and 
frustrations with excessive government regulation and 
fees.

The feedback suggests a need for better road 
maintenance, enhanced safety measures, increased 
access to recreational areas, and improved 
communication about available amenities. Additionally, 
addressing issues related to homelessness and ensuring 
proper regulation enforcement are identified as crucial 
steps toward creating a more enjoyable and secure 
outdoor experience for the community.

As outlined in survey responses, the public’s demands 
for Chelan County’s parks and recreation system are 
multifaceted and reflect a diverse set of priorities.

Trends for Parks and 
Recreation
A review of national and regional recreation trends offers 
another strategic avenue for identifying potential future 
park needs. These insights can be evaluated alongside 
survey findings and relevant plans. A summary of national 
trends, state trends, and emerging issues and needs 
are highlighted below and warrant consideration as the 
County’s specific needs are addressed.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Demand & Needs Analysis 58

National Trends 
Pickleball and Padel
Pickleball has continued to grow as one of the most 
popular recreational activities nationwide and shows no 
signs of slowing down. The 2023 APP Tour’s Pickleball 
Participation Report shared that there are 36.5 million 
pickleball players in the United States. The sport is 
easy to learn, accessible to most ages and ability levels, 
and doesn’t’ require expensive equipment. On average, 
130 new pickleball locations are created each month. 
Currently, several municipalities in Chelan County have 
either added pickleball courts or are in the process of 
adding more capacity to meed the demand.

Similar to pickleball, Padel is a racket sport of Mexican 
origin gaining popularity across the United States. This 
game is a cross between tennis, racquetball, and squash. 
It’s currently estimated that Padel has over 100,000 
players in the United States, and the number of courts 
has more than doubled in the last two years, expecting to 
grow to 30,000 courts by 2030.

Dog Parks
A surge in pet ownership ensued in the wake of the 
2020 global pandemic. Larger dog parks have become 
destination facilities that both residents and visitors 
seek out and are willing to travel to. Furthermore, 
according to the Trust for Public Land, the development 
of dog parks has grown by over 40% in the past 15 years. 
NRPA data show that 68% of agencies have a dog park 
and 60% of households own a dog.

Trails 
Trails, both within parks and connecting parks, schools, 
shops, and destinations are generally the top demand 
seen across the country.  Providing trail connections 
between these popular destinations enhances a 
community’s walkability and encourages active 
lifestyles.

Playground Trends
There are specific trends that people are seeking in new 
playgrounds as they are built or updated. These include:

 � Inclusivity: Providing facilities for individuals of all 
ability levels to enjoy

 � Eco-Conscious: Using recycled materials and eco-
friendly construction and maintenance

 � Incorporating Adventure & Nature Play: Using natural 
playground elements for sensory experiences and a 
deeper connection with nature

 � Reflecting Unique Community Identity: Infusing local 
culture, art, history, and other features to encourage 
community pride and spirit

Electrification
As electric technology develops, maintenance 
equipment, vehicles, mowers, and other equipment 
used in parks and recreation are transitioning from gas 
powered resources to electric assets. This transition 
provides long-term cost savings, environmental 
benefits, and decreased noise. Additionally, parks and 
trailheads should consider the addition of EV charging 
stations in parking lots, as the number of EV cars on the 
road continues to grow. Washington State has led this 
transition to electric vehicles, with over 18% of new cars 
sold in the first half of 2023 being fully electric or plug-in 
hybrids according to the Seattle Times. Vehicle chargers 
located at park facilities enable drivers to engage with 
park facilities while waiting for a full charge. 

Climate Resiliency
The concept of electrification pertains to growing needs 
for climate resilience and the ways in which future park 
implementations can accommodate the increase of 
hotter days and nights, as well as the increase of storm 
and wildfire impacts. Parks create a great opportunity 
to address these goals through smart design and 
engineering. Parks and open space can mitigate urban 
heat islands, absorb flood and stormwater, and create 
fire breaks through green space and linear trail corridors. 
Climate change, stormwater/flooding implementations, 
and tree canopy coverage should be considered in future 
park renovations to increase resiliency.  



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Demand & Needs Analysis 59

Youth Sports 
Over the past decade, there has been a sharp decline 
in the number of children and youth playing team 
sports. Parks and Recreation providers try to balance 
both organized and unorganized sports and recreation 
programs across their facilities. The benefits of 
youth sports are well-documented, providing healthy 
activities, teamwork skills, and community cohesion.  
However, competitive youth sports leagues are 
becoming increasingly available, charging high fees for 
participation. Most recreation providers partner with 
third-party entities to deliver youth sports leagues. 92% 
of providers offering youth sports opportunities require 
a registration fee. Municipalities face the challenges of a 
shortage of volunteer coaches, competition with travel 
sports leagues, lack of sufficient field/court space, and 
lack of interest from youth.

Washington State Trends
To meet the requirements of the Land and Water 
Conservation Fund (LWCF) Act, Washington State 
develops a statewide comprehensive outdoor recreation 
plan (SCORP) that includes participation rates in 
outdoor recreation activities, issues related to future 
demand, and recommendations for meeting recreation 
and conservation needs. This plan was reviewed to 
understand statewide trends and participation data. 
These statewide trends are important, given the larger 
tourist base that recreates in Chelan County.

The top 20 outdoor recreation activities in Washington 
State are shown in Table 4.1, including participation rates 
and the number of responses for each activity.

 Table 4-1: 2023 Top 20 Outdoor Recreation Activites in Washington State*

Activit y Activit y Categor y % N

Walking or Using Mobility Device on Roads or Sidewalks Trail- and Road-Based Activites 91% 5,390

Walking or Day Hiking or Using Mobility Device on Trails Trail- and Road-Based Activites 90% 5,331

Wildlife and Nature Viewing Nature- and Culture-Based Activities 85% 4,812

Scenic Driving (Sightseeing) Nature- and Culture-Based Activities 85% 4,767

Hanging Out Leisure Activities in Parks 70% 3,679

Picnic, Barbecue, or Cookout Leisure Activities in Parks 68% 3,639

Community Garden or Farmers’ Market Leisure Activities in Parks 66% 3,556

Visting Outdoor Cultural or Historical Facility** Nature- and Culture-Based Activities 62% 3,413

Swimming in Natural Settings Water-Based Activities 61% 3,374

Paddle Sports (Whitewater, Canoes, Kayaks, Stand-Up 
Paddle Boards, Rowing) Water-Based Activities 52% 2,910

Outdoor Concert or Special Event Leisure Activities in Parks 49% 2,602

Gathering or Collecting Anything in Nature Nature- and Culture-Based Activities 49% 2,635

Tent Camping (Developed Campground) Camping Activities 44% 2,510

Backpacking Trail- and Road-Based Activites 42% 2,349

Playground Leisure Activities in Parks 41% 2,148

Tent Camping (Undeveloped Area) Camping Activities 41% 2,247

Road Cycling Trail- and Road-Based Activites 40% 2,240

Yard Games (Beanbag Toss, Horseshoes, etc.) Leisure Activities in Parksa 38% 1,966

Volunteering (Restoration Projects, Citizen Science, etc.) Nature- and Culture-Based Activities 37% 1,984

Jogging or Running on Roads or Sidewalks Trail- and Road-Based Activites 35% 1,944

Snowshoeing Snow and Ice Activities 35% 1,821
* By Participation Rate - % of Population, N = Number of Responses 
** Includes Attending Cultural Events  Source: 2023 WA RCO SCORP, page 41.

https://wa-rco-scorp-2023-wa-rco.hub.arcgis.com/documents/23587e5259f84294b040cf20b0838271/explore


Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Demand & Needs Analysis 60

Recreation Element 
Priorities
1. Improved Access to Recreational 
Areas & Trailheads
One of the predominant concerns voiced by respondents 
is the need for improved road conditions. Many 
highlighted the importance of regular maintenance 
for access roads leading to recreational areas and 
trailheads. The community seeks better infrastructure 
to ensure safe and reliable access to outdoor spaces.

2. Wildfire Prevention and Safety 
Measures
The threat of wildfires emerged as a critical issue 
impacting health and safety. Survey participants 
expressed a desire for more proactive fire-wise 
prevention efforts, including the clearing of ladder fuels 
and strategic forest thinning to mitigate risks and protect 
recreational areas.

3. Enhanced Safety and Security
Safety concerns were raised regarding homeless camps, 
shooting activities, and general security. Respondents 
called for measures to address these issues, creating a 
safer environment for individuals engaging in outdoor 
activities.

4. Improved Access and 
Infrastructure
Access to rivers, boat ramps, and the creation of a 
whitewater park were cited as priorities. The community 
emphasized the need for infrastructure development 
to facilitate recreational pursuits, including additional 
trails for off-highway vehicles and motorcycles, as well as 
improved signage for existing trails.

5. Reduced Barriers and Fees
Frustration with fees, permits, and perceived 
bureaucratic hurdles was evident in responses. The 
public demands reduced barriers to access, reasonable 
fees, and less regulatory interference to make outdoor 
recreation more accessible to all.

6. Community Engagement and 
Education
Respondents expressed a desire for increased 
community engagement, education programs, and 
awareness initiatives. There is a need for better 
communication about existing amenities, rules, and 
regulations to ensure that the public is well-informed and 
can fully enjoy available resources.

7. Environmental Conservation
Environmental concerns, such as the impact of 
motorized vehicles on trails and degradation of road and 
trail conditions, were highlighted. The community calls 
for improved trail maintenance, signage, and education 
to preserve the natural surroundings.

8. Diverse Recreational 
Opportunities
The survey indicates a desire for a diverse range of 
recreational options. This includes the development of 
new trails, access for different vehicles, and facilities 
such as outdoor pools. There is interest in expanding 
opportunities for activities like dirt biking, skiing, and 
snowshoeing. These opportunities also need to respond 
to known local and creational demand trends, e.g., desire 
for more pickleball courts.

9. Improved Communication
Clear communication about available amenities, 
guidelines, and rules emerged as a key theme. The 
community emphasized the importance of effective 
promotion of recreational opportunities and transparent 
communication from relevant authorities.

10. Addressing Homelessness 
Issues
Concerns about homelessness affecting certain areas 
were raised. Respondents called for measures to address 
this issue, ensuring that public spaces remain safe and 
accessible for everyone.

In summary, the public demands a well-maintained, 
safe, and accessible parks and recreation system 
that accommodates diverse interests. Addressing 
infrastructure improvements, safety concerns, 
community engagement, and environmental 
conservation are pivotal for meeting these demands.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Goals & Objectives 61

Goals & Objectives



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Goals & Objectives 62

“Chelan County provides a mix of parks, recreation, and 
open space that complements community character, 
creates diverse opportunities for residents and 
visitors, and preserves ecological functions.”

Introduction & Purpose

The goals and policies have undergone revisions 
based on valuable input gathered during the two public 
workshops, ensuring that the comprehensive plan aligns 
with the public’s suggestions and reflects the most 
current thoughts on parks and recreation facilities and 
services. Recognizing the significant impact of the 
tourist industry on various areas of Chelan County, the 
importance of recreational opportunities and the region’s 
natural beauty is underscored, benefiting both residents 
and visitors.

Open space is acknowledged as a crucial element in the 
natural environment, supporting diverse systems and 
contributing to aesthetic, recreational, and economic 
resources within the rural landscape. Chelan County’s 

open space includes minimally developed land, 
encompassing critical areas, parks, wildlife corridors, 
historic sites, resource lands, and conservation areas. 
Identifying and mapping specific sites within this open 
space system will be an ongoing process, responding to 
public interest and the need to preserve the integrity of 
overall open space corridors.

Community safety assumes a paramount role in 
the urban, wildland-urban interface, and natural 
undeveloped areas within community recreation 
planning. The plan recognizes the growing prominence 
of outdoor recreation and integrates natural ecosystems 
into development strategies. The heightened awareness 
of natural hazards, particularly wildfires, is emphasized 
in the early planning stages. Acknowledging wildfire as 
a significant natural hazard in Chelan County, the plan 
advocates for resilient recreation planning strategies 
that consider the role of fire in the local landscape, 
aiming to reduce community risks associated with 
wildfires.

The following list of goals and associated policies should 
guide recreation and parks management and future 
development.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Goals & Objectives 63

Revised Goals & Objectives Based  
on Survey Results

Goal 1
Enhance Open Space and 
Public Land Use for Community 
Enjoyment.
OBJECTIVES:

 � 1.1:Implement innovative techniques (e.g., public benefit 
rating, open space tax) to preserve open space while 
respecting private ownership rights.

 � 1.2: Promote compatible multiple uses of public lands 
supporting open space and recreation.

 � 1.3: Foster access to public lands, coordinating with 
private landowners, while respecting property rights.

 � 1.4: Identify areas prone to natural hazards, including 
wildfire, for possible acquisition to act as buffers and 
recreational spaces.

 � 1.5: Map open space corridors, emphasizing recreation, 
wildlife habitat, and critical connections.

 � 1.6: Review open space corridors for acquisition 
opportunities through donation or purchase.

Goal 2 
Develop and Maintain Recreational 
Facilities to Meet Community 
Needs.
OBJECTIVES:

 � 2.1: Evaluate new park facilities using the Recreation and 
Conservation Funding Board format, addressing diverse 
recreational needs.

 � 2.2: Design parks for year-round operation, supporting 
four-season recreation and cultural events.

 � 2.3: Encourage public access to shorelines while 
protecting critical areas and property rights.

 � 2.4: Establish coordinated park planning between Chelan 
County and public/private entities for effective land use.

 � 2.5: Ensure publicly owned tourist/recreation 
destinations provide sanitary facilities with maintenance 
plans.

 � 2.6: Provide a range of open space and recreation 
facilities for diverse age, social, and economic groups.

 � 2.7: Facilitate environmental and natural hazard 
education in parks and recreation development.

Goal 3
Consider Impacts on Surrounding 
Areas and Preserve Natural 
Features.
OBJECTIVES

 � 3.1: Ensure compatibility with adjacent land uses and 
infrastructure adequacy in developing recreational 
facilities.

 � 3.2: Preserve environmentally sensitive or culturally 
valuable areas in park and recreation development.

 � 3.3: Design facilities to capitalize on natural features, 
environmentally sensitive areas, and historic/cultural 
resources.

 � 3.4: Prioritize aesthetic quality in the design and 
development of recreational opportunities and facilities.

 � 3.5 : Incorporate natural hazard mitigation in the design 
and location of parks and recreation facilities.

 � 3.6: Employ ecosystem-based fire management 
practices where appropriate.

Goal 4
Improve Recreation Service 
Efficiency through Coordination.
OBJECTIVES

 � 4.1: Support various park and recreation plans from 
different entities, fostering collaboration and input.

 � 4.2: Encourage ongoing public input in recreational plans 
and coordinate with other agencies.

 � 4.3: Collaborate with public and private entities to gauge 
recreation demand and needed facilities.

 



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Goals & Objectives 64

Goal 5
Foster Active Communities 
Through Park and Trail 
Development.
OBJECTIVES
� 5.1: Strive for access to parks, open space, trails,

and/or other recreation resources with a 10-min walk
of Chelan County populated areas.

� 5.2: Provide for safe and convenient active
transportation routes for all to enjoy recreation and
open space resources.

Goal 6
Provide and Maintain Public 
Facilities and Services.
OBJECTIVES
� 6.1: Implement a maintenance plan for the ongoing

upkeep of public parks and recreation facilities.
� 6.2: Support the expansion of facilities to meet

community needs.
� 6.3: Uphold adopted levels of service standards in

cities, urban growth areas, and established park
districts.

� 6.4: Ensure sustainable funding for operations &
maintenance of parks and recreation resources.

Noted Differences 
from the Previous 
Recreation Element
The revised set of goals and objectives demonstrates 
a nuanced and refined approach, integrating 
valuable insights from the survey results. The key 
differentiators include a heightened emphasis on the 
impact of wildfire and natural hazards on recreational 
planning, highlighting the need for resilience 
strategies. The global COVID-19 pandemic also 
created another notable shift in overall awareness of 
open spaces, outdoor recreation and trails as highly 
important resources, both as economic drivers of 
tourism and quality of life for residents. This has led 
to a significant increase in use of these open space 
and recreation resources. There is a strengthened 
commitment to public input and collaboration, 
fostering partnerships with entities such as 
recreation districts, municipalities, public service 
entities such as the utility district, port and transit 
authorities, and various community initiatives.

Environmental education and natural hazard 
mitigation take center stage, with an explicit call for 
ecosystem-based fire management practices. The 
goals underscore the importance of providing diverse 
and inclusive recreation options, catering to various 
age, social, and economic groups. Considerations for 
seasonal and year-round facilities are introduced, 
promoting four-season recreation and cultural 
events.

Enhanced coordination efforts extend to 
collaborating with different agencies and 
implementing coordinated park planning processes 
to maximize the use of publicly-owned land. 
Stewardship and preservation receive heightened 
attention, focusing on mitigating impacts on 
surrounding land uses and emphasizing the utilization 
of natural features, environmentally sensitive areas, 
and historic and cultural resources.

In summary, these refinements reflect a 
comprehensive and community-centric approach, 
addressing specific concerns raised by the public and 
aligning the goals with the nuanced preferences and 
priorities outlined in the survey responses.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Capital Improvement Program 65

Capital 
Improvement 
Program



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Capital Improvement Program 66

Introduction & Purpose
The Parks, Recreation, Open Space, and Trails Plan for 
Chelan County serves as a foundational framework, 
significantly influencing the residents’ quality of life 
through the county’s Parks & Recreation system. The 
management of these services, overseen by the county’s 
administrative staff within the department, requires 
a strategic allocation of resources from both the 
county’s and relevant districts’ budgets. These ongoing 
investments in staff, equipment, and supplies play a 
pivotal role in offering and sustaining a diverse range of 
outdoor recreation opportunities, prioritizing safety, and 
meeting public expectations.

Aligned with Chelan County’s strategic objectives 
and integrated into the Comprehensive Plan’s guiding 
principles, this plan underscores the commitment to 
fostering a safe, healthy, and accessible community, 
promoting cultural appreciation, and preserving the 
environment. It encapsulates the aspirations and desired 
quality of life for Chelan County residents.

This section reaffirms the county’s dedication to 
addressing public feedback and rectifying system 
deficiencies by outlining a comprehensive Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP). Encompassing specific 

projects and overarching recommendations, the CIP 
aims to bridge service gaps. These proposals, presented 
in tabular and detailed formats, outline planned 
enhancements and conceptual improvements slated for 
implementation over the next six years. Additionally, the 
incorporation of long-term aspirational projects reflects 
a proactive stance, ready to embrace opportunistic 
improvements contingent upon market conditions or 
funding viability.

At the core of this plan are key recommendations 
meticulously crafted to efficiently address current 
issues, anticipate future demands, maximize funding 
flexibility, and align with public preferences. It takes 
into account the full spectrum of available parks and 
recreation amenities within Chelan County.

On-Going Priorities & 
Capital Projects
Parks and recreation play a major role in Chelan County. 
Implementing this plan will take time, money and 
dedication, but the results will be a stronger parks and 
recreation system and continued support and growth of 
that system. Leadership is a vital aspect of cohesively 
implementing a parks and recreation plan.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Capital Improvement Program 67

Chelan County is the best entity to fill this leadership role. 
The parks and recreation plan identifies three key areas 
for leadership, including:

� coordinating the process at the regional scale,
� creating connectivity with existing opportunities,
� developing partnerships with other agencies and non-

governmental organizations

Focusing in on these key areas will facilitate the process 
for implementing the following projects and processes.

One theme that has become apparent during both 
planning processes was the intention to collaborate to 
achieve common recreation goals. This theme has taken 
shape in two different contexts:

1. a desire to see greater collaboration between agencies
and local government, and

2. an increase in organized recreation advocacy groups 
such as the Complete the Loop Coalition, a local volunteer
group that advocates funding and developing public trails 
in the Wenatchee Valley.

This new focus marks a shift in community involvement 
around recreation development and opens pathways 
for collaboration between the public and the agencies. 
Continued confusion about who does what was still a 
common talking point with the public with an apparent 
lack of coordination between agencies. The public sees a 
major gap in the type of collaboration needed to allow for 
trail connectivity, which is a high priority for recreation 
development in Chelan County. This plan reinforces 
that Chelan County is the best suited to lead the effort 
to coordinate the implementation of recreation plan 
goals at a regional scale and develop partnerships to 
further cooperation and create connectivity with existing 
opportunities.

Organized recreation advocacy groups, such as the 
Lake Chelan Trails Alliance, Central Washington 
Evergreen Mountain Bike Alliance, and TREAD are 
gaining momentum by engaging agencies and other 
stakeholders to promote recreation development in the 
open spaces of Chelan County. Many of these efforts 
have been met with measurable success, such as the 
agreement between Evergreen Mountain Bike Alliance 
and the US Forest Service to implement development 
of a series of mountain bike trails in the vicinity of the 
Leavenworth Ski Hill. Wenatchee Valley Trails Alliance 
(TREAD) has been an extremely active advocate for 

enlistign partners, identifying projects, and planning for 
trail development and connectivity. These groups are 
increasingly important driver in recreation development 
in Chelan County, and will be key players in implementing 
some of the recreation concepts discussed at the 
community workshops. They will also hold agencies 
and local governments accountable for collaboration 
when the rubber hits the road. As the County currently 
does not have a Parks and Recreation Department, but 
with a population very interested in recreation, these 
advocacy groups play a major role in recreation planning 
and development. This role should be recognized and 
appreciated by the County and other land management 
agencies, and the focus on collaboration that was 
highlighted at the community meetings will be crucial to 
successful recreation planning and implementation in 
Chelan County.

Parks and Recreation 
Projects Identified In 
the Previous Plan
During the previous plans’ public and stakeholder 
workshops, participants highlighted various parks and 
recreation project ideas to address community needs 
and demands. In many instances, these initiatives 
were designed to enhance or expand access to existing 
recreational facilities. Notably, the majority of the 
proposed projects were focused on developing trails.

The primary objective of the previous plan was to unite 
Chelan County's parks and recreation landscape. The 
County's role is centered on facilitating recreation by 
supporting the parks and recreation initiatives led by 
cities and other agencies responsible for these services. 
The projects outlined in the previous plan reflect this 
role, particularly emphasizing the importance of trails 
that connect different parks and recreation facilities. 
Additionally, the plan underscores the necessity of 
providing planning and feasibility services to determine 
suitable project locations.

Identified in the previous plan, several concepts, 
frameworks, and projects are still valid and can aid the 
County in its facilitation role. Examples include:



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Capital Improvement Program 68

 � Create a Formal County Parks and Recreation 
Structure and Staffing

 � Comprehensive County Pathways Plan (On-Going)
 � Shoreline Public Access Plan
 � Number 2 Canyon

• Expand and improve existing trails for hikers, bikers 
and equestrians on US Forest Service land in the Horse 
Lake Mountain area, west of Wenatchee’s Number 2 
Canyon. Potential for an additional 30+ miles of trails, road 
improvements, and trailhead facilities are currently being 
assessed.

 � Lakeside Trail

• Phases of this Chelan area trail are under construction with 
additional funding for development needed. This trail, when 
completed, will extend from Lakeside Park, along the southern 
shore of Lake Chelan, through downtown and up the north shore 
to the City limits.

 � Upper Columbia River Water Trail

• Add a series of access points and campsites facilitating one-day 
to multi-day trips on the river.

 � Lake Chelan Water Trail

• Add a series of access points and campsites facilitating one-day 
to multi-day trips on the lake.

 � Wenatchee Valley Scenic Bikeway

• Nicknamed “The Fruit Loop,” this is an effort to officially 
designate a bike route through the Wenatchee Valley from the 
Columbia River to Leavenworth.

 � New Trail Connectors

• Squilchuck to Number Two Canyon trail connector, and Number 
Two Canyon to Maiden Lane trail connector (also in the City of 
Wenatchee Comprehensive Plan).

 � Wenatchee River Water Trail

• Add a series of access points and day-use sites facilitate one-
day trips on the river.

 � Ski Hill Loop Trails

• Add the trails created by a partnership between the USFS 
and EMBA to establish additional riding opportunities in the 
Leavenworth area.

 � Nordic Ski Trails

• Add a winter non-motorized recreation area in Stemilt Basin, 
and groomed Nordic trails at Mission Ridge.

 � Riverside Trail

• Link the Peshastin Mill site (possible Peshaston Community 
Park site) to the town of Leavenworth via an abandoned railroad 
grade. The railroad property is privately owned, but some 
owners have expressed a willingness to provide easement.

 � Leavenworth National Fish Hatchery

• Support the development of the Salmon Lifecycle Landscape 
project,

 � Rattlesnake Hill Park

• Potential new bike/hike natural area with separate hiking/
mountain biking trails and lookout/viewpoint on summit

 � Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW) 
River Access

• Access improvements at Drunkards Drop, Rodeo Hole, and 
Turkey Shoot rapids

 � Dryden WA Dept. of Transportation Property

• Potential park, river access and whitewater play feature.

 � Other project identified for consideration in the 
previous plan:

• Feasibility study for a whitewater park.

• Expansion of Wenatchee Row and Paddle Club boathouse 
facilities on the Columbia River at Ninth Street in Wenatchee

• Additional sports playing fields in Cashmere

• Outdoor splash park in Cashmere

• Pedestrian bridge parallel to Icicle Bridge on Icicle Road

• Better public access/launch for boaters and tubers on the 
Icicle/Wenatchee in Leavenworth, with parking, restrooms, 
bank stabilization

• Designated foot/horse traffic (non-mountain bike) trail at 
Leavenworth Ski Hill

• Bike path along Chumstick Highway, from Leavenworth to Plain

• Year-round swimming pool and recreation center in 
Leavenworth

• Ice Rink in Leavenworth

• Year-round soccer field complex in Leavenworth

• Downtown Leavenworth to Leavenworth National Fish Hatchery 
non-motorized trail or enhanced pedestrian shoulder on Icicle 
Road or East Leavenworth

• Leavenworth to Plain non-motorized trail for biking, running, XC 
skiing

• Signage/parking for climbing access in the Icicle Canyon

• Continued expansion of mountain biking trails in Chelan County

• Indoor climbing gym in Leavenworth

• Outdoor splash park in Leavenworth



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Capital Improvement Program 69

• Safe bike travel paths on Hwy. 2 bridges between Wenatchee 
and Leavenworth

Other recreation planning efforts proposed and/or 
already occurring around Chelan County include the 
following:

 � Stemilt-Squilchuck Recreation Plan
 � The Partnership and the County, with the assistance 

of state and private funds, were able to acquire an 
additional 4,000 acres of private timberland in the basin 
for public management in 2014. This acquisition further 
demonstrated the region’s dedication to preserve water 
and wildlife. The County is currently working with the 
Partnership, public agencies, recreation community, and 
other stakeholders to address recreation which is the 
third pillar of the Vision Document. The goal is to create 
a recreation plan that will help identify and create a 
sustainable and diverse recreation strategy for the area.

 � Wenatchee Foothills Trail Plan
 � Malaga Community Park Improvements
 � New 2.5 acre park on the Malaga Alcoa Highway. 
 � Disc Golf Course
 � Manson Bay Waterfront Revitalization Project
 � Singleton Park Drainage
 � Willow Point Park
 � Number 2 Canyon Road Parking & Trailhead 

Improvements
 � Human-Powered Paddle Sports Access Point on the 

Columbia River
 � Designated Countywide Bicycle Routes
 � Expand the Upper Valley Trails Plan model to a County-

wide Bike Tourism Plan.
 � Upper Wenatchee Community Lands Exchange
 � Lake Chelan “20 Trails” Network

Developing The Capital 
Improvement Program 
The plan is designed for a full six-year lifespan with the 
intent that it will guide improvements from 2024 through 
2030 while providing a conceptual vision of additional 
aspirational improvements beyond that are focused on 
the projected growth of Chelan County. This plan is not 
a strict “script” to guide any and all park & recreation 
improvements, since the County's role has primarily 
been as a facilitor of other orgranization's efforts. Since 
funding may be diverted or not secured or public needs 
or political will may change, this plan is designed to be a 
fluid and dynamic strategic guide for the County to base 

decisions around. Unforeseen opportunities may present 
themselves that are not covered in this plan, which may 
create better service to the public.

The capital improvement projects listed are not, nor 
will they be officially prioritized over the next six years, 
although specific recommendations at the beginning 
of this section have initially placed the projects in a 
series of "tiers", which infers which projects are more 
likely to occur or already have advocates. For planning 
purposes, the timeline of implementation has been 
estimated but may be impacted by a multitude of factors, 
including likely design and permitting time, other critical 
public work projects, grant funding cycles and available 
budgets, and finally, County staff project management 
capacity. Note that this is for planning purposes only and 
is not a commitment to implementation in a particular 
year. This plan should be a living document, constantly 
updated as conditions change.

 � Tier 1 - Active: Already Underway or Currently in 
Planning

 � Tier 2 - On Deck: Possible Partner Project Awaiting 
Further Detail or Funding

 � Tier 3 - Aspirational: Beyond 2030

To reinforce this intention, the CIP project list is meant 
to address the demand and needs captured by the public 
survey and community workshops, and have been vetted 
with both County staff, Planning Commission members, 
and County Council. Actual implementation over the next 
six years will be driven by available funding, the County’s 
success in securing  grant funding or other project 
partners, as well as critical liability maintenance and 
repair improvements.

Opinion Of Probable Costs  
Included in this section is an opinion of the range of 
probable implementation costs associated with the 
improvements recommended for each potential project 
or proposed initiative. Note that these opinions are 
purposely left in a range reflecting the complexity of the 
project and are subject to change due to site conditions, 
final design, and market circumstances. 

Inflation, annual cost escalators, cost & design 
contingencies, permitting and other soft costs are not 
detailed, neither is the cost for staff time is not included 
in the cost opinions.

Cost Category:

 � $:  $0-$250,000
 � $$: $250,000 - $750K
 � $$$: $750,000+



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Capital Improvement Program 70

Updated Project & Program Improvements
The results from the public workshops and survey provide comprehensive insights into the community’s perspectives 
and preferences regarding Chelan County’s parks and recreation system. Project recommendations from participants 
include and are organized by the demand & need prioritized theme:

Table 6-1: Capital Improvement Projects & Initiatives

Project Name Project Type Facility  
Type

Cost 
Category Tier Funding  

Potential

Increased & Increased Access Points & Trailheads

Add Low elevation trails in the Upper Valley 
(Leavenworth area) to take pressure off the 
parking at Sauer mtn

Development TB, TP, ORV $$ I County, EMBA, USFS, 
Local 

Develop formal trailhead and sanctioned trail 
system for Sauer Mountain

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
TB, TP, ORV $$$ II County, EMBA, USFS, 

Local 

Develop more accessible (flat) trails throughout 
the valley

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
TB, TP, EQ, WF $$$ I County, EMBA, USFS, 

Local 

More trails and/or trailheads to access 
sage-brush steppe habitat (especially in the 
Wenatchee foothills to Cashmere area).

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
TP, TB $$$ II County, RCO, EMBA, 

USFS, Local 

Add formal trailhead in Burch Mtn Rd. area Development TP, TB $$ III County, RCO, EMBA, 
Local 

Establish formal trailhead at South end 
of Sage Hills trail system to resolve 
overcrowding and neighbor/use conflicts at 
Day Drive and 5th Street access points

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
TP, TB $$ II County, RCO, EMBA, 

Local 

Formal trailhead at lower Horse Lake Road 
area Development TP, TB, EQ $ I County, RCO, Local

Develop formal and managed access points 
and trails at heavily used informal sites. 
Implementation of access points should be 
guided by 2022 CCPW Recreation Access Site 
Assessment & Need study.  

Development TP, TB, EQ, ORV, OS $$ I Local, RCO

Formal trailhead serving multiple trails in 
Derby Canyon area

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
TP, TB $$ II County, RCO, EMBA, 

Local 

Formal trailhead and trail system in the 
Hay Canyon dispersed recreation area at 
the interface of Chelan County and Forest 
Service jurisdictions

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
TP, TB, EQ, ORV, OS $$$ III County, RCO, EMBA, 

USFS, Local 

Formal trailhead with amenities developed in 
Freund Canyon area.

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
TP, TB, EQ $$ II County, RCO, EMBA, 

USFS, Local 

Increase parking & other amenities at existing 
formal access points & trailheads

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
TP, TB, EQ $$$ I County, RCO, EMBA, 

USFS, Local 

Formal trailhead in Mountain Home Road area 
at interface of private, Chelan County, and 
Forest Service jurisdictions

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
TP, TB, EQ, OS $$ I County, RCO, EMBA, 

USFS, Local 



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Capital Improvement Program 71

Table 6-1: Capital Improvement Projects & Initiatives

Project Name Project Type Facility  
Type

Cost 
Category Tier Funding  

Potential

Increased parking & amenities at Icicle Ridge 
trailhead Development TP, TB, EQ, OS $$ County, RCO, EMBA, 

USFS, Local 

Increased parking at Snow Lakes trailhead Development TP, TB, EQ, OS $$ County, RCO, EMBA, 
USFS, Local 

Facilitate representative planning teams to 
explore and develop trailheads and access points 
in underserved communities. 

Planning/Feasibility AM $ 1 County, EMBA, TREAD, 
USFS, CDLT, TPL

Shuttle service to high-use trailheads to reduce 
parking congestion and safety concerns for 
roadway overflow parking. 

Development TP, TB, AM $$ 1 County, USFS

Increase designated active transportation routes 
to access trailheads. Development TP, TB, AM $$ 1 County, USFS, Local

Increased Access to River Recreation

More put-in / takeout sites along the Wen River. 
Implementation and management of access 
sites should be guided by 2023 River Recreation 
Management Plan for the Wenatchee River & 
Icicle Creek Near Leavenworth and 2022 CCPW 
Recreation Access Site Assessment & Need 
study. 

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
B, WF $$ 1 Local, County, WDFW, 

RCO

Icicle Bridge site access to Wenatchee River Development B, WF $$ II Local, County, WDFW, 
RCO

Beaver Valley Road access to Wenatchee 
River Development B, WF $$ II Local, County, WDFW, 

RCO

Sleepy Hollow Bridge site access to 
Wenatchee River Development B, WF $$ III Local, County, WDFW, 

RCO, WSDOT

Ensure new or enhanced access points include 
human-powered watercraft launches, including 
tubing where demand exists.

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
B, WF, AM $ I Local, County, WDFW, 

RCO, WSDOT

Facilitate partnerships for management of 
existing designated public water access sites, 
such as some owned by WDFW or CPUD. 

Infrastructure TP $ I Local, County, WDFW, 
RCO, WSDOT

Develop whitewater park on Wenatchee River, 
informed by CCNRD Wenatchee River Whitewater 
Park Feasibility Study

Development BB $$$ II Local, County, WDFW, 
RCO, WSDOT

Develop the Peshastin Community Park (if 
feasible) Planning/Feasibility NPK, TP, P, OS $$ 1 Local, County, WDFW, 

RCO, WSDOT

Upper Columbia Water Trail Planning/Feasibility WF, SB, SO $$$ III Local, County, WDFW, 
RCO, WSDOT

Lake Chelan Water Trail Planning/Feasibility WF, SB, SO $$ II Local, County, WDFW, 
RCO, WSDOT

Multi-modal Pathways Connecting Communities

Implement Chelan County Pathways planning 
process 

Planning/
Feasibility, TP, TB, EQ, ORV, OS $ I Local, County, RCO, 

WSDOT

Develop additional ADA accessible trails 
throughout the Wenatchee Valley

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
TP, TB, EQ, ORV, OS $$$ II Local, County, RCO, 

WSDOT



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Capital Improvement Program 72

Table 6-1: Capital Improvement Projects & Initiatives

Project Name Project Type Facility  
Type

Cost 
Category Tier Funding  

Potential

Develop a comprehensive inventory of all trails 
and conditions Trail/Path TP, TB, EQ, ORV, OS $$ I Local, County, RCO, 

WSDOT

Increased Access to Lake Chelan

Develop Access to and New Water Access Points 
in Manson, and the County

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
B, WF, SB, SO $$ I Local, County, RCO, 

WSDOT

Develop Lakeside Trail Development TP, TB $$$ II Local, County, RCO, 
WSDOT

Develop Northshore Trail
Planning/

Feasibility, 
Development

TP, TB $$$ III Local, County, RCO, 
WSDOT

Improved Communications & Knowledge

Updated signage for road routes, wayfinding, 
ownership, and rules.

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
AM $$ II Local, County, RCO, 

WSDOT

Develop real-time status updates for trails and 
recreation.

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
AM $$ I Local, County, RCO, 

WSDOT

Desire for clear demarcation of public and 
private lands, especially on trails

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
AM $$ II Local, County, RCO, 

WSDOT

Safety Improvements

Suggestions for more reflectors on recreational 
roads and bridge improvements for pedestrian 
safety

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
AM $ I Local, County, WSDOT

Add video monitoring at select trailheads with 
motion-sensing

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
AM $ I Local, County, WSDOT 

USFS

Improve parking capacity and/or transit/shuttle 
stops at key trailheads

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
AM $ I Local, County, WSDOT 

USFS

Economic Development

Concentrate recreation resources near visitor 
accommodations to boost the local economy. Planning/Feasibility AM $$ I Local, County, WSDOT 

USFS



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Capital Improvement Program 73

Table 6-1: Capital Improvement Projects & Initiatives

Project Name Project Type Facility  
Type

Cost 
Category Tier Funding  

Potential

Improved ORV / ATV Access & Dedicated Trails

Open County Roads between Trailheads & ORV 
Trails

Planning/
Feasibility, 

Development
TB, TP, ORV $ 1 Local, County, USFS

Complete the Motorized Trail Planning process Planning/Feasibility AM $ I County

Improved ORV / ATV Access & Dedicate Trails
Planning/

Feasibility, 
Development

TB, TP, ORV $$$ II Local, County, USFS

Mills Canyon ORV Trail (Beginner & Intermediate) - 
Could include MB Development TB, TP, ORV $$ II Local, County,  USFS

Reopen old FS roads for ORVs Development TB, TP, ORV $$ ! Local, County,  USFS

Organizational Recommendations

Identify the oversight agency and the need for 
better coordination between state and local 
governments.

Planning/Feasibility AM $ I Local, County, WDFW, 
RCO, WSDOT

Table 6-2: CIP Funding Options and Projects

Key Funding Sources Project  
Categories

L Local Funds

Trail / PathB General Obligation Bonds

U Unknown

D Donation

InfrastructureR Revenue Bonds

M Matching Grant

O Other Bonds

Planning / 
FeasibilityRCO

Recreation and Conservation Office, which encompasses 
the following programs:

 � LWCF- Land and Water Conservation Fund
 � WWRP- Washington Wildlife and Recreation Program 
 � RCFB – Recreation and Conservation Funding Board 
 � WSPC – WA State Parks Commission

The ongoing planning and 
implementation initiatives previously 
discussed in this plan should be 
formally acknowledged as part of 
the Capital Improvement Projects, 
making them eligible for sustained 
financial support. A significant 
number of the planning efforts 
outlined in this plan update are 
fundamental in establishing the 
necessary framework for bringing to 
fruition several of the community-
driven concepts. It is imperative to 
recognize and allocate continued 
financial resources to these ongoing 
endeavors to ensure their seamless 
integration and to provide the 
structural foundation required for 
the successful implementation of 
the community's proposed projects. 
The CIP lists the funding options and 
project as categorized using the data 
in Table 6-2.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Capital Improvement Program 74

The CIP also includes all facility types that apply for each project with the primary use listed first. Facility types 
specify what funding can be considered and include:

Table 6-3: CIP Facility Types

Facility Type Symbol Facility Type Symbol

Aquarium A Open Space, Greenway OS

Administration, Maintenance AM ORV Facility, Trail ORV

Boating Facilities B Picnic, Day Use P

Basketball, Other Courts BB Play Equipment PE

Botanical Garden BG Open Play Field PF

Baseball, Softball Fields BS Swimming Beach SB

Camping Facility C Swimming, Indoor Pool SI

Community, Senior Center CC Swimming, Outdoor SO

Equestrian Facility/Trail EQ Tennis Court T

Fishing Area F Trail, Bicycle TB

Football/Soccer Fields FS Trail, Pedestrian TP

Golf Course G Winter Sports Facility W

Interpretive/Nature Study I Waterfront/Beach Access WF

Neighborhood Park NPK Zoo Z



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Plan Adoption 75

Plan Adoption



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Plan Adoption 76

Adoption
In order for this plan to be formally adopted, the 
plan must be reviewed by several bodies, including 
the public, ultimately culminating with a resolution, 
ordinance, or other adoption instrument showing 
formal approval of the plan and planning process by 
the governing entity. Only after RCO approves the plan, 
may the organization may apply for grants for up to six 
calendar years from the date when the governing body 
adopted the plan.

With the depth of public and staff  involvement made 
over the execution of this planning process, the 
following review and approvals have been included:

1. County Council Ordinance
2. RCO Self-Certification Checklist
3. Non-Project SEPA Review (See Appendix D)



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Plan Adoption 77

SPACE FOR RESOLUTION



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Plan Adoption 78

SPACE FOR RESOLUTION



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Plan Adoption 79

Planning Eligibility Self-Certification Form
Use this form to certify that the need for any grant projects have been developed through an appropriate 
planning process. Provide the completed form with the subject plans and adoption documentation to RCO 
via e-mail or other means of electronic access (i.e. Web link, Box.com, etc.). 

Organization Name: 

Contact Name: 

Adoption Date of Submitted Documents: 

Seeking Eligibility for:   Recreation Grants  Conservation Grants  Both

Initial Each 
to Certify 
Completion Plan Element Certification 

Document and 
Page Number 
Location of 
Information 

1. Goals, objectives: The attached plan supports our project with
broad statements of intent (goals) and measures that describe
when these intents will be attained (objectives). Goals may
include a higher level of service.

2. Inventory: The plan includes a description of the service area’s
facilities, lands, programs, and their condition. (This may be done
in a quantitative format or in a qualitative/narrative format.)

3. Public involvement: The planning process gave the public
ample opportunity to be involved in plan development and
adoption.

4a. Demand and need analysis: In the plans: 
• An analysis defines priorities, as appropriate, for acquisition,

development, preservation, enhancement, management, etc.,
and explains why these actions are needed.

• The process used in developing the analysis assessed
community desires for parks, recreation, open space, and/or
habitat, as appropriate, in a manner appropriate for the service
area (personal observation, informal talks, formal survey(s),
workshops, etc.).

4b. Level of Service assessment (optional): An assessment of the 
criterion appropriate to your community. Possibly establish a 
higher level of service as a plan goal (above). 

5. Capital Improvement Program: The plan includes a capital
improvement/facility program that lists land acquisition,
development, and renovation projects by year of anticipated
implementation; include funding source. The program includes
any capital project submitted to the Recreation and
Conservation Funding Board for funding.

6. Adoption: The plan and process has received formal governing
body approval (that is, city/county department head, district
ranger, regional manager/supervisor, etc., as appropriate). Attach
signed resolution, letter, or other adoption instrument.

Chelan Couinty

Mike Kaputa, Director

X

64

18

45

59

59

65

75



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Plan Adoption 80

Certification Signature 

I certify that this information is true and complete to the best of my knowledge. 
 
 
Print/Type Name: ______________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
Signature (Hand Written or Digital): ___________________________________________________________________  
 
 
Title: ____________________________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
Date: _____________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

Mike Kaputa

Director, Department of Natural Resources



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 81

Appendices & Attachments
Chelan County Recreation Element Update

April 2024



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 82

Washington State Recreation & Conservation Office (RCO) has found that many terms commonly used in recreation 
planning do not have consistent definitions from one plan to another. RCO suggests, but does not require, the following 
definitions compiled from various sources, including Washington Administrative Code, Department of Natural 
Resources, and Washington State Parks & Recreation Commission used in this master parks plan include:

A - Terms & Definitions

 Table A1: Terms & Definitions

Term Definition#

Access The public’s ability to physically use land or water. 

Active Recreation Predominately human muscle powered recreational activities. 

Camping An overnight stay in a tent or other non-permanent structure.

Capital Improvement Program (CIP) A list or description of proposal capital projects.

Capital Project A project that results in redevelopment of an existing property, acquisition of new property, or a 
new built facility with a budget that excess $10,000.00

Consumptive Recreation that physically consumes resources; examples include berry picking, shellfish 
harvest, hunting, fishing.

Development A development project is construction or work resulting in new elements, including but not 
limited to structures, facilities, and/or materials to enhance outdoor recreation resources.

Dispersed Recreation that is scattered or spread across the landscape and not concentrated at a specific 
site. Examples include trail uses, camping, walking, cycling, and jogging. 

Impact (Low, Medium, High) The effect that recreational uses have on resources including but not limited to soils, water, 
species, habitat, sites, and facilities.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 83

 Table A1: Terms & Definitions

Term Definition#

Improve Expanding an existing site or facility to serve more uses or more types of use.

Level of Service Measure of the current status of a park and recreation system as a whole based on either 
quantitative or qualitative characteristics. 

Maintain To maintain existing areas and facilities through repairs and upkeep for the benefit of outdoor 
recreationists.

Multiple-use Use by more than one type of recreation on the same facility.

Non-consumptive Resource recreation that depends on, but does not consume, resources; for example, 
photographing wildlife. 

Park

Land or an area set aside for a special purpose, but particularly for leisure or recreation. 

• Totlot/Mini-Park/Pocket Park – a small local park or civic space accessible to the general 
public without the capacity for large outdoor recreation activities like field sports and often 
associated with playground equipment for toddlers and young children.

• Neighborhood Park – a local-scale park with a service area of a reasonable walking 
distance, typically ½ mile, but up to 1 mile. 

• Community Park – a community-scale park facility has a service area typically of 1-5 miles 
that includes the city limits of a town or city. 

• Regional Park – a larger park facility intended to serve populations and uses from multiple 
jurisdictions. 

• State Park – a park facility owned and managed by the State of Washington. 

• Marine Park – a state or regional park facility intended to serve populations spanning 
multiple jurisdictions with primary access via watercraft . 

• Day-use Park – any kind of park facility that does not allow overnight uses such as camping. 

• Seasonal Parks – any kind of parks intended for use in specific seasons.

Passive Activities usually conducted in place and requiring minimal physical exertion such as picnicking, 
watching a sports event, sun bathing, or relaxing.

Qualitative An adjective relating to the quality of something interpreted by its intrinsic non-numerical 
characteristics other than some quantity or measured value.

Quantitative Relating to, measuring, or measured by the quantity of something obtained using a numerical 
measurement process.

Recreation Activities of a voluntary and leisure time Nature that aid in promoting entertainment, pleasure, 
play, relaxation, or instruction.

Renovate (Renovation)
The activities intended to improve an existing site or structure in order to increase its useful 
service life beyond original expectations or functions. This does not include maintenance 
activities to maintain the facility for its originally expected useful life. 

Restoration Bringing a site back to its historic function as part of a natural ecosystem or improving the 
ecological functionality of a site.

Shared Use Use by more than one type of recreation on the same facility. 

Trail

According to the Washington State Trails Plan (RCO, 2013): 

“…a path, route, way, right-of-way, or corridor posted, signed, or designated as open for travel 
or passage by the general public but not normally designated as open for the transportation of 
commercial goods or services by motorized vehicles.” 

A trail is a recreational facility that also can serve as a non-motorized route for transportation.



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 84

There are six basic park and greenspace facility types typically utilized by municipalities: 

� Pocket Parks / Mini-Parks / Tot Lots
� Neighborhood Parks
� Community Parks 
� Natural Areas & Greenspaces 
� Trails, Bikeways & Paths
� Special Facilities 

B - Standards & Guidelines

POCKET PARKS / MINI-PARKS / 
TOT LOTS 

frontages to improve visual access and community 
awareness of the sites. 

Generally, developed neighborhood parks typically 
include amenities such as pedestrian paths, picnic 
tables, benches, play equipment, a multi-use open 
field for youth soccer and baseball, sport courts or 
multi-purpose paved areas, landscaping and irrigation. 
Restrooms are not provided due to high construction and 
maintenance costs. Parking is also not usually provided; 
however, on-street, ADA accessible parking stall(s) may 
be included. 

Neighborhood park development may proceed in phases.

Pocket parks are very small and serve a limited radius (up 
to ¼-mile) from the site; they provide passive and play-
oriented recreational opportunities. Examples of pocket 
parks can include a tot lot with play equipment such as 
a climber, slide or swings; a viewpoint; or waterfront 
access areas such as at street ends. 

A small urban plaza or civic recognition project may 
also be considered a pocket park. Parking is not often 
provided at pocket parks, although lighting may be used 
for security and safety. 

 NEIGHBORHOOD PARKS 

Neighborhood parks are generally considered the basic 
unit of traditional park systems. They are small park 
areas designed for unstructured play and limited active 
and passive recreation. They are generally 3-5 acres 
in size, depending on a variety of factors including 
neighborhood need, physical location and opportunity, 
and should meet a minimum size of 2 acre in size when 
possible. 

Neighborhood parks are intended to serve residential 
areas within short walking distance (up to ½-mile radius) 
of the park and should be geographically distributed 
throughout the community. Access is mostly pedestrian, 
and park sites should be located so that persons living 
within the service area will not have to cross a major 
arterial street or other significant natural or man-made 
barrier, such as ravines and railroad tracks, to get to the 
site.

Additionally, these parks should be located along road 

COMMUNITY PARKS 

Community parks are larger sites developed for 
organized play, contain a wider array of facilities and, 
as a result, appeal to a more diverse group of users. 
Community parks are generally 20 to 50 acres in size, 
meet a minimum size of 20 acres when possible and 
serve residents within a 1-mile radius of the site. 

In areas without neighborhood parks, community parks 
can also serve as local neighborhood parks. In general, 
community park facilities are designed for organized or 
intensive recreational activities and sports, although 
passive components such as pathways, picnic areas and 
natural areas are highly encouraged and complementary 
to active use facilities. 

Since community parks serve a larger area and offer 
more facilities than neighborhood parks, parking and 
restroom facilities are provided. Community parks 
may also incorporate community facilities, such as 
community centers, senior centers or aquatic facilities. 



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 85

NATURAL AREAS & GREENSPACES 

NATURAL AREAS 

Natural areas are those which are preserved to maintain 
the natural character of the site and are managed to 
protect valuable ecological systems, such as riparian 
corridors and wetlands, and to preserve native habitat 
and biodiversity. In managing for their ecological 
value, these natural areas may contain a diversity of 
native vegetation that provides fish and wildlife habitat 
and embodies the beauty and character of the local 
landscape. Low-impact activities, such as walking, nature 
observation, and fishing are allowed, where appropriate, 
and horseback riding is also permitted on certain sites. 

GREENSPACES 

Greenspaces are passive-use open spaces and turf areas 
without developed amenities or structured functions.  

TRAILS & BIKEWAYS 

Trails are non-motorized transportation networks 
separated from roads. Trails can be developed to 
accommodate multiple uses or shared uses, such as 
pedestrians, in line skaters, bicyclists, and equestrians. 
Trail alignments aim to emphasize a strong relationship 
with the natural environment and may not provide 
the most direct route from a practical transportation 
viewpoint.

Bikeways are different than trails in that their 
principal focus is on safe and efficient non-motorized 
transportation. Bikeways serve distinctly different user 
groups than trail users. Typical bikeway user groups 
would include bicycle commuters, fitness enthusiasts 
and competitive athletes. Their emphasis is on speed, 
which can create conflicts with recreation-type trails and 
their respective user groups. 

For shared-use trails, it is important that the alignment 
and cross sections be designed with flexibility to 
accommodate higher speeds, passing zones and 
greater widths. Surfaces will vary with intended use and 
environmental considerations. Additionally, parking, 
consistent signage (wayfinding, access, use hierarchy) 
and interpretive markers or panels should be provided as 
appropriate.  

SPECIAL FACILITIES 

Special facilities include single-purpose recreational 
areas such as skateparks and display gardens, along with 
community centers, aquatic centers and public plazas 
in or near the downtown core. Additionally, publicly-
accessible sport fields and play areas of public schools 
are classified as special facilities; while they often serve 
as proxies to public parks, school sites have restricted 
daytime access and offer limited recreational use 
during non-school hours. No standards are proposed 
concerning special facilities, since facility size is a 
function of the specific use.  



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 86

C - Public Survey Report

Report for 2024 Chelan County

Comprehensive Plan - Recreation Element

Survey

Completion Rate: 87.8%

 Complete 1,156

 Partial 160

Totals: 1,316

Response Counts

1



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 87

 Daily Weekly Monthly Yearly Never Responses

Chelan County Fairgrounds & Expo

Center

Count

Row %

2

0.2%

5

0.4%

25

2.0%

643

50.2%

605

47.3%

1,280

Nason Ridge Community Forest

Count

Row %

1

0.1%

38

3.0%

182

14.3%

523

41.0%

533

41.7%

1,277

Ohme Gardens

Count

Row %

3

0.2%

13

1.0%

40

3.1%

619

48.6%

598

47.0%

1,273

Stemilt-Squilchuck Community

Forest

Count

Row %

16

1.3%

71

5.6%

254

19.9%

440

34.4%

497

38.9%

1,278

Totals 5108

100.0%

1. How often do you visit these facilities owned and managed by Chelan

County?

2



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 88

2. Which outdoor recreation sites in Chelan County have you accessed

before? Select all that apply.

P
e

rc
e

n
t

4th
 o

f J
uly

M
ounta

in B
urc

h

M
ounta

in

Public

La
nds

C
hel

an

B
utt

e

Sta
te

W
ild

lif
e

A
re

a
C
onflu

en
ce

Sta
te

 P
ar

k

/ H
ora

n

N
at

ura
l

A
re

a

D
er

by

C
an

yo
n

Public

La
nds

Ech
o

R
id

ge

R
ec

re
at

io
n

A
re

a
Fre

und

C
an

yo
n

Public

La
nds

G
la

ci
er

Pea
k

W
ild

er
nes

s

A
re

a

La
ke

C
hel

an

Sta
te

 P
ar

k
La

ke

W
en

at
ch

ee

Sta
te

 P
ar

k
M

ounta
in

H
om

e

R
oad

 a
re

a
N

um
ber

 2

C
an

yo
n

Public

La
ndsPes

has
tin

Pin
nac

le
s

Sta
te

 P
ar

kR
ock

y

R
ea

ch

D
am

 P
ar

k
Squilc

huck

Sta
te

 P
ar

k

Tw
en

ty
-

Fiv
e 

M
ile

C
re

ek

Sta
te

 P
ar

kW
en

at
ch

ee

R
iv

er

C
ounty

Par
k

0

20

40

60

80

Value Percent Responses

4th of July Mountain

Alpine Lakes Wilderness Area

Burch Mountain Public Lands

Camping on USFS Lands

Chelan Butte State Wildlife Area

Chelan Falls & Powerhouse Parks

Confluence State Park / Horan Natural Area

Deer Mountain

Derby Canyon Public Lands

37.5% 485

62.3% 806

35.7% 461

67.7% 876

38.6% 499

37.8% 489

63.0% 815

8.7% 112

37.0% 479

3



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 89

Eagle/Van Creek Public Lands

Echo Ridge Recreation Area

Elephant's Head/Chelan Butte

Freund Canyon Public Lands

Gallagher Flat Wildlife Area

Glacier Peak Wilderness Area

Hay Canyon Public Lands

Lake Chelan State Park

Lake Chelan-Sawtooth Wilderness Area

Lake Wenatchee State Park

Leavenworth Ski Hill

Mountain Home Road area

Nahahum Canyon Public Lands

Number 2 Canyon Public Lands

Okanogan-Wenatchee National Forest

Peshastin Pinnacles State Park

PUD Parks in Wenatchee (Kirby Billingsley Hydro Park,

Walla Walla Point Park)

Value Percent Responses

29.1% 376

43.2% 558

20.2% 261

40.5% 524

8.3% 107

45.9% 594

34.6% 447

68.9% 891

44.7% 578

72.2% 933

55.6% 719

41.2% 533

42.1% 544

48.6% 629

74.8% 967

52.2% 675

67.6% 874

4



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 90

Rocky Reach Dam Park

Sauer Mountain

Squilchuck State Park

Swakane Wildlife Area

Twenty-Five Mile Creek State Park

Wenatchee Foothills (Sage Hills, Saddlerock, etc.)

Wenatchee River County Park

Other Unmaintained Access Points and Unincorporated

Trailheads

Value Percent Responses

53.4% 691

33.0% 427

48.7% 630

34.6% 448

49.2% 636

64.6% 835

44.3% 573

52.0% 673

5



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 91

3. What barriers do you experience accessing open space and recreation

opportunities in Chelan County? Select all that apply.

P
e

rc
e

n
t

A
m

en
iti

es

to
o fa

r

aw
ay

 / 
not

av
ai

la
ble

Poor

ac
ce

ss
ib

ili
ty

/ A
D

A

is
su

es
La

ck
 o

f

tr
an

sp
ort

at
io

n

optio
nsLi
m

ite
d

par
ki

ng

ar
ea

s

av
ai

la
bleIn

su
ffi

ci
en

t

ped
es

tr
ia

n

co
nnec

tiv
ity

to
 p

ar
ks

La
ck

 o
f

re
st

ro
om

s
La

ck
 o

f

day
-u

se

fa
ci
lit

ie
sS
af

et
y

co
nce

rn
s Poor

m
ai

nte
nan

ce /

cl
ea

nlin
es

sSite
s 

ar
e

to
o

cr
ow

dedLa
ck

 o
f

in
fo

rm
at

io
n

on h
ow

 to

ac
ce

ss

th
e 

si
te

(s
)

N
ot

en
ough

ex
per

ie
nce

s

/ s
ite

sToo b
usy

 /

not a

prio
rit

y

R
eg

is
tr
at

io
n

/ u
se

 fe
es

O
th

er
 -

W
rit

e 
In

0

10

20

30

40

50

6



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 92

Value Percent Responses

Amenities too far away / not available

Poor accessibility / ADA issues

Lack of transportation options

Limited parking areas available

Insufficient pedestrian connectivity to parks

Lack of restrooms

Lack of day-use facilities

Safety concerns

Poor maintenance / cleanliness

Sites are too crowded

Lack of information on how to access the site(s)

Not enough experiences / sites

Too busy / not a priority

Registration / use fees

Other - Write In

10.9% 122

6.6% 74

7.6% 85

42.5% 474

13.5% 151

20.5% 229

9.7% 108

10.9% 122

18.2% 203

40.3% 449

31.3% 349

11.6% 129

12.9% 144

21.3% 237

13.6% 152

Other - Write In Count

Road conditions 2

Totals 147

7



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 93

No barriers (should be an option) 1

A desperate lack of fire wise prevention contributes to wildfires which impacts health and safety,

causing inhibited recreational opportunities during prime activity months. Please prioritize

clearing ladder fuels and forest thinning.

1

Afraid to go by myself. New to the area.want to go with someone knowledgeable to be safe 1

Atv, motorcycle limited use 1

Bad road conditions 1

Better put-in takeout sites along Wenatchee River. Take-out at park not good and over used.

Take out dam and put a whitewater park.

1

Boat ramp below rocky reach is old, metal pops tires, rough, limited parking 1

Closed gates 1

Closed to motorized use 1

Commercial users of some of these lands dominate the space 1

Connecting Motorcycle Use 1

Creepy vans or vehicles that look like they are being lives in, are in the parking lot 1

Day use permits would solve many issues 1

Discover pass is a hinderance and only pays for enforcement 1

Dog parks for off leash run in uncrowded, more sanitary locations, East wenatchee 1

Dogs not allowed 1

Enchantments need better day use rules, as well as a way that still allows locals decent access.

It's frustrating when you've lived here for years and you can't get a permit for the core, I don't

want that same experience in a day permit. We need reserved walk up permits, or locals permits.

1

Excessive gubbament regulation and interference. Getting tested multiple times for the same

land. Access pass is fucking bullshit. Liberals should be restricted to city limits.

1

Fire and smoke 1

Forest service roads are destroyed 1

Other - Write In Count

Totals 147

8



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 94

Gated public access roads 1

Gates closed well into spring for no reason 1

Gates on county unmaintained roads 1

Gates on open county roadways that are not being maintained. 1

Hace falta un centro málaga 1

Hay Canyon- Homeless camps and tons of shooting 1

Health and safety concerns due to wildfire smoke 1

Homeless and vehicle breakins 1

I don't really experience barriers to my use - just time! 1

I have not experienced any barriers 1

I poop in the woods it actually cleaner than any bath room 1

I revisit spaces and so don't make it to all of them. 1

I'm sure I've accessed them plenty… I just don't know their formal names… 1

Lack of OHV areas 1

Lack of ORV opportunities 1

Lack of access for dirt bikes 1

Lack of access to rivers with heavy whitewater rafts. More access where a trailer can back in.

More places where a wide craft can be carried to or from the river. Includes the Wenatchee and

chiwawa rivers

1

Lack of adequate signage for trails- ie: having a map/marker at a trailhead detailing trail

difficulty/features/showing where it starts and ends.

1

Lack of drinking fountains along the apple capital trail. 1

Lack of income. 1

Lack of livestock(horse) friendly access. 1

Other - Write In Count

Totals 147

9



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 95

Lack of motorized trails 1

Lack of single track motorized trails, especially with loop opportunities 1

Lack of trail maintenance 1

Limited Non-motorized winter recreation areas for backcountry skiing and snowshoeing. 1

Limited trails for Dual Sport, single track motor and single track mtb. 1

Motorcycle access trails poorly maintained. 1

Motorcycles hurt the trails 1

Motorized traffic makes areas unappealing or unsafe 1

Moved here in 2017 we're blessed to have so many options with so little time due to owning a

business who's busiest season is spring and summer.

1

Need additional new trails in Manson and Chelan area 1

Need more ORV aeas 1

Need more ORV opportunities 1

Need more horse trails and information 1

Need more motorized recreation 1

Need more time to ride motorcycles offroad 1

No Barriers. 1

No barriers 1

No public access to Deer Mountain 1

Non-motorized winter access 1

None honestly 1

None of the above 1

Not Dog Friendly 1

Other - Write In Count

Totals 147

10



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 96

Not always motor recreation use 1

Not authorized for motorcycle use. 1

Not enough atv/orv parks 1

Not enough enforcement to protect the site, the stream, the vegetation and soils are

deteriorating in easy access areas. Visitor and RVer/fisher/hunter garbage and waste is causing

land and water quality issues and wildlife/fish issues at more sites since Covid hit. MORE

EDUCATION, PERMIT SYSTEMS AND ENFORCEMENT IS NEEDED for what you already have

and increases in recreation areas.

1

Not enough free time! 1

Not enough motorized vehicle options (atv & motorcycle) 1

Not enough mountain bike specific infastructure 1

Not enough new motorcycle trails. Existing trails are over ridden. Need to expand the trail

systems.

1

Not enough orv area 1

Not enough time, use areas close to home 1

Not enough winter parking for ski touring locations 1

Not interconnected by trails/accessible by bike 1

Over zealous fees for some and as a pet owner Wenatchee needs desperately small and large

dog parks/separate for safety and the more investment into that then tourists will not deal with

unruly dogs on paths and no dog poop either-it can be a win win!

1

People firing guns crazily and out of hunting season 1

People not obeying the park regulations, including fishing and hunting laws. NOT enough

enforcement.

1

People using guns/shooting im areas where people hike and camp 1

Poor road conditions and road maintenance of dirt/gravel roads 1

Poor road conditions. Unofficial trails that lack proper d be design and maintenance but are

great rec opportunities

1

Poor roads (eg to the top of Nahahum, Swakane, No 2 canyon 1

Other - Write In Count

Totals 147

11



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 97

Poor trail conditions 1

Poor trail maintenance 1

Poorly maintained roads to the more remote areas 1

Prefer bike paths 1

Public lands blocked by private lands 1

Require dogs "on-leash" 1

Road closures 1

Road conditions. Thanks for updating number 2 canyon road! 1

Roads are not always passable by regular vehicle 1

Roads are not being maintained and can't get to trailheads 1

Roads in rough shape preventing access 1

Roads need maintenance USFSFS 1

Rules about motorcycles and lack of trails 1

Shouldn't pay fees if nothing is maintained 1

Some areas locked by private land 1

Stupid permits that don't favor locals 1

The dirt roads are poorly maintained/ not graded/ and not brushed out. Just super rough dirt road

access.

1

The fairgrounds is not available to the community in the winter because of boat storage. And in

the summer, difficult to reserve.

1

Theft, vandalism, vehicle security 1

Too crowded, but only Colchuck Lake trail, really 1

Too many fees for access or use our public lands. Let the public have our lands back. 1

Too many people from out of the county 1

Other - Write In Count

Totals 147

12



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 98

Too many people, too many people who disrespect natural areas and can be unsanitary. 1

Too many teenagers with off-road vehicles or shooting near such areas especially during fire

danger.

1

Too much goverment involvement. 1

Traditional homelands should not have barriers to access. 1

Trail difficulty markings 1

Trash condoms all over parking area at saddle rock 1

Unauthorized motor vehicle use 1

Uncontrolled target shooting, off-leash dogs 1

Undeveloped areas without trail maintenance and signage 1

Vehicle breakins 1

Vehicle security, Vandalism, unleashed dogs 1

We have many parks and recreation opportuities. I wonder if we have TOO many. 1

We look for places we can ride dirt bikes or dual sport motorcycle 1

We spend most of Apr-Sep up by Plain, we enjoy anywhere we can go on our dirt bikes, ATVs,

and dual sport bikes.

1

Where are they? 1

Which pass for which location is an issue. 1

Who owns it 1

Would like to see public swimming availability as well as an outdoor pool. I would also like to

see boat dinner cruises, like in Kirkland argosy

1

access points to busy, break in/theft at parking areas 1

bicycle access/pathways 1

camps of people living in parks 1

Other - Write In Count

Totals 147

13



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 99

car break ins!! 1

distance from my home 1

incompatible ATV, OHV motorized, noisy recreationists 1

lack of parking at Day Drive and 5th St trailheads for Sage Hills trails in Wenatchee 1

limited horse trailer access 1

little if any disabled parking. None for wheelchair lift van accessible 1

loud music 1

my wife's age 92 and disabled 1

none 1

not enough soccer fields 1

options are not promoted well 1

ownership/trespassing questions 1

poor dirt road conditions 1

poorly maintained access roads 1

restricted access for the type of recreation I want to experience 1

road maintenance 1

roads are too rough 1

too many ding dang tourists 1

too many motorized vehicles on the trails 1

we use foothills trails 1

Totals 147

Other - Write In Count

14



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 100

Item

Overall

Rank

Rank

Distribution Score

No. of

Rankings

Developed/managed access points and

trailheads for public lands

1 8,328 837

Public water access to rivers in Chelan

County

2 8,107 824

Multi-modal pathways connecting

communities in Chelan County

3 7,884 791

Public water access to Lake Chelan 4 7,454 788

Native-surface trails in non-wilderness open

lands/space

5 6,638 733

Developed campgrounds 6 5,590 700

Opportunities for Mountain bike skills park 7 5,234 698

Developed parks with high levels of day-use

amenities

8 5,108 639

Opportunities for ORVs 9 5,025 709

Whitewater park on the Wenatchee River 10 4,605 646

Sports courts or active recreation areas 11 4,421 628

Athletic fields for soccer or baseball 12 3,751 599

Opportunities for winter motorized

recreation

13 3,741 623

    

4. Which public access and recreation resources are most important to add

in Chelan County? These options are based on a variety of recent past

surveys and planning documents in our region. Web: Drag each option to

prioritize from most important to least important. Mobile: Click each option

in order of priority and they will be numbered in order.

Lowest

Rank

Highest

Rank

15



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 101

5. It requires funding to improve amenities, provide better access to

outdoor recreation, and support the operations and maintenances of these

amenities. How would you be willing to fund improvements? Select all

that apply.
P

e
rc

e
n

t

Taxation User fees Voluntary

charitable

donations

to

foundations

or non-

profits

Not willing

to

financially

support

0

20

40

60

80

Value Percent Responses

Taxation

User fees

Voluntary charitable donations to foundations or non-

profits

Not willing to financially support

50.5% 615

71.3% 869

64.8% 789

6.8% 83

16



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 102

6. Would you support increased maintenance, access, and amenities in

currently unmanaged areas, even if that meant increased oversight and

use guidelines?

74% Yes

26% No

Value Percent Responses

Yes

No

  Totals: 1,208

73.7% 890

26.3% 318

17



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 103

7. Where do you live?

7% Cashmere

10% Chelan

6% Lake Wenatchee / Plain

(includes Coles Corner, Merritt,

Winton)

17% Leavenworth

4% Manson

3% Peshastin

25% Wenatchee

21% I live outside of Chelan County

 7% All Others

18



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 104

Value Percent Responses

Cashmere

Chelan

Chelan Falls

Dryden

Entiat / Ardenvoir

Lake Wenatchee / Plain (includes Coles Corner, Merritt,

Winton)

Leavenworth

Malaga

Manson

Monitor

Peshastin

Sunnyslope

Upper Lake Chelan (Holden Village, Lucerne, Stehekin)

Wenatchee

Wenatchee Heights

I live outside of Chelan County

  Totals: 1,111

7.0% 78

10.1% 112

0.2% 2

0.6% 7

1.1% 12

5.6% 62

16.7% 186

1.4% 16

4.4% 49

0.4% 4

3.4% 38

2.2% 24

0.3% 3

25.4% 282

0.7% 8

20.5% 228

19



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 105

8. What best describes your connection to Chelan County?

75% Full-time resident

8% Part-time / Seasonal Visitor

12% I frequently visit Chelan

County

2% I work in Chelan County, but

live outside the County

2% Other - Write In

Value Percent Responses

Full-time resident

Part-time / Seasonal Visitor

I frequently visit Chelan County

I work in Chelan County, but live outside the County

Other - Write In

Totals: 1,137

75.3% 856

8.4% 96

11.5% 131

2.4% 27

2.4% 27

Other - Write In Count

Born and raised here. Live in East Wenatchee part time 1

Born and raised in Wenatchee but decided to leave because of what it's becoming 1

Clark, County 1

Totals 27

20



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 106

Douglas county resident 1

Family owns a condo near Lake Wenatchee 1

Family roots 1

Former Chelan County resident; Recreational user of Chelan County 1

Former resident 1

Grew up in Leavenworth 1

I have lived in Chelan Co in the past 1

I live in East Wenatchee 1

I live in East Wenatchee. 1

I occasionally visit Chelan County, sometimes for work and sometimes for recreation 1

I own land in Chelan 1

I would love to come ride dirt bikes in your county. Please add more ORV access! 1

Let be in Douglas 1

Live in Douglas county but it is just across the river 1

Live in East Wenatchee 1

Live in East Wenatchee…. Recreate in Chelan County…. 1

Live in East Wenatchee…. recreate in Chelan Co. 1

Live in Spokane 1

Orondo 1

River Guide During the summer. The dryden dam kills people and a whitewater park would

greatly benefit all residents with a desire to recreate on the river in a safe space.

1

Single track and dual sport motorcycle 1

Vacation 1

Other - Write In Count

Totals 27

21



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 107

Visit a time or two per year to ride dirt bikes. 1

Visitor to the area 1

Totals 27

Other - Write In Count

22



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 108

9. What is your age range?

1% 13-19

6% 20-29

20% 30-39

22% 40-49

20% 50-59

21% 60-69

11% 70 or older

Value Percent Responses

13-19

20-29

30-39

40-49

50-59

60-69

70 or older

  Totals: 1,139

0.7% 8

5.5% 63

20.3% 231

22.1% 252

20.0% 228

20.5% 234

10.8% 123

23



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 109

10. What is your household size, including yourself?

11% I live alone

47% 2 people17% 3 people

25% 4 or more people

Value Percent Responses

I live alone

2 people

3 people

4 or more people

  Totals: 1,139

10.7% 122

47.0% 535

17.1% 195

25.2% 287

24



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 110

11. What ethnic or racial group do you identify with? Select all that apply.

P
e

rc
e

n
t

A
fr
ic
an

A
m

er
ic
an

/B
la

ck

A
si
an

 o
r

A
si
an

A
m

er
ic
an

C
au

ca
si
an

/W
hite

H
is
pan

ic
/L

at
in

o

N
at

iv
e

A
m

er
ic
an Pac

ifi
c

Is
la

nder

Pre
fe

r n
ot

to
 s

ay

Pre
fe

r t
o

id
en

tif
y

m
ys

el
f i

n

an
oth

er

w
ay

 -

W
rit

e 
In

O
th

er
 -

W
rit

e 
In

0

20

40

60

80

100

Value Percent Responses

African American/Black

Asian or Asian American

Caucasian/White

Hispanic/Latino

Native American

Pacific Islander

Prefer not to say

Prefer to identify myself in another way - Write In

Other - Write In

0.8% 9

1.3% 15

80.6% 913

3.2% 36

1.9% 22

0.3% 3

12.5% 142

1.1% 13

2.3% 26

25



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 111

Other - Write In Count

American 4

AMERICAN!!!! 1

Alaska native, Blackfeet, whote 1

American 1

Ass hole 1

Dose it really matter? I don't think so. 1

Euro-American 1

European 1

European American 1

Human 1

I'm the bad kind on your liberal scum dei bullshit requirements. 1

If the government isn't racist you should not ask this question. 1

Irish 1

N/A 1

Non of your buisnesd 1

Other 1

Swedish American 1

eastern european 1

human 1

mixed 1

multiple ethnic groups 1

Totals 24

26



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 112

12. How do you identify your gender?

42% Female

55% Male

1% Non-binary

2% Prefer to identify myself in

another way - Write In

Value Percent Responses

Female

Male

Non-binary

Prefer to identify myself in another way - Write In

Totals: 1,128

42.4% 478

55.1% 622

0.8% 9

1.7% 19

27



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 113

Prefer to identify myself in another way - Write In Count

human 2

Bull shit question 1

Cos gender female 1

Decline to answer 1

N/A 1

NA 1

Not important 1

They are only two mother fucking genders you god damned idiots. This shit is so fucking stupid.

Put the mentally ill in an institution and be done with this waste of time gender bullshit. For fuck

sake. It has no bearing on anything. Attention seeks pieces of useless shit.

1

This is not relevant 1

Wow even Chelan county is woke... Might be time to move. 1

not important to the question 1

Totals 12

28



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 114

13. What languages are most often spoken in your home? Select all that

apply.

P
e

rc
e

n
t

English Spanish Other

language -

Write In

0

20

40

60

80

100

Value Percent Responses

English

Spanish

Other language - Write In

99.3% 1,127

3.3% 38

1.3% 15

29



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 115

Other language - Write In Count

German 2

Russian 2

Brazilian Portuguese 1

French 1

Hebrew 1

Irish 1

N/A 1

Sign language. Guess which finger I'm holding up now? 1

Swahili 1

Thai 1

Totals 12

30



Chelan County PROS Plan Update  | Appendix 116

D - SEPA Non-Project Form



http://www.scjalliance.com/


SEPA Environmental checklist September 2023 Page 1 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

SEPA1 Environmental Checklist

Purpose of checklist 
Governmental agencies use this checklist to help determine whether the environmental impacts of your 
proposal are significant. This information is also helpful to determine if available avoidance, minimization, or 
compensatory mitigation measures will address the probable significant impacts or if an environmental impact 
statement will be prepared to further analyze the proposal. 

Instructions for applicants 
This environmental checklist asks you to describe some basic information about your proposal. Please answer 
each question accurately and carefully, to the best of your knowledge. You may need to consult with an 
agency specialist or private consultant for some questions. You may use “not applicable” or “does not apply” 
only when you can explain why it does not apply and not when the answer is unknown. You may also attach 
or incorporate by reference additional studies reports. Complete and accurate answers to these questions 
often avoid delays with the SEPA process as well as later in the decision-making process. 

The checklist questions apply to all parts of your proposal, even if you plan to do them over a period of time 
or on different parcels of land. Attach any additional information that will help describe your proposal or its 
environmental effects. The agency to which you submit this checklist may ask you to explain your answers or 
provide additional information reasonably related to determining if there may be significant adverse impact. 

Instructions for lead agencies 
Please adjust the format of this template as needed. Additional information may be necessary to evaluate the 
existing environment, all interrelated aspects of the proposal and an analysis of adverse impacts. The checklist 
is considered the first but not necessarily the only source of information needed to make an adequate 
threshold determination. Once a threshold determination is made, the lead agency is responsible for the 
completeness and accuracy of the checklist and other supporting documents. 

Use of checklist for nonproject proposals 
For nonproject proposals (such as ordinances, regulations, plans and programs), complete the applicable parts 
of sections A and B, plus the Supplemental Sheet for Nonproject Actions (Part D). Please completely answer all 
questions that apply and note that the words "project," "applicant," and "property or site" should be read as 
"proposal," "proponent," and "affected geographic area," respectively. The lead agency may exclude (for non-
projects) questions in “Part B: Environmental Elements” that do not contribute meaningfully to the analysis of 
the proposal.

1 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/Checklist-guidance 

Attachment 2 SEPA Checklist

https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/Checklist-guidance


SEPA Environmental checklist September 2023 Page 2 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

A. Background
Find help answering background questions2 
1. Name of proposed project, if applicable:

Update the recreational element of the County's Comprehensive Plan to align with RCW
36.70A.140 and the required elements outlined in the Washington State Recreation &
Conservation Office Manual 2 – Planning Guidelines (January 2024).

2. Name of applicant:

Chelan County

3. Address and phone number of applicant and contact person:

Mike Kaputa, Director Chelan County Department of Natural Resources (applicant) 
Erin McKay, Senior Natural Resource Specialist (contact person) 
411 Washington St. Suite 201 Wenatchee WA 98801 
(509) 667-6533
erin.mcKay@co.chelan.wa.us

4. Date checklist prepared:

April 30, 2024

5. Agency requesting checklist:

Washington Department of Ecology

6. Proposed timing of schedule (including phasing, if applicable):

This non-project review is being submitted to the public for review late-April with an
expected action/adoption date in June, 2024.

7. Do you have any plans for future additions, expansion, or further activity related to or
connected with this proposal? If yes, explain.

This plan includes a list of potential Capital Improvement Projects related to recreation and
outdoor access infrastructure within Chelan County. However, this list is a suggested
prioritization of these projects, and each project proposed for implementation will undergo
project-specific SEPA review. This checklist pertains only to the non-project proposal of
adopting the plan itself.

8. List any environmental information you know about that has been prepared, or will be
prepared, directly related to this proposal.

No environmental information has been prepared directly related to this proposal, as it is a
non-project action with no environmental impacts associated. The following existing
plans/documents were referenced during development of this plan update:

2 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-A-Background 

https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-A-Background
mailto:erin.mcKay@co.chelan.wa.us


SEPA Environmental checklist September 2023 Page 3 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

Chelan 
County Public 

Works 
2022 Inventory 

Data 

Recreation 
Access Inventory 
and Assessment 

Chelan 
County N/A 

Inventory & analysis of the distinct 
recreation access sites that are currently 
within a Chelan County road ROW. Many 
sites are used for river access, and some 
for authorized or unauthorized trail 
systems. Overall, recommendations focus 
on creating parking space & trailheads in a 
formalized way on land adjacent to 
current ROW informal use. 

TREAD 2023 Survey Data 

Central 
Washington 

Outdoor 
Recreation Survey 

Chelan and 
Douglas 

Counties 
N/A 

Survey respondents (nearly all residents) 
identify Wenatchee Mtns in southeastern 
Chelan County as the place they visit most 
for outdoor recreation, followed by Alpine 
Lakes area, Lake Wenatchee Area, and 
the ‘Canyons’ area north of Hwy 2 between 
Leavenworth and Wenatchee. Top 
desires: More trails, but especially paved 
pathways between communities; 
maintenance of existing trails & access 
infrastructure; improved access points 
(trailheads). 

Chelan 
Douglas 

Regional Port 
Authority 

2023 
Survey & 
Inventory 

Data 

Regional Sports 
Complex 

Feasibility Study: 
Phase 1 Findings 

Chelan and 
Douglas 

Counties 
N/A 

Study indicates population growth trends, 
including relatively significant 25% 
increase in population under 40 by 2050. 
Survey & inventory focused on sports 
fields and aquatic resources, but several 
mentions of pathways as a method of safe 
transportation to reach a regional sports 
facility. 

Visit Chelan 
County 2023 Survey Data Destination 

Master Plan 
Chelan 
County 

Respondents
: 86.9% 

Caucasian 

Resident survey key findings: 1) Visitor 
impact at high use locations is a 
significant issue, and visitor impact 
management strategies are needed; 2) 
Outdoor recreation is a primary driver of 
visitation, and there is a need to 
strengthen collaboration among the 
outdoor industry and tourism; 3) Mobility, 
access, and connectivity are significant 
challenges across the county, and 
transportation solutions are needed; 4) 
Sports facilities and infrastructure is 
needed to support recreation and events. 

City of 
Wenatchee 2023 

Planning 
Document 

Informed by 
Public Input 

Parks, Recreation, 
and Open Space 

(PROS) Plan 

Greater City 
of Wenatchee 

area 
-- 

Public survey section notes that top two 
outstanding capital projects from 
previous planning that had highest 
community support were: 

constructing more trails and 

 acquiring more property for open space and 
habitat. 



SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 4 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

  

9. Do you know whether applications are pending for governmental approvals of other 
proposals directly affecting the property covered by your proposal? If yes, explain. 

There are no known pending governmental approvals of other proposals directly affecting 
Chelan County.  

10. List any government approvals or permits that will be needed for your proposal, if known. 

City of 
Cashmere 2023 

Planning 
Document 

Informed by 
Public Input 

Cashmere Parks, 
Recreation, and 

Open Space 
(PROS) Plan 

City of 
Cashmere 

Respondents
: 10% self-
identified 

Latino 

Focus on urban parks and trails, but 
specifically calls out trail connections in 
unincorporated county, as well as the 
formation of a City trails committee to 
achieve this goal. Goal 4. Connectivity: 
Provide an interconnected network of 
multi-use 

trails, walkways, and bikeways connecting 
city and regional 

destinations. 

 

Trust for 
Public Land 

2016 & 
presen

t 

Vision 
Document 

Informed by 
Public Input 

Upper Wenatchee 
Community Lands 

Plan 

Upper 
Wenatchee 

River 
Watershed: 

Cashmere/Mi
ssion Cr, 

Blewett/Pesh
astin, 

Leavenworth, 
Chumstick 

-- 

2016 plan was developed to anticipate 
long-range planning for the 38,000 acres 
of private commercial timberlands owned 
in Chelan County. This plan is currently 
being updated as the landowner has 
changed, and real timelines associated 
with a phased option to acquire the lands 
are in play. 

Chelan 
County 
Natural 

Resource 
Dept./ City of 
Leavenworth 

2023-
2024 

Planning 
Document 

Informed by 
Public Input 

River Recreation 
Management Plan 
for the Wenatchee 

River & Icicle 
Creek Near 

Leavenworth 

Portion of 
Wenatchee 
River near 

Leavenworth, 
incl. lower 
reaches of 

Icicle Creek 

-- 

Report based on user data and public 
input collected in 2020 and 2023. 
Managing heavily used river access sites 
in the study area is challenging due to 
multiple jurisdictions and inadequate 
amenities (incl. parking). Report suggests 
staffing specifically for managing river 
recreation, and also establishing a user 
registration fee system to fund staffing. 
Chelan County needs to consider how to 
build this into current public engagement 
process. 

City of 
Wenatchee 

2023 & 
presen

t 

Planning 
Document 

Reimagine 
Wenatchee 
Master Plan 

Portion of 
Downtown 

Wenatchee & 
Colombia 

Waterfront 

Unknown as 
of yet 

Only discovery phase has been completed, 
results linked. Process may affect 
management of and scope of recreation 
resources provided along Loop 
Trail/waterfront in downtown area. 



SEPA Environmental checklist September 2023 Page 5 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

The Plan Update will have final approval from the Board of County Commissioners to 
complete the adoption process, which will involve a public hearing with the Board. The 
proposal also requires a 60-day review period by the WA State Department of Commerce 
prior to full adoption.  

Dependent on the eventual unspecified project determinations, other county, state, and 
federal agencies will need to review the specific plans to determine if local jurisdictions will 
need additional review to adopt plans or ordinances for implementation or require new or 
revised ordinances or revisions to necessitate the desired changes.  

11. Give brief, complete description of your proposal, including the proposed uses and the
size of the project and site. There are several questions later in this checklist that ask you
to describe certain aspects of your proposal. You do not need to repeat those answers on
this page. (Lead agencies may modify this form to include additional specific information
on project description.)

RCW 36.70A.140 mandates that local jurisdictions, such as Chelan County, must plan for and
accommodate growth through the adoption of comprehensive plans. These plans must
address various elements, including land use, housing, transportation, and parks and
recreation. Specifically, RCW 36.70A.140(3) outlines the requirements for a Capital Facilities
Plan that consists of:

• An inventory of existing capital facilities owned by public entities, including green
infrastructure, showing the locations and capacities of the capital facilities.

• The Parks and Recreation element, RCW 36.70A.140(8), further describes that the
plan shall include:

⇒ Estimates of park and recreation demand for at least a ten-year period;

⇒ an evaluation of facilities and service needs; and

⇒ an evaluation of intergovernmental coordination opportunities to
provide regional approaches for meeting park and recreational demand.

⇒ Estimates of park and recreation demand for at least a ten-year period;

⇒ an evaluation of facilities and service needs;

⇒ an evaluation of intergovernmental coordination opportunities to
provide regional approaches for meeting park and recreational demand.

This update to the Recreation Element of the Chelan County Comprehensive Plan maintains 
a 7-year cycle to maintain accurate inventory of recreational assets and update the needs 
assessment, goals and objectives, and priories around recreation in Chelan County, as well 
as maintain grant eligibility through the WA State Recreation and Conservation Office. This 
plan update includes the following, 1) An inventory of existing outdoor recreational facilities 
and resources, 2) Detailed public involvement to gauge resident desires and expectations, 
helping define the County's desired quality of life for recreation, 3) An evaluation of 
intergovernmental coordination to ensure cohesive recreational development across 



SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 6 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

Chelan County, and, 4) A Capital Improvement Program (CIP) addressing forecasted 
recreational needs over the next 6-10 years. 

The objectives of the plan are to identify intergovernmental partnering options to jointly 
improve County residents’ access to outdoor recreation based on the following prioritized 
objectives identified in the public engagement plan, 1) improving developed/managed 
access points and trailheads for public lands, 2) improving public water access to rivers in 
Chelan County, 3) developing multi-modal pathways connecting communities in the County, 
4) improving/adding public water access to Lake Chelan, 5) developing native-surface trails 
in non-wilderness open spaces, 6) determine options for a mountain bike skill park, 7) 
develop more opportunities for ORVS, 8) continue to determine options for a whitewater 
park on the Wenatchee River, 9) identify opportunities to increase access to sports courts or 
other active recreation areas, and, 10) develop more opportunities for winter motorized 
recreation.  

Public involvement for the plan update centered around a Needs & Assessment Survey that 
ran from late Jan through the end of March, during which two public workshops were 
hosted, one in City of Chelan and the other in Wenatchee. Together, the number of 
respondents who took the survey or participated in the in-person workshops resulted in 
over 1,300 surveys and almost 50 in-person attendees. 

 

12. Location of the proposal. Give sufficient information for a person to understand the 
precise location of your proposed project, including a street address, if any, and section, 
township, and range, if known. If a proposal would occur over a range of area, provide the 
range or boundaries of the site(s). Provide a legal description, site plan, vicinity map, and 
topographic map, if reasonably available. While you should submit any plans required by 
the agency, you are not required to duplicate maps or detailed plans submitted with any 
permit applications related to this checklist. 

The non-project action will apply countywide to all areas designated under jurisdiction of 
the Chelan County’s Comprehensive Plan. This includes all County-owned public lands, but 
may include other County, State, and Federal lands upon which County and NGO-supported 
outdoor recreation occurs. See attached map. 



SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 7 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

 

 



SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 8 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

B. Environmental Elements 
1. Earth 
Find help answering earth questions3 

a. General description of the site:  

The non-project action will apply countywide to all areas designated under jurisdiction of 
the Chelan County’s Comprehensive Plan. This includes all County-owned public lands, 
but may include other County, State, and Federal lands upon which County and NGO-
supported outdoor recreation occurs.  
 

Circle or highlight one: Flat, rolling, hilly, steep slopes, mountainous, other: 

The affected geographic area includes flat, rolling, hilly, steep slopes, and mountainous 
terrain. 

b. What is the steepest slope on the site (approximate percent slope)? 

Wide variety of slope angles present in Chelan County proposal area.  

c. What general types of soils are found on the site (for example, clay, sand, gravel, peat, 
muck)? If you know the classification of agricultural soils, specify them, and note any 
agricultural land of long-term commercial significance and whether the proposal 
results in removing any of these soils. 

Wide variety of soil types present in Chelan County proposal area.  

d. Are there surface indications or history of unstable soils in the immediate vicinity? If 
so, describe. 

There are unstable slopes present in the Chelan County proposal area. However, this 
plan is a non-project action and therefor will not affect slope stability.  

e. Describe the purpose, type, total area, and approximate quantities and total affected 
area of any filling, excavation, and grading proposed. Indicate source of fill. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

f. Could erosion occur because of clearing, construction, or use? If so, generally describe. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

g. About what percent of the site will be covered with impervious surfaces after project 
construction (for example, asphalt or buildings)? 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 
3 https://ecology.wa.gov/regulations-permits/sepa/environmental-review/sepa-guidance/sepa-checklist-
guidance/sepa-checklist-section-b-environmental-elements/environmental-elements-earth 

https://ecology.wa.gov/regulations-permits/sepa/environmental-review/sepa-guidance/sepa-checklist-guidance/sepa-checklist-section-b-environmental-elements/environmental-elements-earth


SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 9 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

h. Proposed measures to reduce or control erosion, or other impacts to the earth, if any. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 

2. Air  
Find help answering air questions4 
a. What types of emissions to the air would result from the proposal during construction, 

operation, and maintenance when the project is completed? If any, generally describe 
and give approximate quantities if known.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 

b. Are there any off-site sources of emissions or odor that may affect your proposal? If 
so, generally describe.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 

c. Proposed measures to reduce or control emissions or other impacts to air, if any: 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 

 

3. Water  
Find help answering water questions5 

a. Surface:  
Find help answering surface water questions6  

1. Is there any surface water body on or in the immediate vicinity of the site 
(including year-round and seasonal streams, saltwater, lakes, ponds, wetlands)? If 
yes, describe type and provide names. If appropriate, state what stream or river it 
flows into.  

The area within the project boundary contains rivers, streams, wetlands, lakes, and 
ponds.  

 
4 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-Air 
5 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-3-Water 
6 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-3-Water/Environmental-
elements-Surface-water 

https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-Air
https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-3-Water
https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-3-Water/Environmental-elements-Surface-water


SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 10 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

2.  Will the project require any work over, in, or adjacent to (within 200 feet) the 
described waters? If yes, please describe and attach available plans. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 

3.  Estimate the amount of fill and dredge material that would be placed in or 
removed from surface water or wetlands and indicate the area of the site that 
would be affected. Indicate the source of fill material. 

    Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 

4.  Will the proposal require surface water withdrawals or diversions? Give a general 
description, purpose, and approximate quantities if known.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

5.  Does the proposal lie within a 100-year floodplain? If so, note location on the site 
plan.  

      Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 

6.  Does the proposal involve any discharges of waste materials to surface waters? If 
so, describe the type of waste and anticipated volume of discharge. 

Not applicable, no action proposed.  

b. Ground:  
Find help answering ground water questions7 

1. Will groundwater be withdrawn from a well for drinking water or other purposes? 
If so, give a general description of the well, proposed uses and approximate 
quantities withdrawn from the well. Will water be discharged to groundwater? 
Give a general description, purpose, and approximate quantities if known.  

       Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

2.  Describe waste material that will be discharged into the ground from septic tanks 
or other sources, if any (domestic sewage; industrial, containing the following 
chemicals…; agricultural; etc.). Describe the general size of the system, the number 
of such systems, the number of houses to be served (if applicable), or the number 
of animals or humans the system(s) are expected to serve. 

       Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 

 
7 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-3-Water/Environmental-
elements-Groundwater 

https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-3-Water/Environmental-elements-Groundwater


SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 11 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

c. Water Runoff (including stormwater): 

1.  Describe the source of runoff (including storm water) and method of collection 
and disposal, if any (include quantities, if known). Where will this water flow? Will 
this water flow into other waters? If so, describe.  

      Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 

2. Could waste materials enter ground or surface waters? If so, generally describe.  

        Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 

3.  Does the proposal alter or otherwise affect drainage patterns in the vicinity of the 
site? If so, describe.  

                   Not applicable, no action proposed.  

d.  Proposed measures to reduce or control surface, ground, and runoff water, and 
drainage pattern impacts, if any: 

    Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 

4. Plants  
Find help answering plants questions 

a. Check the types of vegetation found on the site: 

☒ deciduous tree: alder, maple, aspen, other 

☒ evergreen tree: fir, cedar, pine, other 

☒ shrubs 

☒ grass 

☒ pasture 

☒ crop or grain 

☒ orchards, vineyards, or other permanent crops. 

☒ wet soil plants: cattail, buttercup, bullrush, skunk cabbage, other 

☒ water plants: water lily, eelgrass, milfoil, other 

☐ other types of vegetation 

b. What kind and amount of vegetation will be removed or altered? 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

c.  List threatened and endangered species known to be on or near the site.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-4-Plants


SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 12 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

 

d. Proposed landscaping, use of native plants, or other measures to preserve or enhance 
vegetation on the site, if any.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

e.  List all noxious weeds and invasive species known to be on or near the site.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 

5. Animals  
Find help answering animal questions8 

a. List any birds and other animals that have been observed on or near the site or are 
known to be on or near the site.  

Examples include:  

• Birds: hawk, heron, eagle, songbirds, other:  

• Mammals: deer, bear, elk, beaver, other:  

• Fish: bass, salmon, trout, herring, shellfish, other: 

No applicable, no action proposed.  

b. List any threatened and endangered species known to be on or near the site. 

Not applicable, no action proposed.  

c.  Is the site part of a migration route? If so, explain. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

d.  Proposed measures to preserve or enhance wildlife, if any. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

e.  List any invasive animal species known to be on or near the site. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

6. Energy and natural resources 
Find help answering energy and natural resource questions9 

a. What kinds of energy (electric, natural gas, oil, wood stove, solar) will be used to meet 
the completed project's energy needs? Describe whether it will be used for heating, 
manufacturing, etc. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 
8 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-5-Animals 
9 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-6-Energy-natural-resou 

https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-5-Animals
https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-6-Energy-natural-resou


SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 13 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

 

b. Would your project affect the potential use of solar energy by adjacent properties? If 
so, generally describe.  

Not applicable, no action proposed.  

c. What kinds of energy conservation features are included in the plans of this proposal? 
List other proposed measures to reduce or control energy impacts, if any.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

7. Environmental health 
Health Find help with answering environmental health questions10 

a. Are there any environmental health hazards, including exposure to toxic chemicals, 
risk of fire and explosion, spill, or hazardous waste, that could occur because of this 
proposal? If so, describe. 

No 

1. Describe any known or possible contamination at the site from present or past 
uses.  

      Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

2. Describe existing hazardous chemicals/conditions that might affect project 
development and design. This includes underground hazardous liquid and gas 
transmission pipelines located within the project area and in the vicinity.  

      Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

3. Describe any toxic or hazardous chemicals that might be stored, used, or produced 
during the project's development or construction, or at any time during the 
operating life of the project. 

       Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

4. Describe special emergency services that might be required. 

       Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

5. Proposed measures to reduce or control environmental health hazards, if any. 

       Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

b. Noise 

1. What types of noise exist in the area which may affect your project (for example: 
traffic, equipment, operation, other)? 

      Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 
10 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-7-Environmental-health 

https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-7-Environmental-health


SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 14 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

2. What types and levels of noise would be created by or associated with the project 
on a short-term or a long-term basis (for example: traffic, construction, operation, 
other)? Indicate what hours noise would come from the site)? 

      Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

3. Proposed measures to reduce or control noise impacts, if any:  

       Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

8. Land and shoreline use  
Find help answering land and shoreline use questions11 

a. What is the current use of the site and adjacent properties? Will the proposal affect 
current land uses on nearby or adjacent properties? If so, describe.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

b. Has the project site been used as working farmlands or working forest lands? If so, 
describe. How much agricultural or forest land of long-term commercial significance 
will be converted to other uses because of the proposal, if any? If resource lands have 
not been designated, how many acres in farmland or forest land tax status will be 
converted to nonfarm or nonforest use? 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 

1. Will the proposal affect or be affected by surrounding working farm or forest 
land normal business operations, such as oversize equipment access, the 
application of pesticides, tilling, and harvesting? If so, how? 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

c. Describe any structures on the site. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

d. Will any structures be demolished? If so, what?  

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

e. What is the current zoning classification of the site?  

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

f. What is the current comprehensive plan designation of the site? 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

g.  If applicable, what is the current shoreline master program designation of the site?  

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

 
11 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-8-Land-shoreline-use 

https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-8-Land-shoreline-use


SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 15 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

h.  Has any part of the site been classified as a critical area by the city or county? If so, 
specify.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed.  

i. Approximately how many people would reside or work in the completed project?  

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

j. Approximately how many people would the completed project displace?   

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

k.  Proposed measures to avoid or reduce displacement impacts, if any.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

l.  Proposed measures to ensure the proposal is compatible with existing and projected 
land uses and plans, if any.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

m.  Proposed measures to reduce or control impacts to agricultural and forest lands of 
long-term commercial significance, if any: 

 Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

9. Housing  
Find help answering housing questions12 

a. Approximately how many units would be provided, if any? Indicate whether high, 
middle, or low-income housing.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

b.  Approximately how many units, if any, would be eliminated? Indicate whether high, 
middle, or low-income housing. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

c.  Proposed measures to reduce or control housing impacts, if any:  

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

10. Aesthetics  
Find help answering aesthetics questions13 

a. What is the tallest height of any proposed structure(s), not including antennas; what is 
the principal exterior building material(s) proposed? 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

b. What views in the immediate vicinity would be altered or obstructed? 

 
12 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-9-Housing 
13 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-10-Aesthetics 

https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-9-Housing
https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-10-Aesthetics


SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 16 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

c.  Proposed measures to reduce or control aesthetic impacts, if any: 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

11. Light and glare  
Find help answering light and glare questions14 

a. What type of light or glare will the proposal produce? What time of day would it 
mainly occur? 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

b. Could light or glare from the finished project be a safety hazard or interfere with 
views? 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

c. What existing off-site sources of light or glare may affect your proposal? 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

d. Proposed measures to reduce or control light and glare impacts, if any: 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

12. Recreation  
Find help answering recreation questions 

a. What designated and informal recreational opportunities are in the immediate 
vicinity? 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

b. Would the proposed project displace any existing recreational uses? If so, describe. 

       No, no action proposed. 

c. Proposed measures to reduce or control impacts on recreation, including recreation 
opportunities to be provided by the project or applicant, if any:  

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

13. Historic and cultural preservation  
Find help answering historic and cultural preservation questions15 

a. Are there any buildings, structures, or sites, located on or near the site that are over 
45 years old listed in or eligible for listing in national, state, or local preservation 
registers? If so, specifically describe.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

 
14 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-11-Light-glare 
15 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-13-Historic-cultural-p 

https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-11-Light-glare
https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-12-Recreation
https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-12-Recreation
https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-13-Historic-cultural-p


SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 17 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

 

b. Are there any landmarks, features, or other evidence of Indian or historic use or 
occupation? This may include human burials or old cemeteries. Are there any material 
evidence, artifacts, or areas of cultural importance on or near the site? Please list any 
professional studies conducted at the site to identify such resources. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

c. Describe the methods used to assess the potential impacts to cultural and historic 
resources on or near the project site. Examples include consultation with tribes and 
the department of archeology and historic preservation, archaeological surveys, 
historic maps, GIS data, etc. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

d. Proposed measures to avoid, minimize, or compensate for loss, changes to, and 
disturbance to resources. Please include plans for the above and any permits that may 
be required.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

14. Transportation  
Find help with answering transportation questions16 

a. Identify public streets and highways serving the site or affected geographic area and 
describe proposed access to the existing street system. Show on site plans, if any. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

b. Is the site or affected geographic area currently served by public transit? If so, 
generally describe. If not, what is the approximate distance to the nearest transit 
stop?  

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

c. Will the proposal require any new or improvements to existing roads, streets, 
pedestrian, bicycle, or state transportation facilities, not including driveways? If so, 
generally describe (indicate whether public or private).  

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

d. Will the project or proposal use (or occur in the immediate vicinity of) water, rail, or 
air transportation? If so, generally describe. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

e. How many vehicular trips per day would be generated by the completed project or 
proposal? If known, indicate when peak volumes would occur and what percentage of 
the volume would be trucks (such as commercial and nonpassenger vehicles). What 
data or transportation models were used to make these estimates? 

 
16 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-14-Transportation 

https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-14-Transportation


SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 18 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

f. Will the proposal interfere with, affect, or be affected by the movement of agricultural 
and forest products on roads or streets in the area? If so, generally describe. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed.   

g.  Proposed measures to reduce or control transportation impacts, if any: 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

15. Public services 
Find help answering public service questions17 

a. Would the project result in an increased need for public services (for example: fire 
protection, police protection, public transit, health care, schools, other)? If so, 
generally describe. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

b. Proposed measures to reduce or control direct impacts on public services, if any.  

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

16. Utilities  
Find help answering utilities questions18 

a. Circle utilities currently available at the site: electricity, natural gas, water, refuse 
service, telephone, sanitary sewer, septic system, other: 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

b. Describe the utilities that are proposed for the project, the utility providing the 
service, and the general construction activities on the site or in the immediate vicinity 
which might be needed. 

Not Applicable, no action proposed. 

C. Signature  
Find help about who should sign19 

The above answers are true and complete to the best of my knowledge. I understand that the 
lead agency is relying on them to make its decision. 

 
17 https://ecology.wa.gov/regulations-permits/sepa/environmental-review/sepa-guidance/sepa-checklist-
guidance/sepa-checklist-section-b-environmental-elements/environmental-elements-15-public-services 
18 https://ecology.wa.gov/regulations-permits/sepa/environmental-review/sepa-guidance/sepa-checklist-
guidance/sepa-checklist-section-b-environmental-elements/environmental-elements-16-utilities 
19 https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-
guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-C-Signature 

https://ecology.wa.gov/regulations-permits/sepa/environmental-review/sepa-guidance/sepa-checklist-guidance/sepa-checklist-section-b-environmental-elements/environmental-elements-15-public-services
https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-B-Environmental-elements/Environmental-elements-16-Utilities
https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-C-Signature


SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 19 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

X

 

Type name of signee:  

Position and agency/organization:  

Date submitted:  

D. Supplemental sheet for nonproject actions  
Find help for the nonproject actions worksheet20 
Do not use this section for project actions. 

Because these questions are very general, it may be helpful to read them in conjunction with 
the list of the elements of the environment. 

When answering these questions, be aware of the extent the proposal, or the types of activities 
likely to result from the proposal, would affect the item at a greater intensity or at a faster rate 
than if the proposal were not implemented. Respond briefly and in general terms. 

1. How would the proposal be likely to increase discharge to water; emissions to air; 
production, storage, or release of toxic or hazardous substances; or production of 
noise? 

Does Not Apply. Actual projects emanating from the CIP will be subject to individual SEPA 
review. 

• Proposed measures to avoid or reduce such increases are: 

 

2. How would the proposal be likely to affect plants, animals, fish, or marine life? 

Does Not Apply. Actual projects emanating from the CIP will be subject to individual SEPA 
review. 

• Proposed measures to protect or conserve plants, animals, fish, or marine life are: 

 

3. How would the proposal be likely to deplete energy or natural resources? 

Does Not Apply. Actual projects emanating from the CIP will be subject to individual SEPA 
review. 

 
20 https://ecology.wa.gov/regulations-permits/sepa/environmental-review/sepa-guidance/sepa-checklist-
guidance/sepa-checklist-section-d-non-project-actions 

https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/SEPA-checklist-guidance/SEPA-Checklist-Section-D-Non-project-actions


SEPA Environmental checklist  September 2023 Page 20 
(WAC 197-11-960) 

• Proposed measures to protect or conserve energy and natural resources are: 

 

4. How would the proposal be likely to use or affect environmentally sensitive areas or 
areas designated (or eligible or under study) for governmental protection, such as 
parks, wilderness, wild and scenic rivers, threatened or endangered species habitat, 
historic or cultural sites, wetlands, floodplains, or prime farmlands? 

Does Not Apply. Actual projects emanating from the CIP will be subject to individual SEPA 
review. 

• Proposed measures to protect such resources or to avoid or reduce impacts are: 

 

5.  How would the proposal be likely to affect land and shoreline use, including whether it 
would allow or encourage land or shoreline uses incompatible with existing plans?  

Does Not Apply. Actual projects emanating from the CIP will be subject to individual SEPA 
review. 

• Proposed measures to avoid or reduce shoreline and land use impacts are: 

 

6.  How would the proposal be likely to increase demands on transportation or public 
services and utilities? 

Does Not Apply. Actual projects emanating from the CIP will be subject to individual SEPA 
review. 

• Proposed measures to reduce or respond to such demand(s) are: 

 

7.  Identify, if possible, whether the proposal may conflict with local, state, or federal laws 
or requirements for the protection of the environment.  

Does Not Apply. Actual projects emanating from the CIP will be subject to individual SEPA 
review. 



Attachment 3 DNS





1

Jessica K. Thompson

From: CD Comment
Sent: Wednesday, April 3, 2024 2:02 PM
To: Jessica K. Thompson
Subject: FW: Comment on Draft Parks and Recreation Element

From: Residents Coalition of Chelan County <info@coalitionofchelancounty.org> 
Sent: Saturday, March 23, 2024 9:26 AM 
To: CD Comment <CD.Comment@CO.CHELAN.WA.US> 
Cc: Deanna C. Walter <DeannaC.Walter@CO.CHELAN.WA.US> 
Subject: Comment on Draft Parks and Recreation Element 

External Email Warning! This email originated from outside of Chelan County. 

Dear Planning Commissioners, 

In reviewing the draft Parks and Recreation Element, we believe an omission needs to be brought to your 
attention.  Pickleball is the fastest growing sport in the country and its mention appears nowhere in this 
document.  The survey information did not include Pickleball.  It would be advisable for the County to consider 
the addition of more Pickleball facilities in the small unincorporated communities including the Peshastin and 
Manson UGA's.  The future of the sport is secure and Chelan County should not be left out.  Hosting Pickleball 
events and having tourists come to our area for casual recreational play as well as sanctioned tournament 
events could be a positive addition to existing recreational activities. Residents as well can benefit from having 
more Pickleball facilities.  We are happy to provide more data as well as referrals to community members who 
are engaged in growing the sport in Chelan County. 

Sincerely, 

Board of Directors 
Residents Coalition of Chelan County (RC3) 

Attachment 4  Comment Letter RC3



Attachment 5 PC Recomendation



































































































































































CHELAN COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS ISSUES 

 
May 21, 2024  

 
9:30 A.M. PUBLIC WORKS AGENDA 
  Public Works Director/County Engineer Eric Pierson 
 
 
DISCUSSION ITEMS: 

 
1. Contract with Wenatchee Petroleum for Supplying Gas and Diesel  
2. Development and Deferred Payment Agreement for Frontage Improvements with Frank 

& Desiree Phelps 
3. Development and Deferred Payment Agreement for Frontage Improvements with Jodene 

Collings 
4. Franchise Agreement with Computer 5 dba LocalTel Communications 
5. Franchise Agreement with Brennen Balcom  
6. Table of Organization   
7. Open Item 
 
ACTION ITEMS: 
 
1. Approve Contract with Wenatchee Petroleum for Supplying Gas and Diesel 
2. Approve Development and Deferred Payment Agreement for Frontage Improvements 

with Frank & Desiree Phelps 
3. Approve Development and Deferred Payment Agreement for Frontage Improvements 

with Jodene Collings 
4. Approve Franchise Agreement with Computer 5 dba LocalTel Communications 
5. Approve Franchise Agreement with Brennen Balcom  
6. Approve Table of Organization  
 
10:00 A.M. Flood Control Zone District  
  District Administrator Eric Pierson  
 
 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 1 of 24 
 

Return Address: 
 
Chelan County Public Works 
316 Washington Street, Suite 402 
Wenatchee, WA  98801 
 
The information contained in  th is  boxed sect ion is  for  recording purposes only pursuant  to  
RCW 36.18 and RCW 65.04,  and is  not  to  be re l ied  upon for  any other  purpose,  and shal l  not  
affect  the intent  of  the warranty contained in  the document  i tse lf .  
 
Document Title: Franchise Agreement  
Grantor(s): Chelan County 
Grantee(s): Brennen Balcom 
Legal Description: N/A 
Assessor’s Tax Parcel ID: N/A  
 
Filed with the Auditor pursuant to RCW 39.34.040 
 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
CHELAN COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024- ____  

 
GRANTING A FRANCHISE TO BRENNEN BALCOM FOR AN IRRIGATION LINE 

ON COUNTY RIGHTS-OF-WAY 
 

WHEREAS, Chapter 36.55 of the Revised Code of Washington authorizes the Board of County 
Commissioners to grant franchises to persons or private or municipal corporations to use the right-
of-way of county roads for construction and maintenance of waterworks, gas pipes, telephone, 
telegraph, fiber optic and electric lines, sewers and other such facilities; and 
 
WHEREAS, Brennen Balcom has submitted a franchise application for the construction, 
operation, and maintenance of an irrigation line in county right-of-way as required by Chapter 8.25 
Chelan County Code (CCC); and  
 
WHEREAS, after due notice, the Board of County Commissioners held a public hearing on 
Brennen Balcom’s application, to hear public comment and consider whether to grant the 
requested irrigation line franchise to Brennen Balcom; and  
 
WHEREAS, a franchise is a legislative authorization to use county road rights-of-way and actual 
construction and maintenance activities in the county road rights-of-way will be subject to 
administratively approved right-of-way permits after review of specific plans. 
 
 
 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 2 of 24 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: 
 
Section 1 
 
Chelan County Board of County Commissioners grants Brennen Balcom a franchise to construct 
and maintain irrigation facilities on Chelan County rights-of-way. The terms and conditions of the 
franchise are set out in Schedule 1 and incorporated into this Resolution by reference. Together, 
this Resolution and Schedule 1 are the “Franchise Agreement”. 
 
Section 2 
 
Brennan Balcom shall have sixty (60) days from the date of this Resolution to unconditionally 
accept the franchise by providing the Clerk of the Board: 
 
 (i) The acceptance page (“Acceptance by Brennen Balcom”) of this franchise 

Resolution executed by Brennen Balcom; and  
 
 (ii) Evidence of insurance as required by this Franchise Agreement; and  
 
 (iii) Receipts, or other proof of payment of applicable costs and fees as set forth in 

Chelan County Code 8.90.020, Section IX-Utility Permits and Franchises.  
 
If accepted by Brennen Balcom, the Effective Date shall be the later of the date of the signed 
Certification of Compliance with Conditions, or Ten (10) days from the date of this Resolution. 
 
 
Section 3 
 
Failure of Brennen Balcom to accept this Resolution as required by Section 2 above shall be 
deemed a rejection by Brennen Balcom of the Franchise and any grants and privileges provided 
thereby. The Board of County Commissioners may approve an extension of the acceptance period 
by Resolution, prior to the expiration date, upon request from Brennen Balcom. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Remainder of Page Left Intentionally Blank 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 3 of 24 
 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVED this ____ day of ________________, 2024 in Wenatchee, 
Washington.  
 

 BOARD OF CHELAN COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS 

  
  

 ________________________________ 
 KEVIN OVERBAY, Chairman 
  
 ________________________________ 
 SHON SMITH, Commissioner 
  
 ________________________________ 
 TIFFANY GERING, Commissioner 

  
  
ATTEST:  ANABEL TORRES  
  
________________________  
Clerk of the Board     
  
Dated:  ______________  
  
  
APPROVED AS TO FORM  
  
_________________________  
ROBERT SEALBY  
Prosecuting Attorney  
  
Dated:  ______________  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 4 of 24 
 

ACCEPTANCE BY BRENNEN BALCOM: 
 
With the authorized signature below, Brennen Balcom accepts the franchise granted by this 
Franchise Agreement. By accepting this franchise, Brennen Balcom, a private individual, agrees 
to be bound by the Franchise Agreement and to perform by the terms and conditions and as 
prescribed by law. 
 
  Dated: ________________________, 2024  
 
                         By: ____________________________________ 
 
  Printed Name: ___________________________ 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Remainder of Page Left Intentionally Blank 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 5 of 24 
 

CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH CONDITIONS  
 
I certify that I have received confirmation that: (1) Brennen Balcom returned a signed copy of this 
franchise to the Board of County Commissioners within the time provided in Section 2 of this 
franchise resolution; (2) Brennen Balcom presented to the County acceptable evidence of 
insurance as required in Schedule 1 of the franchise resolution; and (3) Brennen Balcom has paid 
all applicable costs and fees as set forth in Chelan County Code 8.90.020, Section IX-Utility 
Permits and Franchises. 
 
Dated this ______ day of ___________________, 2024 
 
 
By: ___________________________ 
 Clerk of the Board 
 Chelan County Commissioners 
 
 
  



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 6 of 24 
 

SCHEDULE 1 
 

TO RESOLUTION NO. 2024-______ 
 

GRANTING A FRANCHISE TO BRENNEN BALCOM 
FOR AN IRRIGATION LINE ON COUNTY RIGHTS-OF-WAY 

 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 
 

SECTION 1 Parties to the Agreement 
 
1.1 This Franchise Agreement is made by and between the County of Chelan, Washington, a 
municipal corporation (“County”), and Brennen Balcom, a private individual.  Unless the Board 
of Commissioners is specifically identified as the actor, the County Engineer for Chelan County is 
the County representative and contact for purposes of this Franchise Agreement.  

  County Engineer 
 Chelan County Public Works Department 
 316 Washington Street, Suite 402 
 Wenatchee, WA   98801 
 Phone:  509.667.6415 
 Fax:  509.667.6250 
  

 

1.2 Brennen Balcom is the contact for purposes of this Franchise Agreement.  

   Address: 
  330 Aria Lane 
  Wenatchee, WA 98801 
 
  Emergency Contact: 
  Cell:  206-581-1452 
  Alt: 
 
 

1.3 Contact Information to be Kept Current. Changes in the above information shall be 
provided to the parties within ten (10) days of the change.  

 

 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 7 of 24 
 

SECTION 2 Statement of Purpose 
 
The purpose of this Franchise Agreement is to manage the use of public rights-of-way by utility 
providers in order to protect the public’s rights, health, safety, and welfare. The parties agree 
that the rights-of-way can provide an efficient corridor for utility providers servicing the local 
community. Brennen Balcom would benefit from using the County rights-of-way for operating 
and maintaining a 2 inch PVC irrigation line. The County and Brennen Balcom, intending to be 
legally bound, agree as follows. 

SECTION 3 Definitions 
 
3.1 Appurtenance(s) means pipes or accessories, or both, which are used, or have been used 
for the irrigation line.   

3.2 “Brennen Balcom” means Brennen Balcom, the private indivudual.  When referencing 
work performed in the County right-of-way, including restoration, or disturbance of, obstruction 
of, or interference with the County right-of-way, “Brennen Balcom” shall include Brennen 
Balcom’s contractors and any third parties performing any activity in the right-of-way on behalf 
of or instead of the Brennen Balcom, or with Brennen Balcom’s knowledge, acquiescence, or 
authorization. 

3.4 Construct or construction shall mean constructing, installing, laying, testing, removing, 
replacing, and repairing existing facilities and may include, but is not limited to, digging or 
excavating for those purposes. 

3.5 County means Chelan County, Washington, a municipal corporation under the laws of the 
State of Washington. 

3.6 County Engineer means the Chelan County Engineer. 

3.7 Facilities or system means collectively, any and all parts of the 2 inch PVC irrigation line 
installed in the Right of Way. 

3.8 Franchise means a license negotiated by the parties and granted by the County, entitling 
the recipient to occupy and use county road rights-of-way in accordance with state and federal 
law and county code. 

3.9 Maintenance or maintain shall mean the work involved in the replacement and/or repair 
of Facilities, including constructing, upgrading, relaying, repairing, replacing, examining, testing, 
inspecting, removing, and vegetation management. 

3.10 MUTCD means the Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices, including amended 
editions or a successor. 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 8 of 24 
 

3.11 Pothole means to expose a utility by mechanical or vacuum excavation in order to visually 
verify its location. 

3.12 Right(s)-of-way means present or future land owned in fee by Chelan County, or an 
easement, granted to the public of Chelan County. “Right-of-way” may include any surface and 
the space above and below streets, roadways, highways, avenues, courts, lanes, alleys, sidewalks, 
easements, rights-of-way and similar public property. 

3.13 Road or roadway means that portion of a right-of-way improved, designed, or ordinarily 
used for vehicular travel. 

For terms not defined in this section, the parties will use definitions provided in Chelan County 
Code Chapters 8.25 and 8.26 before looking to other definitions.  

SECTION 4 Grant of Authority 
 
4.1 The County, hereby grants to Brennen Balcom, this nonexclusive Franchise for its existing 
facilities within County rights-of-way.  

4.2 This Franchise is non-exclusive. The County reserves all rights to its property, including, 
without limitation, the right to grant additional franchises, easements, licenses and permits to 
others to use the rights-of way and public properties, provided that the County shall not grant 
any other Franchise, license, easement or permit that would unreasonably interfere with 
Brennen Balcom’s authorization and permitted use under this Franchise Agreement. 

4.3 In addition to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the privileges granted to 
Brennen Balcom is subject to all applicable laws and regulations, including Chelan County Code.  

4.4 This Franchise shall in no manner prohibit the County or limit its power to perform work 
upon its rights-of-way or make all necessary changes, relocations, repairs, maintenance, 
establishments, improvements thereto, or from using any of the rights-of way, or any part of 
them, as the County may deem fit from time to time, including the dedication, establishment, 
maintenance and improvement of all new rights-of-way and other public properties of every type 
and description.  

4.5 By granting this Franchise, the County is not assuming any risks or liabilities arising from 
this Franchise and any or all liabilities are solely and separately borne by Brennen Balcom. 
Brennen Balcom agrees and covenants to, at his sole cost and expense, take all necessary and 
prudent steps to protect, support, and keep safe from harm its facilities, or any part thereof, 
when necessary to protect the public health and safety. 

4.6 This Franchise is only intended to convey a license for use. It is not a warranty of title or 
interest in County’s rights-of-way. Nothing in this Franchise affects the County’s jurisdiction over 
its rights-of-way. 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 9 of 24 
 

4.7 This Franchise does not convey any right to Brennen Balcom to install any new system or 
appurtenances, without the express written permission of the County.  This includes any 
neighbors or other parties wishing to install their own irrigation line.   This Franchise is only for a 
single, 2 inch PVC irrigation line owned by Brennen Balcom. 

SECTION 5 Legal Relations & Assignment 
 
5.1 Nothing contained in this Franchise shall be construed to create an association, trust, 
partnership, agency relationship, or joint venture or to impose a trust, partnership, or agency 
duty, obligation or liability on or with regard to any party. Each party shall be individually and 
severally liable for its own duties, obligations, and liabilities under this Franchise. 

5.2  Brennen Balcom accepts the public rights-of-ray in an "as is" condition. Brennen Balcom 
agrees that the County has never made any representations, implied or express warranties or 
guarantees as to the suitability, security or safety of Brennen Balcom's facilities within the rights-
of-way, or possible hazards or dangers arising from other uses of the public rights of way by the 
County or the general public. Brennen Balcom shall remain solely and separately liable for the 
function, testing, maintenance, replacement and/or repair of the facilities or other activities 
permitted under this Franchise. 

5.3 This Franchise Agreement is not assignable or by any other means transferable. Brennen 
Balcom shall not assign, transfer, or delegate any rights, privileges, or obligations conferred on 
Brennen Balcom by this Franchise; and any attempt to do so shall be considered a breach. 

 5.3.1 For purposes of this Agreement, Brennen Balcom’s contracting, subcontracting, or 
otherwise engaging outside labor, design, consultation, support, or other services shall not be 
considered a delegation of obligations, provided that Brennen Balcom retains control and 
supervisory authority over the work being performed by such outside or contracted entity.   

SECTION 6 Term 

The Effective Date for this Agreement is established in the authorizing resolution executed by the 
Board of County Commissioners for Chelan County, Resolution 2024-______.  The term of this 
Franchise Agreement shall be twenty (20) years from the Effective Date, unless terminated prior 
to that date pursuant to the provisions for termination herein.  

SECTION 7 Amendments and Modifications 

Either party may request, in writing, an amendment or modification of this Agreement. However, 
any such mutually agreeable amendment or modification shall not be binding, take effect or be 
incorporated herein until having been properly passed by resolution of the Board of 
Commissioners following public hearing.  

SECTION 8 Franchise Compensation 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 10 of 24 
 

The County, in its role as trustee for the public rights-of-way, intends to determine reasonable 
compensation values for the valuable property rights granted by utility franchise agreements. As 
of the negotiation and execution of this Franchise Agreement, the Board of County 
Commissioners had not yet passed a resolution requiring compensation for utility franchises. 
Upon passage of a resolution requiring compensation for utility franchises, the parties shall 
amend this agreement to include mutually negotiated, compensation terms within 180 days from 
the date of the Board of Chelan County Commissioners’ executed resolution requiring 
compensation. Failure by the parties to amend this Agreement within the 180 day negotiation 
period as required by this Section 8 shall cause this Franchise to expire effective the next calendar 
day. 

SECTION 9 Compliance with Laws and Standards 

9.1  The County and Brennen Balcom agree that all activity shall comply with applicable 
federal, state, and local laws, codes, and regulations, as now may be in force or as may be further 
enacted or amended, including, but not limited to, the State Environmental Policy Act and Chelan 
County Code. 

9.3 In the case of any express conflict between the terms of this Franchise Agreement and 
the terms of the County's ordinances, codes, regulations, standards and procedures, this 
Franchise Agreement governs. 

9.4 In the event of noncompliance or refusal to comply with any applicable law, regulation, 
or rules by Brennen Balcom, or its contractors, the County may modify or terminate the Franchise 
Agreement in whole or in part in its sole discretion. Brennen Balcom is responsible for all costs 
or liability arising from its failure, and that of its contractors, to comply with applicable laws, 
regulations, or rules. 

SECTION 10 Permits 

10.1 Brennen Balcom shall obtain Work in Chelan County Right-Of-Way or Property Permits 
(“WRW Permit”) prior to conducting work in the right-of-way, PROVIDED that in the case of 
emergency repairs, work may commence prior to Brennen Balcom receiving the WRW Permit in 
order to protect health, safety or property. In the case of an emergency repair or response, 
Brennen Balcom shall (1) contact the Chelan County Engineer as quickly after becoming aware of 
the emergency as possible; (2) take all necessary and prudent steps to protect, support, and keep 
safe from harm its facilities, or any part thereof; County’s property; or other persons or property, 
and to protect the public health and safety; and (3) as soon as possible thereafter, must obtain 
the required permits and comply with any mitigation requirements or other conditions in the 
after-the-fact permit.  

10.2 The County makes no promises or guarantees that Brennen Balcom applications will be 
approved within a certain timeframe. The County shall make all reasonable efforts to review 
WRW permit applications in a timely fashion and not to unreasonably delay Brennen Balcom’s 
planned projects. Except in the instance of an emergency response or repair as addressed by 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 11 of 24 
 

Section 10.1, Brennen Balcom shall submit WRW permit applications at least seven (7) calendar 
days prior to the desired work start date.   

10.3 WRW permit applications must include detailed plans, including traffic control plans, to 
protect the public health and safety during the construction and/or maintenance work and for 
the remaining term of this Franchise. 

10.4 Except in the instance of an emergency response or repair as addressed by Section 10.1 
herein, if Brennen Balcom fails to apply for a required permit, or to abide by all terms and 
conditions of issued permits, the County may deny any and all future WRW permit applications 
until Brennen Balcom complies with such requirements. In the event Brennen Balcom fails to 
apply for a required permit, Brennen Balcom shall, upon request by the County Engineer, 
accommodate County inspection of the work performed, such accommodation to be the sole 
responsibility and expense of Brennen Balcom. Accommodations may include, but are not limited 
to excavation or potholing of work sites, traffic and safety control, interruptions to Brennen 
Balcom service. Upon inspection, the County Engineer may require alteration or removal of 
facilities that would not have met the conditions of a properly obtained WRW permit.  

SECTION 11 Standards of work performed in the Right-of Way 

11.1  Brennen Balcom shall comply with all terms, conditions, standards and insurance 
coverages which may be required under this Franchise, approved permits, or both and shall, at 
all times, comply with the following requirements, whether or not stated in any permit: 

11.1.1 Brennen Balcom shall comply with the most recent Road Cut Repair Standards 
and Requirements adopted by the County, and to the satisfaction of the County Engineer. 

11.1.2 Brennen Balcom shall perform all work in compliance with industry safety 
standards and federal, state, and county laws, regulations, and codes applicable to the 
work, including the USDOT “Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices for Streets and 
Highways” (MUTCD), in effect in Washington, for all signage, barricades, and traffic 
control in the vicinity of the work. Brennen Balcom is solely responsible for traffic 
management during the performance of any work undertaken in the rights-of-way. It is 
the responsibility of Brennen Balcom to ensure that traffic management ensures safety 
to the traveling public and does not interfere with County operations. When traffic 
management requires detour, or other significant change to traffic flow, Brennen Balcom 
shall coordinate the timing, location, and other specifics of traffic management with the 
County as part of the WRW Permit application and approval, and not later than Forty-two 
(42) hours prior to the commencement of work.  

11.1.3 All work performed by Brennen Balcom shall comply with the requirements of 
the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), as amended. 

11.1.4 On completion of work, Brennen Balcom shall, without delay, and at Brennen 
Balcom’s sole expense, remove all debris and restore the surface as nearly as possible to 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 12 of 24 
 

as good or better condition as it was in before the work began. Such restoration shall 
include necessary paving, patching, grading, and any other resurfacing necessary, and be 
done in a manner consistent with applicable codes and laws, under the supervision of the 
County and to the County Engineer’s satisfaction and specifications.  

11.1.5 Brennen Balcom, at his sole expense, shall make changes or repairs as directed 
by the County Engineer, in the event that any work done by Brennen Balcom interferes 
with the drainage of a County road, right-of-way, or other County property. Brennen 
Balcom is responsible for the costs of any damages to the road, right-of-way, or other 
County property caused by the interference in drainage and shall work with the County 
as directed by the County Engineer to mitigate such damages, when possible. Brennen 
Balcom is wholly responsible and shall indemnify and defend the County against any 
claims made by third-parties for damages resulting from the Brennen Balcom’s 
interference with drainage of a County road, right-of-way, or other County property. 

11.1.6 Brennen Balcom shall make all reasonable attempts to coordinate work with 
other franchisees to minimize road cuts, traffic interference or diversion, lane closures, 
or interference with existing facilities. The County will work with franchisees to facilitate 
this coordination, but is not responsible for instigating, mandating, arbitrating, or 
enforcing such coordination. The County is not liable for any new or increased costs to a 
franchisee resulting from a failure to coordinate work in rights-of-way.  

11.1.7 Within thirty (30) days of completing any maintenance or construction, 
installation or relocation, or any other substantial activity under this Franchise 
Agreement, Brennen Balcom shall provide to the County updated and corrected as-built 
drawings if requested showing the location, depth and other characteristics of the 
facilities. 

11.1.8 Brennen Balcom shall be solely and completely responsible for workplace safety 
and safe working practices on its job sites, including safety of all persons and property 
during the performance of any work. 

11.2 All of Brennen Balcom’s equipment which is used in the operation, maintenance, repair, 
or construction of his facilities facilities and which is located within the County road right-of-way 
shall be considered to be part of his facilities and shall be his responsibility. 

11.3 Nothing in this Franchise shall be deemed to impose any duty or obligation upon the 
County to determine the adequacy or sufficiency of Brennen Balcom’s plans and designs or to 
ascertain whether Brennen Balcom’s proposed or actual construction, testing, maintenance, 
repairs, replacement or removal is adequate or sufficient or in conformance with the plans and 
specifications submitted to the County. 

11.4 County reserves the right to require financial assurance, such as a performance bond, for 
the estimated amount for repairs at the sole discretion of the County Engineer. 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 13 of 24 
 

 

SECTION 12 Emergency Work in the Right-of Way and Emergency Management Plan 

12.1 Brennen Balcom shall comply with the requirements and standards for work identified in 
Section 11 above when performing emergency work in the right-of-way regardless of the timing 
of the work in relation to the appropriate permitting.  

12.2 Notice of Emergency Work: 

12.2.1 Brennen Balcom shall make immediate contact with the County, alerting it to the 
emergency and providing all available information related to the location, and the work 
to be performed. 

12.2.2  If initial contact is verbal, as promptly as reasonably possible Brennen Balcom shall 
provide written notice of any information conveyed to the County verbally, and any new 
or changed information since the initial contact was made. E-mail is acceptable written 
notice for this requirement. 

12.2.3 Identify and contact any other franchise holders that may be impacted by the 
emergency, or by Brennen Balcom’s emergency response work. 

12.2.4 Brennen Balcom shall cooperate with the County and respond as quickly as 
possible to minimize damage and to secure life, health and safety of the public. 

SECTION 13 Failure to Restore Right-of Way 

13.1 If Brennen Balcom, his agents or its contractors, fails to restore any County road right-of-
way to the requirements of the Road Cut Repair Standards and the standards included in Section 
11 of this Agreement,  to the satisfaction of the County Engineer, the County may, after 20 days 
written notice make such repairs or restorations as are necessary to return the County road 
rights-of-way to pre-work condition. The County may repair the deficiency without prior notice 
to Brennen Balcom if, in the reasonable opinion of the County Engineer, the deficient restoration 
appears to present immediate danger to public safety, health, or property. The County shall 
notify Brennen Balcom of such repair as soon as reasonably able.  

13.2 Brennen Balcom shall be responsible for reimbursing the County for any and all costs and 
expenses incurred by the County to correct, repair or otherwise restore the right-of-way, or 
otherwise perform Brennen Balcom’s obligations under this Franchise Agreement. Brennen 
Balcom shall pay the County within 90 days, of receipt of an itemized bill for repair or restoration, 
including costs of labor and equipment.  If the County brings suit upon Brennen Balcom’s failure 
to pay for repair and restoration, and if judgment in such a suit is entered in favor of the County, 
then Brennen Balcom shall pay all of the actual costs, including interest from the date the bill was 
presented, disbursements, and reasonable attorneys’ fees and litigation-related costs incurred. 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 14 of 24 
 

 

SECTION 14  Prohibition on Trenching 

The County reserves the right to prohibit open trenching for five (5) years following a street 
overlay or improvement project. Required trenching due to an emergency will not be subject to 
this trenching prohibition. 

SECTION 15 Installation of Facilities 

15.1 Brennen Balcom shall locate facilities to not interfere with roadway traffic, access to other 
utilities, or future roadway improvements, and to minimize the need for later adjustment or 
relocation.  Brennen Balcom shall install facilities so that they do not interfere with existing 
improvements, equipment, facilities and systems, the free and safe passage of vehicles and 
pedestrian traffic, and ingress or egress to and from the abutting property.  

15.2 Locations of new or relocated Brennen Balcom facilities shall be approved by the County 
in writing as a condition of the WRW permit. Brennen Balcom shall not deviate from the approved 
installation location without prior written approval of the change by the County Engineer. 

15.3 All underground lines will be installed with an applicable Underground Detectable Tape 
above in aiding in locating facilities.  All Underground Detectable Tape shall be installed per the 
manufacturers recommendations and use appropriate color tape for the facility (blue for 
irrigation water). 

SECTION 16 Undergrounding & Above Ground Facilities 

16.1 Brennen Balcom shall locate facilities underground in conformity with county codes, laws, 
regulations, agency orders, and industry standards. Nothing in this Agreement excepts, shifts or 
otherwise changes the requirements of RCW 19.122, Underground Utilities. Responsibility to 
comply with RCW 19.122, including but not limited to reporting and notice requirements, is the 
sole responsibility of Brennen Balcom. 

16.2 Where above ground facilities are required, Brennen Balcom shall locate or re-locate 
above ground utilities as close as possible to the right-of-way line to ensure that they are at the 
farthest location from the highway, unless alternative placement is approved by the County 
Engineer. 

SECTION 17 Record of Facility Locations 

Brennen Balcom shall maintain full, current and complete records showing the exact location, 
and size of Facilities in the County rights-of-way.  Records must include Facilities whether or not 
still in use, as well as historic facilities abandoned in place. These records are subject to 
inspection by County officials, employees and agents. Upon the County’s request, Brennen 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 15 of 24 
 

Balcom shall produce a copy of these records, or responsive portion, in hard copy, or digital 
files as prescribed by the County Engineer, and at no cost to the County. 

SECTION 18 Locating and Potholing of Facilities 

18.1 During a project’s design phase, if the project construction may impact Brennen Balcom’s 
facilities, the County shall consult with Brennen Balcom as to the potential impacts.  At the 
County’s written request, which may be by letter or email, Brennen Balcom shall locate facilities 
in the project zone, which locating may include the requirement to pothole at locations specified 
by the County.  Unless a later completion date is specified in the written request, Brennen Balcom 
shall complete potholing within five (5) business days from the date of the request, or provide 
location and “as-built” data pertaining to the requested facilities.  

18.2 The County Engineer may require potholing, despite receipt of location and “as-built” 
data, if in the County Engineer’s sole discretion additional information is necessary to the 
County’s planning and design. If the County Engineer determines potholing is still necessary, 
Brennen Balcom shall complete potholing within five (5) business days of the County notifying 
Brennen Balcom that potholing is still necessary. 

18.3 If the location information is not received within the timeframes identified in this Section 
18, Brennen Balcom may be financially responsible for delay costs incurred by the County or its 
Contractors. 

18.4 Nothing in this Agreement modifies or waives Brennen Balcom’s statutory requirements 
under RCW 19.122-Underground Utilities. 

SECTION 19 Relocation, Removal or Alteration of Facilities 

19.1 At any time, the County Engineer may determine that Brennen Balcom’s Facilities must 
be removed, relocated, or altered. 

19.2 The County Engineer shall provide written notice of the determination not less than one 
hundred eighty (180) calendar days before Brennen Balcom is required to have the Facilities 
removed, relocated or altered. Brennen Balcom shall remove, relocate, or alter the Facilities as 
directed by the County Engineer by the work completion date included in the written notice. If 
180-day notice to remove or relocate is not feasible, the County shall provide Brennen Balcom 
with as much notice as is reasonably practicable.   

19.3 Brennen Balcom shall relocate or remove facilities in a manner that accommodates the 
County’s work and causes the least interference with the right-of-way and public travel. Unless 
otherwise provided by law, the costs and expenses associated with relocations ordered by the 
County are the sole responsibility of Brennen Balcom.   

SECTION 20 Failure to Relocate or Remove Facilities 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 16 of 24 
 

20.1 County road construction and improvements are the highest priority use of its public 
rights-of-way. Road projects often require logistic and monetary coordination of multiple public 
and private entities. These projects might be the beneficiary of grant funding. Due to the nature 
of these projects, construction and finance schedules must be adhered to. The County may not 
have the ability to alter timelines, or accommodate delays without risking the failure of a project. 
For these reasons, it is of the utmost importance that Brennen Balcom act timely to remove or 
relocate Brennen Balcom Facilities as directed by the County.  

20.2 The County strives to communicate and coordinate with franchisees as early as possible 
when relocation or removal of facilities may be required. It is Brennen Balcom’s responsibility to 
coordinate necessary permitting, planning, traffic management, and on-site work in a manner 
that does not conflict with County construction, or the work of other franchisees.  

20.3 If Brennen Balcom fails to complete a removal or relocation of Facilities within the time 
specified by the County Engineer, the County, in its sole discretion, may remove or relocate the 
Facilities. The County is not liable for any damage to the Facilities, or interruption or loss of 
service due to the relocation or removal. If the County removes or relocates Facilities, then 
Brennen Balcom shall reimburse the County for all costs and expenses of the work performed, 
including, but not limited to rental charges for County equipment, the actual cost of labor 
including the then current hourly rate of the employee providing services, plus all FICA, Medicare, 
PERS, workmen’s compensation, unemployment, group health insurance premiums and all other 
employee benefits and employer taxes, fuel and materials costs, or both fuel and materials, and 
an amount equal to ten percent (10%) of reimbursable charges as reimbursement of direct and 
indirect administrative, accounting and clerical services. 

20.4 If Brennen Balcom fails to complete removal, relocation or alteration of Facilities, and the 
County accrues delay charges from third-parties as a result of the failure, Brennen Balcom shall 
promptly reimburse the County for the amount of the charges. 

20.5 The provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this Franchise 
Agreement, so long as Brennen Balcom has facilities located in the rights-of-way, and the right-
of way is owned, controlled, or both, by the County. 
 

SECTION 21 Survey Markers and Monuments 

21.1 Brennen Balcom is responsible to comply with requirements for RCW 58.04.015, RCW 
58.09.130, and Washington Administrative Code (WAC) Section 332.120.  Brennen Balcom shall, 
obtain permits related to survey markers and monuments, engage licensed surveyors as required 
by state law, code, or permit conditions, replace all markers or monuments lost, destroyed, 
disturbed during Brennen Balcom’s work. 

21.2 When necessary, Brennen Balcom shall establish two or more reference marks to all 
monuments and markers of every nature relating to subdivisions, plats, rights of way, and all 
other surveys within Brennen Balcom’s work areas.  The reference points shall be located so that 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 17 of 24 
 

they will not be disturbed during any of the Brennen Balcom’s operations under this Franchise.  
Brennen Balcom shall submit the reference method to the County Surveyor for approval before 
placing any markers.   

 

SECTION 22 Disclaimer of Liability for Brennen Balcom’s Property 

The County is not responsible for damage to Brennen Balcom’s property, equipment, facilities, 
or appurtenances located in County rights-of-way. 

SECTION 23 Facility Maintenance 

23.1 Brennen Balcom shall, at his sole expense, maintain its Facilities located within County 
right-of-way in a condition reasonably satisfactory to the County Engineer. 

23.2 Brennen Balcom shall maintain its above-ground facilities within the County right-of-way 
so as not to unreasonably interfere with County’s maintenance of its right-of-way nor the free 
and safe passage of traffic.  

SECTION 24 Abandonment in place, Removal 

24.1 Brennen Balcom shall notify the County Engineer each time it intends to discontinue use 
of, or abandon any of its facilities located in the County’s rights-of-way. The County Engineer shall 
determine if the abandoned facilities may be rendered safe to abandon in place and direct 
Brennen Balcom on what will be required. In the County Engineer’s sole discretion, the County 
may require Brennen Balcom to remove any lines, wires, pipes, whether the entire facility, or 
portions thereof, as is reasonably necessary for health, welfare, safety, or convenience. Cost of 
the removal, the required alterations, or both, for abandonment is the sole responsibility of 
Brennen Balcom.  

24.2 If Brennen Balcom fails to render safe for abandonment or remove facilities as directed 
by the County, or fails to adequately restore the Franchise Area, or complete other mutually 
agreed upon action(s), the County may, after notice to Brennen Balcom remove the Facilities, 
restore the premises, and take other action as is reasonably necessary at Brennen Balcom’s 
expense. This remedy shall not be deemed to be exclusive and shall not prevent the County from 
seeking a judicial order directing that the Facilities be removed. 

24.3 Brennen Balcom’s obligations under this Franchise Agreement, including but not limited 
to insurance, liability, indemnification, maintenance and emergency response, shall remain in 
effect and applicable to any Facilities, regardless of use by Brennen Balcom, or internal 
classification as abandoned, until such time that the Facilities have been removed, or rendered 
safe to abandon to the satisfaction of the County. 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 18 of 24 
 

24.4 The parties expressly agree that Section 24 shall survive the expiration, revocation or 
termination of this Franchise Agreement. 

 

 

SECTION 25 Hazardous Conditions 

25.1 Whenever Facilities or operations of Brennen Balcom cause or contribute to a condition 
that appears to endanger any person or property, substantially impair the lateral support of the 
adjoining right-of-way, property or public resources, or otherwise adversely affect the safety, 
use, or stability of a public way or drainage channel, the County Engineer may direct Brennen 
Balcom to repair or eliminate such condition or operation to eliminate the hazard. Direction by 
the County Engineer may include compliance within a specified time period.  

25.2 If the County Engineer identifies a hazardous condition caused by the operation of 
Brennen Balcom’s facilities, the County Engineer shall attempt to contact Brennen Balcom. The 
County Engineer may eliminate the hazardous condition in order to minimize damage or to 
secure life, health and safety. Brennen Balcom shall be responsible for the prompt payment of 
any costs incurred by the County to eliminate the hazard. If Brennen Balcom has posted a bond, 
or other financial assurance related to this franchise, the County Engineer shall have the authority 
to forfeit a posted bond or other security to recover the costs incurred.  If the County seeks 
forfeiture of a bond, then the County shall give Brennen Balcom thirty (30) days written notice of 
the forfeiture and an accounting of the amount the County believes is owed.   

SECTION 26 Hazardous Wastes, Substances 

Brennen Balcom, its agents, or contractors shall not cause the release of any hazardous 
substance, waste, or pollutant or contaminant (as defined by applicable law) into or upon any 
County right-of-way in violation of any state or federal law.  Brennen Balcom shall notify the 
County and the State Department of Ecology in writing of a release. Brennen Balcom shall be 
solely liable for any and all consequences of a release, including liability under any federal or 
state statute or at common law.  Brennen Balcom indemnifies the County and releases the 
County from any and all liability resulting from a release. Brennen Balcom is responsible for the 
performance and cost of any clean up, remediation, or restoration required by any government 
agency.  Brennen Balcom shall reimburse any costs and expenses incurred by the County as the 
result of a release in violation of any state or federal law.  If Brennen Balcom, its agents or 
contractors, cause the release of any hazardous substance, waste, or pollutant or contaminant, 
the County may immediately terminate all rights granted to Brennen Balcom by the Franchise 
Agreement and take whatever steps the County deems appropriate to cure any harm caused by 
the release. Termination in the event of release is not subject to the requirements of Sections 27 
& 28 of this Agreement.   

SECTION 27 Dispute Resolution 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 19 of 24 
 

27.1 If a dispute or claim arises between the County and Brennen Balcom due to the 
interpretation of this Franchise Agreement, or to the parties’ performance of duties and 
obligations pursuant to this Franchise Agreement, the faultfinder (“claimant party”) shall send 
written notice of the claim or dispute (“Notice of Claim”) to the other party (“respondent party”). 
The Notice of Claim must include identification of a Representative authorized by the claimant 
party to negotiate settlement of the dispute on their behalf.  

27.2 Within ten (10) business days of receipt of the Notice of Claim, the respondent shall 
submit a written response to the claimant party. The response must include: 

a) A brief answer to the claims or disputed issues contained in the Notice of Claim; and 
b) Identification of the Representative that is authorized on behalf of the respondent 

party to negotiate settlement. 
27.3 The parties will attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute or claim arising out of or in 
relation to this Franchise Agreement through negotiations between Representatives from each 
party. The negotiating Representatives shall have authority from their respective organizations 
to agree to a written settlement agreement that might amend the terms of this Franchise 
Agreement. 

27.4 If the dispute cannot be settled within thirty (30) days from the Notice of Claim, date on 
which either party has served written notice on the other of the dispute then the parties are free 
to avail themselves of any other remedy at law or in equity. 

SECTION 28 Breach 

28.1 If a claim or dispute arises from a party’s default of the Franchise Agreement, the 
defaulting party shall have thirty (30) days from the Notice of Claim (“corrective period”) to settle 
the claim, pursuant to Section 27.1, cure the default, or both. Unless otherwise excepted from 
Sections 27 & 28, a party is not in breach of this Agreement unless the default exists after the 
thirty (30) day correction period.   

28.2 If any default exists after the thirty (30) day correction period, the non-defaulting party 
may, without prejudice to any other rights or remedies at law or in equity or under this 
Agreement, terminate this Franchise. 

28.3 A party’s inaction to enforce its rights under this Franchise Agreement is not a waiver of 
its right to enforce this Franchise Agreement. 

SECTION 29 Notice of Intent to Modify or Terminate 

29.1 The Commission may modify this franchise as recommended by the County Engineer, in 
the event that Brennen Balcom breaches the terms of this Franchise Agreement.  Chelan County 
shall include notice of the intended modification with the Notice of Claim, unless the breach is 
excluded from the requirements of Sections 28 & 29. 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 20 of 24 
 

29.2 The Commission may terminate this franchise as recommended by the County Engineer, 
in the event that Brennen Balcom breaches the terms of this Franchise Agreement. Unless the 
breach is excluded from the requirements of Sections 28 & 29, a public hearing shall be scheduled 
within thirty (30) days of the Notice of Claim. Following public hearing, the Commission may 
approve termination of the Franchise Agreement, termination to be effective no less than ninety 
(90) days from the date of the Commission’s approval.  

29.3 In the event that this Franchise Agreement is terminated, either for breach or failure to 
re-new, removal of the Brennen Balcom’s Facilities shall be completed within one hundred and 
eighty days (180) from the effective date of termination. 

29.4 If Brennen Balcom is required to remove its Facilities and fails to do so, fails to adequately 
restore the Franchise Area, or both, or fails to complete other mutually agreed upon action(s), 
County may, after notice to Brennen Balcom, remove the Facilities, restore the premises, and 
take other action as is reasonably necessary at Brennen Balcom’s expense. This remedy shall not 
be deemed to be exclusive and shall not prevent the County from seeking a judicial order 
directing that the Facilities be removed. 

29.5 The parties expressly agree that Section 29.4 shall survive the expiration, revocation or 
termination of this Franchise. 

SECTION 30 Annexation & Road Vacation 

30.1 If the County’s right-of-way or portion thereof, is annexed or condemned, the County’s 
successor shall be subject to Brennen Balcom’s occupancy to the extent allowed by law. 

30.2 If at any time the County vacates any right-of-way covered by this Franchise, the County 
shall not be held liable for any damages or loss to Brennen Balcom by reason of the vacation. 

SECTION 31 Renewal 

If Brennen Balcom elects to renew this Agreement, Brennen Balcom shall submit a written 
franchise application to the County at least one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the franchise 
expiration date.    

SECTION 32 Other Activities Regulated by Chelan County Code 

This Agreement does not authorize Brennen Balcom to engage in any other activities regulated 
by Chelan County Code not specifically included herein. 

SECTION 33 Release of Liability  

Brennen Balcom, agrees to release the County, it’s elected and appointed officials, officers, and 
employees, of liability from all claims, demands, damages, expenses or suits that: 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 21 of 24 
 

 (1) arise out of or are incident to use of County right-of-way by Brennen Balcom, his 
agents, contractors or employees.; or 

 (2) are caused by the default of any terms and conditions of this Agreement by 
Brennen Balcom, its officers, agents, contractors or employees.   

SECTION 34 Indemnity 

34.1 General Indemnification. Brennen Balcom, including its assigns, agents, licensees, 
contractors and employees, agrees to indemnify, defend and save the County harmless from and 
against any and all liability, loss, damage, expense, actions and claims, either at law or in equity, 
including, but not limited to, costs and reasonable attorneys' and experts' fees incurred by the 
County in defense thereof, arising directly or indirectly from Brennen Balcom’s construction, 
installation, maintenance, operation, use, location, testing, repair, or abandonment, occupancy 
of the right-of-way or from the existence of Brennen Balcom’s Facilities and the material 
contained in, supplied by or transferred through the Facilities, including the reasonable costs of 
assessing such damages and any liability for costs of investigation, abatement, correction, 
cleanup, fines, penalties, or other damages. If any action or proceeding is brought against the 
County arising from Brennen Balcom’s franchise, Brennen Balcom shall defend the County at 
Brennen Balcom’s complete expense, provided that, for uninsured actions or proceedings, 
defense attorneys shall be approved by the County, which approval shall not be unreasonably 
withheld. 

34.2 Environmental Indemnification. Brennen Balcom, including its assigns, agents, licensees, 
contractors and employees, agrees to indemnify, defend and save the County harmless from and 
against any and all liability, loss, damage, expense, actions and claims, either at law or in equity, 
including, but not limited to, costs and reasonable attorneys' and experts' fees incurred by the 
County in defense thereof, arising directly or indirectly from (a) Brennen Balcom’s breach of any 
environmental laws applicable to the Facilities or (b) from any release of a hazardous substance 
on or from the Facilities or (c) other activity related to this Franchise by Brennen Balcom, his 
agents, contractors or subcontractors. This indemnity includes but is not limited to (a) liability for 
a governmental agency's costs of removal or remedial action for hazardous substances; (b) 
damages to natural resources caused by hazardous substances, including the reasonable costs of 
assessing such damages; (c) liability for any other person's costs of responding to hazardous 
substances; (d) liability for any costs of investigation, abatement, correction, cleanup, fines, 
penalties, or other damages arising under any environmental laws; and (e) liability for personal 
injury, property damage, or economic loss arising under any statutory or common-law theory. 

34.3 Administration of this Franchise Agreement does not create any liability on the part of 
the County, its appointed and elected officials, officers, and employees. Inspection or acceptance 
by the County of any work performed by Brennen Balcom is not grounds for Brennen Balcom to 
avoid its indemnity obligations. 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 22 of 24 
 

34.4  Brennen Balcom waives immunity under Title 51 RCW in any cases involving the County 
and affirms that the County and Brennen Balcom have specifically negotiated this provision, to 
the extent it may apply. This Franchise Agreement shall not create any duty of the County or any 
of its officials, employees or agents and no liability shall arise from any action or failure to act by 
the County or any of its officials, employees or agents in the exercise of powers reserved to the 
County. Further, this provision is not intended to acknowledge, create, imply or expand any duty 
or liability of the County with respect to any function in the exercise of its police power or for any 
other purpose. Any duty that may be deemed to be created in the County shall be deemed a duty 
to the general public and not to any specific party, group or entity. 

SECTION 35  Provisions Survive Termination of Agreement 

The parties expressly agree that Sections 33 & 34 shall survive the expiration, revocation or 
termination of this Franchise Agreement. 

SECTION 36 Insurance 

36.1 Brennen Balcom shall maintain general comprehensive liability insurance naming the 
County as an additional insured with limits no less than one million dollars ($1,000,000.00) for 
each occurrence of bodily injury liability or property damage liability. 

36.2 The coverage amount requirements may be met by a combination of underlying and 
umbrella policies if the limit is met by the combination of policies. 

36.3 Any supplemental insurance, self-insured retention, deductibles, or risk retention trusts 
maintained, or participated in by Brennen Balcom are in excess and not contributory to the 
minimum insurance requirement of Section 36.1.  All liability insurance policies will be endorsed 
to show this additional coverage. 

36.4 Brennen Balcom shall provide County with proof of the required insurance on, or prior to 
January 1st annually, and as otherwise required by this Franchise Agreement. 

36.5 Failure to obtain or maintain the required insurance policy or lapse of insurance coverage 
is an automatic breach of the Franchise Agreement and the County may terminate all rights 
granted to Brennen Balcom immediately and without obligation of Section 27 dispute resolution 
or periods for correction pursuant to Section 28.   

SECTION 37 Non-discrimination 

Services or activities, and all hiring or employment made possible, or resulting from this 
Agreement, there is no discrimination against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of sex, sexual orientation, age, race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin, marital 
status or the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical handicap, unless based upon a bona 
fide occupational qualification, and this requirement includes, but is not limited to:  employment, 
advertising, lay-off  or termination, rates of pay or other forms of compensation, and selection 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 23 of 24 
 

for training, including apprenticeship. Any violation of this provision is an automatic breach of 
the Franchise Agreement and the County may terminate all rights granted to Brennen Balcom 
immediately and without procedural requirements of Sections 27 & 28 of this Franchise 
Agreement. 

SECTION 38 Governing Law and Venue 

This Franchise Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of Washington.  Legal action arising 
from this Agreement must be brought in the Superior Court for Chelan County, Washington, or 
in the case of a federal action, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of 
Washington.  

SECTION 39 Attorney Fees  

In the event either party initiates legal action to enforce this Franchise Agreement, then each 
party will pay its own attorney’s fees and costs incurred.  

SECTION 40 Notice 

Notice (other than legal process) provided for in this Agreement must be sent via certified mail, 
return receipt requested, facsimile (fax) or email to the receiving party’s representative or 
delivered personally to the receiving party’s representative with notice deemed given upon 
receipt or first refusal.  

 

SECTION 41 Severability 

This Franchise Agreement gives effect to purposes and uses which are consistent with economical 
and efficient services rendered in the public interest.  If any section, subsection, paragraph, 
sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this Franchise or its application is determined to be 
invalid by a court of law, then the remaining provisions of this Franchise Agreement continue and 
remain valid, except in the event the public interest is no longer served. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Remainder of Page Left Intentionally Blank 
 

 



 
Brennen Balcom Franchise/2024/resol  Page 24 of 24 
 

 
Exhibit 1 

FRANCHISE BOUNDARIES 
 

 
 

            
 












































	05-20-24 & 05-21-24 Agenda
	05-13-24 & 05-14-24 Minutes
	2024 05 20
	PCN's Attachments for 05.20.2024
	scan
	scan0001

	Administrative Agenda May 20, 2024
	ADMINISTRATIVE AGENDA
	May 20, 2024

	Admin
	CD
	Comp Plan Recreation Element Update-staff report.5.10.24
	RECOMMENDED MOTION
	The recommended motion is Board of County Commissioner Adoption of the Chelan County Comprehensive Plan Recreation Element. Chelan County Natural Resource Department held a workshop with the Planning Commission on March 27th to present the draft plan ...
	GENERAL INFORMATION
	PROJECT DESCRIPTION – ZTA
	ATTACHMENT

	ChelanCo PROS Plan_FinalDraft_2024-0408
	Overview
	Summary
	Overview
	Introduction 
	Purpose
	Regulatory Requirements
	Growth Management Act Requirements
	Washington Recreation And Conservation Office (RCO) Requirements
	Chelan County Requirements


	Process
	Existing Conditions (Systems Inventory)
	Public Involvement
	Demand & Needs Analysis
	Goals and Objectives
	Capital Improvement Program
	Approvals



	Inventory & Assessment
	Introduction & Purpose
	Physical Context
	Planning Area
	History
	Topography 
	Hydrology
	Habitat
	Climate


	Demographic Context
	Key Takeaways
	Population
	Population Demographics
	Housing
	Employment & Transportation


	Physical Inventory & Assessment
	Planning Context
	Existing Plans Working Together 
	Assessment



	Public Involvement
	Introduction & Purpose
	Engagement Goals
	Public Engagement Plan Overview
	Distribution
	Chelan County Boost Analytics- February 2024
	Recreation Element Survey



	Demand & Needs Analysis
	Introduction & Purpose
	Trends for Parks and Recreation
	National Trends 
	Washington State Trends


	Recreation Element Priorities

	Goals & Objectives
	Introduction & Purpose
	Revised Goals & Objectives Based 
on Survey Results
	Noted Differences from the Previous Recreation Element

	Capital Improvement Program
	Introduction & Purpose
	On-Going Priorities & Capital Projects
	Parks and Recreation Projects Identified In the Previous Plan
	Developing The Capital Improvement Program 
	Opinion Of Probable Costs  

	Updated Project & Program Improvements

	Plan Adoption
	Adoption

	Appendices & Attachments
	A - Terms & Definitions
	B - Standards & Guidelines
	C - Public Survey Report
	D - SEPA Non-Project Form

	Table 2-1: Historic Population (US Census)
	Table 2-2: Chelan County Population by Year

	Figure 2.1: Chelan County Population Projection
	Table 2-3: Gender in Chelan County
	Table 2-4: Chelan County Population by Year

	Figure 2.2: Race and Ethnicity Percentages of Chelan County versus WA State
	Table 2-5: Ethnicity in Chelan County

	Figure 2.3: Percentage of Chelan County's Population Living with Disability
	Table 2-6: Household Income in Chelan County

	Figure 2.4: Chelan County and WA State Household Income
	Figure 2.5: Chelan County Census Tracts and Median Incomes
	Table 2-7: Poverty Status in Chelan County Population
	Table 2-8: Poverty Status in Chelan County Population

	Figure 2.6: Owner vs. Renter in Chelan County and WA State
	Table 2-9: Average Household Type in Chelan County

	Figure 2.7: Inflow/Outflow of Employment in Chelan County
	Figure 2.8: Employment Locations of Chelan County Residents
	Table 2-10: Chelan County 
Distance Traveled to Work
	Table 2-11: Chelan County 
Means of Transportation to Work

	Figure 2.9: Percentage of Chelan County Vehicle Availability
	Figure 2.10: Chelan PUD Has Opportunities in Chelan and Douglas County
	Table 2-12: List of Parks within Chelan County Lines
	Table 2-13: Chelan County School Districts
	Table 2-14: Existing Plans Relevant to the PROS Plan Update
	Table 3-1: Survey Distribution

	Figure 3.1: February 2nd Facebook Boost Analytics - English
	Figure 3.2: February 2nd Facebook Boost Analytics - Spanish
	Figure 3.3: February 2nd Instagram Boost Analytics - English
	Figure 3.4: February 2nd Instagram Boost Analytics - Spanish
	Figure 3.5: February 26nd Facebook Boost Analytics - English
	Figure 3.6: February 26nd Instagram Boost Analytics - Spanish
	Figure 3.7: February 26nd Instagram Boost Analytics - English
	Figure 3.8: February 26nd Instagram Boost Analytics - Spanish
	Figure 3.10: Chelan County's Public Engagement Plan Flyer
	 Table 4-1: 2023 Top 20 Outdoor Recreation Activites in Washington State*
	Table 6-1: Capital Improvement Projects & Initiatives
	Table 6-2: CIP Funding Options and Projects
	Table 6-3: CIP Facility Types


	SEPA Checklist_ Rec Element Update_30April2024
	Purpose of checklist
	Instructions for applicants
	Instructions for lead agencies
	Use of checklist for nonproject proposals
	A. Background  Find help answering background questions1F
	B. Environmental Elements
	1. Earth
	2. Air  Find help answering air questions3F
	3. Water  Find help answering water questions4F
	6. Energy and natural resources Find help answering energy and natural resource questions8F
	7. Environmental health
	8. Land and shoreline use  Find help answering land and shoreline use questions10F
	10. Aesthetics  Find help answering aesthetics questions12F
	11. Light and glare  Find help answering light and glare questions13F
	13. Historic and cultural preservation  Find help answering historic and cultural preservation questions14F
	14. Transportation  Find help with answering transportation questions15F
	15. Public services
	16. Utilities

	C. Signature
	D. Supplemental sheet for nonproject actions  Find help for the nonproject actions worksheet19F


	CPA 24-145 DNS 4.24.24
	P&R Public Comment - Residents Coalition of CC - 
	DOC001

	Eco. Serv.
	NR
	PW
	PW.pdf
	Balcom Franchise 5-15-24.pdf
	SECTION 6 Term
	SECTION 7 Amendments and Modifications
	SECTION 8 Franchise Compensation
	SECTION 9 Compliance with Laws and Standards
	SECTION 10 Permits
	SECTION 11 Standards of work performed in the Right-of Way
	SECTION 12 Emergency Work in the Right-of Way and Emergency Management Plan
	SECTION 13 Failure to Restore Right-of Way
	SECTION 14  Prohibition on Trenching
	SECTION 15 Installation of Facilities
	SECTION 16 Undergrounding & Above Ground Facilities
	SECTION 18 Locating and Potholing of Facilities
	SECTION 19 Relocation, Removal or Alteration of Facilities
	SECTION 20 Failure to Relocate or Remove Facilities
	SECTION 21 Survey Markers and Monuments
	SECTION 22 Disclaimer of Liability for Brennen Balcom’s Property
	SECTION 23 Facility Maintenance
	SECTION 24 Abandonment in place, Removal
	SECTION 25 Hazardous Conditions
	SECTION 26 Hazardous Wastes, Substances
	SECTION 27 Dispute Resolution
	SECTION 28 Breach
	SECTION 29 Notice of Intent to Modify or Terminate
	SECTION 30 Annexation & Road Vacation
	SECTION 31 Renewal
	SECTION 32 Other Activities Regulated by Chelan County Code
	SECTION 33 Release of Liability
	SECTION 34 Indemnity
	SECTION 35  Provisions Survive Termination of Agreement
	SECTION 36 Insurance
	SECTION 37 Non-discrimination
	SECTION 38 Governing Law and Venue
	SECTION 39 Attorney Fees
	In the event either party initiates legal action to enforce this Franchise Agreement, then each party will pay its own attorney’s fees and costs incurred.
	SECTION 40 Notice
	SECTION 41 Severability





